
           

MEASURE X COMMUNITY
ADVISORY BOARD 

July 7, 2021
5:00 P.M.

VIRTUAL MEETING
The Public may observe and participate in

the Virtual Zoom Meeting by using this link:
https://cccounty-us.zoom.us/j/81176769191

Meeting ID: 811 7676 9191
Or by dialing (888) 278-0254

Conference Code: 468751
Mariana Moore, Chair

BK Williams, Vice Chair

Agenda
Items:

Items may be taken out of order based on the business of the day and
preference of the Committee

             

1. Roll Call
 

2.   Public comment on any item under the jurisdiction of the Committee and not on
this agenda (speakers may be limited to two minutes).

 

3.   RECEIVE the Record of Action for the June 30, 2021, Measure X Community
Advisory Board meeting (BK Williams,Vice Chair)

 

4.   RECEIVE presentations and PARTICIPATE in panel discussions on the topic of
the Justice System (BK Williams,Vice Chair)

 

5.   REVIEW and DISCUSS the plan for presenters of focused presentations at
upcoming MXCAB meetings (BK Williams,Vice Chair)

 

6. The next meeting is currently scheduled for July 14, 2021.
 

7. Adjourn
 

 

The Measure X Community Advisory Board will provide reasonable accommodations for
persons with disabilities planning to attend Measure X meetings. Contact the staff person
listed below at least 72 hours before the meeting. 

Any disclosable public records related to an open session item on a regular meeting
agenda and distributed by the County to a majority of members of the Measure X

https://cccounty-us.zoom.us/j/81176769191


agenda and distributed by the County to a majority of members of the Measure X
Community Advisory Board less than 96 hours prior to that meeting are available for
public inspection at 1025 Escobar St., 4th Floor, Martinez, during normal business hours. 

Public comment may be submitted via electronic mail on agenda items at least one full
work day prior to the published meeting time.  

Live Transcription (Automated Closed Captioning) is available in English via Zoom - Click
the "Live Transcript" button from the in-meeting Zoom toolbar and select one of the
options from the pop-up menu. 

Live simultaneous Spanish interpretation is available for Measure X Community Advisory
Board meetings by joining the meeting via the Zoom application. Click on the
“ Interpretation Globe” at the bottom of the screen and choose the language channel
Spanish. You may wish to “Mute Original Audio” so that you only hear the utterances on
the channel that you select. 

Measure X Community Advisory Board meeting agendas and videos are available in
Spanish at: http://64.166.146.245/agenda_publish.cfm?id=&mt=ALL 

For Additional Information Contact: 
Lisa Driscoll, Committee Staff

Phone (925) 655-2047
lisa.driscoll@cao.cccounty.us

http://64.166.146.245/agenda_publish.cfm?id=&mt=ALL


MEASURE X COMMUNITY ADVISORY BOARD
Meeting Date: 07/07/2021  

Subject: Public comment on any item under the jurisdiction of the Committee
and not on this agenda 

Submitted For: MEASURE X Com Advisory Board, 
Department: County Administrator
Referral No.: 2/2/21 D.4  

Referral Name: Measure X Community Advisory Committee 
Presenter: Lisa Driscoll, County Finance Director Contact: 

Referral History:
Public comment on any item under the jurisdiction of the Committee and not on this
agenda (speakers may be limited to two minutes).

Referral Update:
Recommendation(s)/Next Step(s):
Accept attached written public comments.

Attachments
Housing that Heals
East Bay Housing Organizations



2

From: Lauren Rettagliata <rettagliata@gmail.com>  
Sent: Friday, July 2, 2021 10:32 AM 
To: Mariana Moore <MMoore@richmondcf.org> 
Cc: Housing That Heals <housingthatheals@gmail.com>; Lisa Driscoll <Lisa.Driscoll@cao.cccounty.us>; Teresa Pasquini 
<tcpasquini@gmail.com>; BK Williams <bkwilliamsmeasurex@gmail.com>; Suzanne K. Tavano 
<Suzanne.Tavano@cchealth.org>; Jill Ray <Jill.Ray@bos.cccounty.us> 
Subject: Re: Please see attachments for consideration by Measure X CAB under Item 4‐Focussed Presentation and 
Discussion‐Mental Health, Behavioral Health, Disabled Residents 
 
Dear BK and Mariana, 
 
In this week's discussion, I heard BK's concern of allowing both developers and entities that do not have nonprofit status 
from receiving Measure X funds. While I share her concern about developers and corporations unjustly profiting from 
Measure X funds ‐‐ there is the stark reality that the treatment and care of one of the most vulnerable populations in 
our county has been outsourced to Providers, many of whom are LLC's. There are both good and bad developers and 
corporations just as there are good and bad government run and nonprofit run programs. 
 
If Measure X funds can only be accessed by nonprofits this will eliminate most of the Providers who provide treatment, 
care and residences for those with a Serious Mental Illness. While all mental health challenges and situations are 
serious, Serious Mental Illness is a defined category in the Welfare and Institutions Code.  Serious Mental Illness is a 
"Disability".  Those with a Serious Mental Illness die 15‐30 years before the national average.  There is no other disability 
that has such huge disparities. 
 
As a county we have failed to provide for the housing this population needs. Many with this diagnosis will not be able to 
live on their own but instead need an enclave or campus like setting that allows them to live within the greater 
community.  
 
Thank you Mariana and BK for the most informative discussions on the needed improvements in our county. I totally 
support the "ask" of $12 million put forth by Health, Housing and Homelessness, but we must not forget "housing for 
the Serious Mentally Ill" falls under Behavioral Health.  I do so hope that Behavioral Health places an "ask" for funding 
that will allow for the development of programs that will house those in our community that could return home who 
now reside in Mental Health Rehabilitation Centers and large Board and Cares because all placements in this county are 
full.  This county should also be aware that the state of California is making plans to return all those with a LPS 
conservatorship who reside in the Department of State Hospitals back to their county. 
 
With more that Hope, 
Lauren Rettagliata 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



	

	

July 1, 2021 
 
 
Members of the Contra Costa Measure X Advisory Board, 
 
As a proud endorser of Measure X, East Bay Housing Organizations (EBHO) is excited to work 
together with members of the Contra Costa community to ensure that this revenue serves to 
combat the affordable housing and homelessness crises plaguing our county. EBHO believes 
that this takes a multi-pronged approach that uses all “3 Ps” (production, preservation, and 
protection of affordable homes) and housing-first supports for unhoused residents. Among the 
many urgent and apt ideas that were lifted up at the Community Advisory Board Meeting on 
June 30th, we’d like to emphasize the importance of two in particular: 1) a “local match” for 
affordable housing production and 2) a set-aside for acquisition-rehab. 
 
According to the California Housing Partnership, Contra Costa is facing a shortfall of 27,700 
affordable rental homes for low-income households, forcing 76% of extremely-low-income 
households to spend more than 50% of their income on rental housing costs.1 But despite the 
scale of this crisis, local investment in affordable housing has been on the decline. A decade 
ago, Contra Costa spent around $35 million per year through local redevelopment programs. 
Since redevelopment was disbanded in 2012, however, the County has failed to come up with 
an alternative funding source to fill the gap. Thus, from 2009 to 2019, state and local funding 
for affordable housing development dropped by 90% in Contra Costa.2 (This trend has started 
to reverse during the pandemic thanks to new state investments, especially Project Homekey,  
but local dollars have remained more or less stagnant.) 
 
This mismatch between affordable housing need and production can be traced, in large part, to 
the lack of a so-called “local match” of affordable housing funds. In order to be competitive for 
state, federal, and private financing, an affordable housing developer generally needs to show 
that at least 20% of overall costs will be covered right up front by a local government agency. 
Unfortunately, Contra Costa is nowhere near meeting this standard. One recent study found 
that, on average, Contra Costa cities only contributed an average of $66,000 per unit to new 
affordable developments—around half of what’s typically required to access other sources of 
capital.3 Without an adequate local match, affordable housing developments in Contra Costa 
lose out in funding competitions to projects from other areas, like Alameda County, that have 
passed bond measures to fund affordable homes. As Contra Costa County staff testified at the 
meeting on June 30th, the minimal federal dollars that the County receives from the Dept. of 

	
1 California Housing Partnership Corp. (2021). Contra Costa County Affordable Housing Needs Report, p. 1. 
2 California Housing Partnership Corp. (2020). Contra Costa County Affordable Housing Needs Report, p. 2. 
3 Great Communities Collaborative (2017). Funding Affordable Housing Near Transit in the Bay Area Region, p. 16.	



Contra Costa County Measure X Community Advisory Board 
July 1, 2021 
Page 2 
 

	

Housing and Urban Development are neither substantial nor flexible enough to serve as a 
robust local match for non-profit developers and, ultimately, their residents. 
 
In simple terms, this means that Contra Costa is routinely missing out on the state and federal 
dollars needed to build homes that low-income residents can truly afford. By comparison, take 
San Mateo County, which has a half-cent sales tax that’s similar to Measure X. Since 2016, San 
Mateo has dedicated 25% of this revenue to affordable housing. In addition, it has prioritized 
funding projects in cities that provide an additional local match, making those projects all the 
more competitive for low-income housing tax credits. As a result, San Mateo has been able to 
leverage $4 in development dollars for every $1 spent by the County. According to the Housing 
Leadership Council of San Mateo County, “[t]he result has been a steady increase in affordable 
housing production, even in a climate where state and federal funding have declined.”4 
 
Given the importance of a local match, we support Contra Costa County staff’s proposal to 
create a $12 million Local Housing Trust Fund. However, we encourage the Advisory Board 
and the County to think even bigger. San Mateo, for instance, has spent an average of around 
$20 million in Measure K sales tax revenue per year on housing and homelessness since 2016. 
We think that a comparable amount is warranted for Contra Costa.5 
 
In addition to a local match, we recommend using a portion of this money to buy market-rate 
apartments and convert them to affordable homes. This strategy, called “acquisition-rehab,” or 
“acq-rehab,” is often faster and cheaper than building new affordable housing. In Oakland, San 
Francisco, and San Mateo, it was found to cut costs by 33-53% per unit.6 And when targeted 
to single-family rentals and small apartment buildings, it can be a powerful tool for low-income 
tenants and land trusts to prevent displacement, remove housing from the speculative market, 
and preserve it for community use. 
 
Unfortunately, such purchases are often overlooked by state and federal housing programs. So 
a local set-aside for acq-rehab, including small buildings, is likely the best way to encourage this 
critical placed-based preservation strategy. In San Francisco, for instance, money from the City’s 
Small Sites Program is often the only public funding involved in such projects.7 Since its launch, 
the program has funded the acquisition of 350 residential units across 40 properties, anchoring 

	
4 Housing Leadership Council of San Mateo County (n.d.). Building on Success: How San Mateo County Can Meet 
the Need for Affordable Homes, pp. 9, 17. 
5 Measure K raises around $86 million per year, making it comparable in size to the projections for Measure X. See 
https://cmo.smcgov.org/financial-summary. 
6 In Oakland, for instance, where the City has created a set-side with revenue raised through the Measure KK bond, 
the per-unit cost of acq-rehab was only $276,000, as compared to $589,000 for new construction. See Enterprise 
Community Partners (2020). Preserving Affordability, Preventing Displacement: Acquisition-Rehabilitation of 
Unsubsidized Affordable Housing in the Bay Area, p. 38. 
7 San Francisco Planning Department (n.d.). Affordable Housing Funding, Production, and Preservation White 
Paper, p. 24. 



Contra Costa County Measure X Community Advisory Board 
July 1, 2021 
Page 3 
 

	

long-time residents in the face of rampant displacement.8 Given the scarcity of funding, a local 
set-aside for acq-rehab can help grow the capacity of land trusts and other community groups 
interested in leading this important anti-displacement strategy, which can help them scale up 
over the long term. 
 
In conclusion, creating a dedicated local match with a set-aside for place-based acq-rehab is key 
to unlocking the money needed to build and preserve affordable homes, which will allow low-
income residents to remain rooted in Contra Costa. And Measure X can make all the difference. 
EBHO looks forward to continuing to work with the Advisory Board and County to ensure that 
our community makes the most of this critical resource. 
 
 
Sincerely, 

Alex Werth      Megan Nguyen 
Policy Manager     Policy Associate 

	
8 See https://sfmohcd.org/small-sites-program. 



MEASURE X COMMUNITY ADVISORY BOARD
Meeting Date: 07/07/2021  

Subject: Record of Action for June 30, 2021 Measure X Community Advisory
Board Meeting

Submitted For: FINANCE COMMITTEE, 
Department: County Administrator
Referral No.: N/A  

Referral Name: Record of Action 
Presenter: Lisa Driscoll, County Finance

Director
Contact: Lisa Driscoll (925)

655-2047

Referral History:
County Ordinance requires that each County body keep a record of its meetings.
Though the record need not be verbatim, it must accurately reflect the agenda and the
discussions made in the meetings.

Referral Update:
Attached for the Board's information is the Record of Action for its June 30, 2021
meeting.

Recommendation(s)/Next Step(s):
Staff recommends MXCAB receive the Record of Action for the June 30, 2021 meeting.

Fiscal Impact (if any):
No fiscal impact.

Attachments
Record of Action MXCAB 6-30-21
SOS Richmond - Public Comments
Centro Legal De La Raza
EAH Housing
Mercy Housing California









 
 
Thank you, Lisa, Mariana and BK, for providing Kenneth and I the opportunity to present to the Measure X 
Advisory Board. Here are links for an Overview of SOS! Richmond and our brief Impact Report. Since we 
spoke at the meeting mostly about our Streets Team for mobile encampment engagement and as a 
workforce development project, I’ll offer this Streets Team narrative link.  
  
But it appears that the advisory board is most interested in pursuing housing-related strategies that 
preserve and further develop affordable housing and that support our housing-insecure residents to 
sustainably maintain their housing. The conversation was rich and productive!  

  
Given the grim forecast for solving homelessness in our county, we encourage the board to also 
consider interim sheltering approaches that prevent further marginalization of unhoused residents 
and provide temporary emergency housing and supportive services on the pathway to permanent 
housing: transitional villages in non-residential areas that provide temporary emergency housing; 
and scattered sites in neighborhoods for use of parking lots as secure transitional locations for tent, cabin, 
and vehicle-dwelling households. 
  
Here is an Interim Sheltering narrative with links to a full Transitional Village proposal and Transitional 
Village overview, and a Secure Scattered Sites overview. These two approaches can help to match 
anticipated state funding for addressing encampments. Since H3 has no observed plan for establishing 
such activities, we believe this is a critical unmet need. 
  
I look forward to further conversations with the board. In the meantime, I will bring together partners 
from Central and East County (Noralea Gipner and Jo Bruno, respectively -- added to this email) to make 
further plans. Awaiting your interest in our pursuit of these initiatives.   
 
Daniel  
 

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdrive.google.com%2Ffile%2Fd%2F1tL2p6faccXMwHv75MIIQAlBonm8DbM1y%2Fview&data=04%7C01%7CLisa.Driscoll%40cao.cccounty.us%7Ca7061fa80db340cae18d08d93d184e52%7C76c13a07612f4e06a2f4783d69dc4cdb%7C0%7C0%7C637607998162937596%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=6B8ZC%2BbGDzgdRb9UCISfa6I2PajAyWMMUmYXMyklFyM%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdrive.google.com%2Ffile%2Fd%2F1vyLfnaYtl-dpOmeTsXOJdidsL1TIWv-a%2Fview%3Fusp%3Dsharing&data=04%7C01%7CLisa.Driscoll%40cao.cccounty.us%7Ca7061fa80db340cae18d08d93d184e52%7C76c13a07612f4e06a2f4783d69dc4cdb%7C0%7C0%7C637607998162967470%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=k9k1N9ZBbIoMggWQ6sQ3oUfQStrVC8e1PKzVmBQrWkg%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdrive.google.com%2Ffile%2Fd%2F1UayuF7uQ168zoB9fYyDwKbUnAfQoMPcf%2Fview%3Fusp%3Dsharing&data=04%7C01%7CLisa.Driscoll%40cao.cccounty.us%7Ca7061fa80db340cae18d08d93d184e52%7C76c13a07612f4e06a2f4783d69dc4cdb%7C0%7C0%7C637607998162977426%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=NC9CGqPmYBCKc%2BnCiVTA4N3aNEv63d1FJuOInyHxdMg%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdrive.google.com%2Ffile%2Fd%2F1jX8ugj53TyGvDxHpQ4A2D38PM4Cjp7s1%2Fview%3Fusp%3Dsharing&data=04%7C01%7CLisa.Driscoll%40cao.cccounty.us%7Ca7061fa80db340cae18d08d93d184e52%7C76c13a07612f4e06a2f4783d69dc4cdb%7C0%7C0%7C637607998162977426%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=GCqZfp7rKHCovFICY6viBuRMqffTFmywfXtNnPraji8%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdrive.google.com%2Ffile%2Fd%2F11hLyY9zv_UbnGtqWX65494_7NXYXFSq-%2Fview%3Fusp%3Dsharing&data=04%7C01%7CLisa.Driscoll%40cao.cccounty.us%7Ca7061fa80db340cae18d08d93d184e52%7C76c13a07612f4e06a2f4783d69dc4cdb%7C0%7C0%7C637607998162987369%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=r5kDFyJ6Tu8OG2BbGbXs7E%2BIfeGXLqyhkizp4ckUEcM%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdrive.google.com%2Ffile%2Fd%2F1Jsoc0vcmWa14gv1ZYiCt3mAqV89rjWaL%2Fview%3Fusp%3Dsharing&data=04%7C01%7CLisa.Driscoll%40cao.cccounty.us%7Ca7061fa80db340cae18d08d93d184e52%7C76c13a07612f4e06a2f4783d69dc4cdb%7C0%7C0%7C637607998162987369%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=b16yKm5fM3mhmS9AEKqqDS31QA2Jj%2Bh%2B%2FCgHSwhg00g%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdrive.google.com%2Ffile%2Fd%2F1Jsoc0vcmWa14gv1ZYiCt3mAqV89rjWaL%2Fview%3Fusp%3Dsharing&data=04%7C01%7CLisa.Driscoll%40cao.cccounty.us%7Ca7061fa80db340cae18d08d93d184e52%7C76c13a07612f4e06a2f4783d69dc4cdb%7C0%7C0%7C637607998162987369%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=b16yKm5fM3mhmS9AEKqqDS31QA2Jj%2Bh%2B%2FCgHSwhg00g%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdrive.google.com%2Ffile%2Fd%2F1CsGoAdkZbmeIUTdDjtmD8OV2uA4-N7DC%2Fview%3Fusp%3Dsharing&data=04%7C01%7CLisa.Driscoll%40cao.cccounty.us%7Ca7061fa80db340cae18d08d93d184e52%7C76c13a07612f4e06a2f4783d69dc4cdb%7C0%7C0%7C637607998162997334%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=yJIe0Nj2NhD4XoiSrl8jTSl9oZAygLoXIeLFLOK9DqA%3D&reserved=0


 

 

 

 

Measure X Advisory Committee 

 

Via Electronic Mail 

 

June 30, 2021 

 

To Measure X Advisory Committee:  

 

Housing is the foundation of education, healthcare, safe communities, and job security. Housing 

is the number one way to prevent homelessness. By using Measure X funds to support housing in 

the outlined ways, the community will receive benefits in threefold in other arenas, from 

education to healthcare.  

 

We suggest Measure X funds be used in the following ways: 

1. To fund direct legal representation to fight evictions on behalf of tenants.  

2. To fund tenants’ rights attorneys and social workers who can work in the County Courts’ 

self-help systems. The goal of these workers must be to fight for tenants, not to mediate 

conflicts.  

3. To fund enforcement of just cause and anti-harassment protections which will allow 

tenants to stay housed in the face of discrimination 

4. To fund ongoing rental assistance programs even after the end of the pandemic for 

tenants. 

5. To have a tenants’ rights specific hotline that is available 24/7. 

 

I. Preventing Evictions Prevents Homelessness and a Host of Other Problems. 

 

 



 2 

Research consistently shows that the best way to prevent homelessness is to prevent individuals 

from losing their housing. While we will outline the economic and social reasons to prevent 

homelessness, we also believe that we all have a moral obligation to treat all human beings with 

dignity including the right to live in a home that is safe and healthy.  

 

 

California has the third highest rate of homelessness in the United States.1 Families with children 

and individuals compose the 161,000 people who were homeless even prior to the pandemic in 

2019.2 Many people are not counted in homelessness data, as HUD defines homeless individuals 

as those living in shelters, and unsheltered community members as those individuals living in 

spaces not meant for human habitation such as parks or benches.3 This data does not include 

individuals who are living on friends’ couches for days at a time, sleeping in cars, or taking out 

massive credit card debt to pay for rent (who will ultimately lose their housing). Housing 

insecurity (moving multiple times, experiencing periods of homelessness, being rent burdened) 

are also not included in homelessness data. Homelessness data is often undercounted because 

families who are housing insecure or who are rent burdened (spending more than 30% of their 

income on rent), are consistently on the brink of being homeless at all times and often shift in 

and out of being homeless.  All of this means that more people are falling off the cliff of 

homelessness more than we know.  

 

Homeleness and housing insecurity has a number of negative consequences for the whole 

community. Housing insecurity or hazardous housing leads to worse mental health outcomes for 

children, increasing the rate of depression and other psychological states.4 Homelessness and 

housing insecurity creates worse educational outcomes for children, long-term economic 

outcomes, and long-term health outcomes.5 Experiencing homelessness or housing insecurity for 

a child will affect them the rest of their lives.  

 

                                                 
1 CBSLA staff, California has the third highest homeless population in the US: Report, CBSLosAngeles, 

December 9, 2020.  https://losangeles.cbslocal.com/2020/12/09/california-homeless-population-
homelessness/ 
2Chris Nichols, California’s Homeless Population Rose 7% To 161,000 Ahead Of The Pandemic, New 

Report Finds, CAPRadio, March 21, 2021.  
https://www.capradio.org/articles/2021/03/19/californias-homeless-population-rose-7-to-161000-ahead-of-
the-pandemic-new-report-finds/ 
3U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development Office of Community Planning and Development, 
A Guide to Counting Unsheltered Homeless People, HUD’s Homeless Assistance Programs, October 

2004, p. 4. https://www.hudexchange.info/sites/onecpd/assets/File/Guide -for-Counting-Unsheltered-
Homeless-Persons.pdf 
4 Kimberly A. Rollings, Nancy M. Wells, Gary W. Evans, Amanda Bednarz, Yizhao Yang, Housing and 

neighborhood physical quality: Children's mental health and motivation, Journal of Environmental 

Psychology, June 2017: vol. 50, p. 17-23. 
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S027249441730004X?via%3Dihub 
5 Veronica Gaitán, How Housing Affects Childrens’ Outcomes, Housing Matters: An Urban Institute 

Initiative, July 2, 2019. https://housingmatters.urban.org/articles/how-housing-affects-childrens-outcomes 

https://losangeles.cbslocal.com/2020/12/09/california-homeless-population-homelessness/
https://losangeles.cbslocal.com/2020/12/09/california-homeless-population-homelessness/


 3 

For adults, homeleness or housing insecurity leads to worse physical and mental outcomes. 6 

Housing insecurity also increases the number of traumas a person faces including things like 

rape, assault, starvation, social isolation, and lack of access to primary and preventative health 

care.7  

 

The best way to prevent homelessness is to keep people in safe homes. And the best way to keep 

people safe in their homes is to prevent evictions.  

 

 

II. Funding Unlawful Detainer Defense and Just Cause Protections is One of the Best 

Ways to Prevent Homelessness.  

 

For more than a third of people who become homeless in California, being evicted is the first 

step towards being homeless.8 In cities and counties without Just Cause and anti-harassment 

protections for tenants, evictions are fast, frequent, and unjust.9 In Contra Costa County there 

was a yearly average of 3,928 unlawful detainers filed in the time period between 2014 and 

2016.10 In Contra Costa County, 41% of those evictions were a result of default judgments, 

which happens when a tenant fails to answer a lawsuit, which is often a result of not 

understanding how court procedures or timelines work.11 Tenant representation by attorneys 

could help navigate against those default judgments. Finally, 75% of evictions occur within 45 

days of a landlord filing an unlawful detainer lawsuit.12 Evictions have unequal power dynamics 

with 90% of landlords having legal representation and at most only 10% of tenants having legal 

representation.13 

                                                 
6 Lauren Taylor, Housing and Health: An Overview of the Literature, Health Affairs: Health Policy Brief, 

June 7, 2018. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hpb20180313.396577/full/  
7 Boston Medical Center, Housing Instability Negatively Affects the Health of Children and Caregivers, 
Science Daily, January 22, 2018. https://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2018/01/180122110815.htm and 

Patricia Martin, Winston Liaw, Andrew Bazemore, Anuradha Jetty, Stephen Pettersen, Margo Kushel, 
Adults with Housing Insecurity Have Worse Access to Primary and Preventive Care, Journal of the 
American Board of Family Medicine, July-August 2019, p. 521-520. 

https://www.jabfm.org/content/32/4/521.long 
8 David Gorin, Californians Try to Avoid Homelesness By Short-Circuiting Evictions,  CalMatters, August 

28, 2018, updated June 23, 2020. https://calmatters.org/economy/2018/08/eviction-first-step-
homelessness-california-solutions/ 
9 Aimee Inglis and Dean Preston, Tenants’ Together Report, California Evictions are Fast and Frequent, 

May 2018, p. 1-15. 
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/52b7d7a6e4b0b3e376ac8ea2/t/5b1273ca0e2e72ec53ab0655/152
7935949227/CA_Evictions_are_Fast_and_Frequent.pdf 
10 Id. at 6. 
11 Id. at 9. 
12 Id. at 8 
13 Heidi Schulteis and Caitlin Rooney, A Right to Counsel is a Right to a Fighting Chance,  Center for 

American Progress, October 2, 2019. 
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/poverty/reports/2019/10/02/475263/right -counsel-right-fighting-

chance/#:~:text=In%20eviction%20lawsuits%20nationwide%2C%20an,10%20percent%20of%20tenants

https://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2018/01/180122110815.htm


 4 

 

When tenants do have legal representation, eviction rates drop by 40% or more.14 In addition 

there are numerous other benefits to legal representation for tenants including: 

● keeping eviction filings off of tenants’ records,  

● securing alternative housing,  

● negotiating reasonable amounts of time for the tenant to move out (rather than become 

homeless), 

● eliminating or reducing money owed to landlord because they failed to maintain the 

habitability of the property, and 

● reducing harassment by landlords during the lawsuit, and helping tenants apply for rental 

assistance.15  

 

Tenants cannot navigate the legal system on their own, because in our state, housing law is 

statutory. In the State of California, housing laws are often written in complicated legislative 

language. In addition, for most tenants to enforce their lawful tenant rights, they are required to 

go through complicated legal procedures that only legal workers understand. Lawyers who can 

take tenants from an eviction notice all the way through trial, are essential for tenants to be able 

to enforce and enjoy the rights allocated to them under the law. An attorney who can tell tenants 

their rights, can only offer brief advice, or can do simple letters will not be able to serve tenants 

adequately, as courtroom practice is necessary for the enforcement of tenant rights.  

 

For example, as of January 1, 2020,  AB 1482 (the Tenant Protection Act) became a minimal 

floor of tenant protections for all Californians. Tenants, while still needing greater rent control 

and harassment protections locally, now have a legal method to enforce some basic tenant rights. 

However, without an attorney present, it is nearly impossible for tenants to stay protected due to 

the obvious power imbalance between tenants who are renting, and landlords who own the 

property and often have more access to resources such as legal counsel.  

 

Thirty-five percent of Contra Costa County residents are renters.16 Between 2016-2019 there was 

a 9% rent increase throughout the county.17 Even during the pandemic with an eviction 

moratorium in place, 135 renters were evicted in Contra Costa County, the second highest 

                                                 
%20do.&text=Meanwhile%2C%20fewer%20than%201%20in,households%20receive%20federal%20rent

al%20assistance. 
14 PolicyLink, Legal Assistance to Prevent Evictions, All In Cities an Initiative of Policy Link, accessed 

Friday, June 25, 2021. https://allincities.org/node/46986 
15 Heidi Schulteis and Caitlin Rooney, A Right to Counsel is a Right to a Fighting Chance,  Center for 

American Progress, October 2, 2019. 
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/poverty/reports/2019/10/02/475263/right -counsel-right-fighting-

chance/ 
16 Ben Engebreath, Department of Numbers, https://www.deptofnumbers.com/rent/california/contra -costa-

county/ 
17 Id.  



 5 

eviction rate in the Bay Area.18  Contra Costa County needs greater tenant protection laws and 

direct legal representation funding to keep residents housed and prevent the harmful effects of 

homelessness on community members. 

 

III. Use Measure X funds to Support Contra Costa County Residents Keep Their 

Housing 

 

Using Measure X funds to support legal representation of tenants will prevent homelessness and 

housing insecurity, in effect improving health and educational outcomes for the County overall.  

 

First, we advocate that the County pass strong just cause and rent control protections for 

unincorporated Contra Costa County. Just Cause protections are legal safeguards that ensure that 

tenants are not evicted for discriminatory, harassment, retaliatory, or rent-gauging purposes.19 

Just Cause protections alone decrease evictions by 15%.20 Supporting enforcement of Just Cause 

protections will prevent evictions which is often the first step to preventing homelessness.  

 

In addition, Measure X funds should be used to create a continuous and long-standing fund for 

direct legal representation of tenants. These funds should not be used for mediation which lead to 

worse outcomes for tenants, perpetuate unequal power dynamics, and often result in 

homelessness. This legal fund should fund properly trained staff attorneys of a community 

organization. This fund could also support bringing tenants’ rights attorneys into the Self-Help 

centers at courts to help file paperwork, earmark illegal notices, and support tenants not missing 

deadlines. In addition, adding social workers who specialize in helping families deal with the 

trauma of housing insecurity would provide holistic support to keep county residents housed, 

safer, and healthier. 

 

Finally, the County should fund a tenants’ rights specific hotline that is available 24/7. This 

would help tenants understand their rights, fight illegal evictions, help with negotiations, and 

help tenants understand their rights and obligations. As stated earlier, tenants’ rights counseling 

with staff attorneys who have specific knowledge of statutory law help decrease court backlog, 

prevent evictions, keep more people housed, and ease negotiation processes for landlords as well.  

 

                                                 
18 Molly Solomon and Erin Baldassari, More than 500 Bay Area Residents Have Been Evicted During the 

Pandemic, Despite Protections,  KQED, January 27, 2021. https://www.kqed.org/news/11856817/more-
than-500-bay-area-residents-have-been-evicted-during-the-pandemic-despite-protections 
19 William Wilcox, Tenants Protections for All: Renters are a Just Cause the Legislature Needs to 

Support, Berkeley Public Policy Journal, December 2, 2020. 
https://bppj.berkeley.edu/2020/12/02/tenants-protections-for-all-renters-are-a-just-cause-the-legislature-

needs-to-support/ 
20 Id.  



 6 

As The Justice in Government Project21 states:  

As the Judicial Council of California writes, “Eviction is one of the most urgent civil law 

issues for low-income individuals and families.” Tenants often lack legal representation, 

while landlords often have counsel...When tenants have counsel they are more likely to 

remain housed, ultimately reducing bouts of homelessness...They found that tenants were 

more likely to remain in their homes, receive more days to move, have a higher 

settlement rate with balanced representation, and a lower trial rate when they have full 

representation.  

  

We encourage the Advisory Committee, as advocates for the most marginalized communities, to 

consider what is best for everyone. And what is best for everyone is to prevent evictions, stop 

homelessness, and improve outcomes for everyone in the County.  

 

Sincerely, 

Reetu Mody, Managing Attorney 

Centro Legal de la Raza 

 

Along with Raise the Roof Coalition Members: 

  
The Alliance of Californians for Community Empowerment (ACCE) 

California Nurses Association (CNA) 

Centro Legal de la Raza  

Contra Costa Central Labor Council 

Central County Regional Group (CCRG) of First 5 Contra Costa 

East Bay Alliance for a Sustainable Economy (EBASE) 

East Bay Housing Organization (EBHO) 

Ensuring Opportunity, the Campaign to End Poverty in Contra Costa County 

The Faith Alliance for a Moral Economy (FAME)  

Lift Up Contra Costa 

Monument Impact 

Tenants Together 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
21 Key Studies and Data About How Legal Aid Improves Housing Outcomes. The Justice in Government 

Project: July 30, 2019: https://www.american.edu/spa/jpo/toolkit/upload/housing-7-30-19.pdf 



 

 
 

CALIFORNIA  22 Pelican Way, San Rafael, CA 94901  |  (415) 258-1800  |  CA Lic. 853495 
HAWAII  1001 Bishop Street, #2880, Honolulu, HI 96813  |  (808) 523-8826  |  HI Lic. RB-16985 

www.EAHHousing.org 

Expanding the range of opportunities for all by 
developing, managing and promoting quality 
affordable housing and diverse communities.  
 
 
 
June 29, 2021  
 
Ms. Mariana Moore, Chair  
Measure X Community Advisory Committee  
c/o Lisa Driscoll  
Contra Costa County  
Via Email: Lisa.driscoll@cao.cccounty.us  
 
Dear Ms. Moore,  
 
We here at EAH Housing are writing to urge the maximum possible allocation of the County’s Measure X 
resources for affordable housing projects throughout the County. We understand that the Committee will be 
discussing this topic at its meeting on June 30th.  
 
EAH Housing is one of California’s leading developers of affordable housing, with more than 200 
properties in our real estate management portfolio, we serve about 25,000 residents throughout 
California and Hawaii. Based in the Bay Area, we are active in Contra Costa County, and have several 
new projects pending there. We need local funds to match State financing to move the projects 
forward to create a home for low-income families, seniors, veterans, the formerly homeless, 
chronically homeless and people with disabilities. 
 
Affordable housing developments that we have currently pending in Contra Costa County include: 

• Nevin Plaza (Rehabilitation) – Richmond, 138 Units for extremely low-income seniors 
• Nevin Plaza (New Construction) – Richmond, 70 affordable units for very-low and extremely low-

income seniors 
• Rodeo Gateway Seniors (New Construction) – Rodeo, 67 units for low-income seniors 
• Rodeo Gateway (Rehabilitation) - Rodeo, 50 units for extremely low-income seniors  

 
Of course, we would be pleased to provide more information to the Committee about the above projects and 
the potential roles of Measure X funds. Producing affordable housing in the County depends on securing 
additional funding from the State via programs like the Multi-Family Housing Program (MHP) and the Tax 
Credit Program. The State’s funds are awarded to projects competitively and we must have local match 
funding. Measure X should be used to help projects in the County’s pipeline be more competitive for funding.  
 
The County has a highly productive and successful mechanism for distributing affordable housing funding from 
the Federal HOME and CDBG programs and Measure X funding would enhance the County’s capacity to add 
new affordable housing. The County has worked for decades to create the capacity to invest in this housing 
and provide tax exempt bond financing to projects. Not only does the County have a system for investing in 
these developments, they also have an excellent compliance oversight structure that assures that the County’s 
affordability and quality requirements are being met.  
 

mailto:Lisa.driscoll@cao.cccounty.us


 
 

CALIFORNIA  22 Pelican Way, San Rafael, CA 94901  |  (415) 258-1800  |  CA Lic. 853495 
HAWAII  1001 Bishop Street, #2880, Honolulu, HI 96813  |  (808) 523-8826  |  HI Lic. RB-16985 

www.EAHHousing.org 

The County has adopted a goal of ending homelessness, which is ever more challenging as we come out of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. One of the most important tools in this effort is producing and preserving affordable 
housing throughout the County. The projects already developed in the County and the projects in the pipeline 
target a range of affordability from homeless individuals and families to seniors to families with very low 
incomes. Without subsidies from programs like Measure X, we cannot produce this type of housing and end 
homelessness in Contra Costa County.  
 
We urge the Committee to recommend to the Board of Supervisors that a meaningful portion of Measure X 
funding be invested in the County’s housing production and preservation system. This would allow the County 
to leverage state and federal funding and provide permanent solutions to the affordable housing crisis and the 
homelessness crisis in the County.  
 
Thank you for consideration.  
 
Sincerely,  

 
President and CEO 
EAH Housing  
 
 
 
 
Cc: Supervisor John Gioia  
Via email: john_gioia@bos.cccounty.us  
John Kopchik, Conservation & Development Department Director  
Via email: john.kopchik@dcd.cccounty.us  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 
 

June 29, 2021 
 
 

Ms. Mariana Moore, Chair 
Measure X Community Advisory 
Committee c/o Lisa Driscoll 
Contra Costa County 
Via Email: Lisa.driscoll@cao.cccounty.us 

 
 

Dear Ms. Moore, 

On behalf of Mercy Housing California, I am writing to provide comment regarding Measure X 
expenditures for affordable housing. I understand that the Committee will be discussing this topic 
at its meeting on June 30th. 

 
Mercy Housing is one of the largest nonprofit affordable housing developers in the U.S.  In 
California, we have developed and operate 151 affordable rental communities with more than 
10,000 homes, where 19,500 Californians will fall asleep tonight.  In the next few years, Mercy is 
slated to develop and preserve over 3,000 additional homes across California.   

We believe it is critically important that a meaningful portion of the Measure X funds be directed 
annually to Contra Costa County’s current housing and community development distribution 
system to provide gap funding to help produce new, permanently affordable housing in 
communities throughout the County. The County has had a highly productive and successful 
mechanism for distributing affordable housing funding from the Federal HOME and CDBG 
programs and Measure X funding would enhance the County’s capacity to add new affordable 
housing. The County has worked for decades to create the capacity to invest in this housing and 
provide tax exempt bond financing to projects. Not only does the County have a system for 
investing in these developments, they also have an excellent compliance oversight structure that 
assures that the County’s affordability and quality requirements are being met. 

We recognize that a key goal of the County is ending homelessness. One of the most important 
tools in this effort is producing and preserving affordable housing throughout the County. The 
projects already developed in the County and the projects in the pipeline target a range of 
affordability from homeless individuals and families to families with extremely low, low, and very 
low income. Without gap subsidies from programs like Measure X, we cannot produce this type of 
housing. 

 
In addition, a key component of producing and affordable housing in the County is securing 
additional funding from the State via programs like the Multi-Family Housing Program (MHP) and 

mailto:Lisa.driscoll@cao.cccounty.us


the Tax Credit Program. The State’s funds are awarded to projects competitively and a key aspect 
of securing this funding is securing local funding from cities and counties. Measure X should be 
used to help projects in the County’s pipeline be more competitive for funding. We urge the 
Committee to recommend to the Board of Supervisors that a meaningful portion of the Measure X 
funding be invested in the County’s housing production and preservation work via its proven 
structure. This would allow the County to leverage state and federal funding and provide 
permanent solutions to the affordable housing crisis and the homelessness crisis in the County. 

Sincerely, 

Doug Shoemaker 
President, Mercy Housing California 

Cc: Supervisor John Gioia

Via email: john_gioia@bos.cccounty.us 

John Kopchik, Conservation & Development Department 
Director Via email: john.kopchik@dcd.cccounty.us 

mailto:john_gioia@bos.cccounty.us
mailto:john.kopchik@dcd.cccounty.us


MEASURE X COMMUNITY ADVISORY BOARD
Meeting Date: 07/07/2021  

Subject: Focussed Presentation and Discussion - Justce System
Submitted For: MEASURE X Com Advisory Board, 
Department: County Administrator
Referral No.: 2/2/21 D.4  

Referral Name: Community Advisory Committee for Measure X 
Presenter: BK Williams Contact: Lisa Driscoll (925) 655-2047

Referral History:
Plan for series of focussed presentations and discussion was established by the
Measure X Community Advisory Board. Committee received presentations on May 12
regarding seniors, disabled people, and veterans, on May 19 community safety: fire
protection, on May 26 early childhood, on June 9 youth and young adults, on June 16
healthcare, on June 23 mental health/behavioral health & disabled residents, and on
June 30 housing and homelessness.

Referral Update:
Attached are presentations regarding the Justice System.

Recommendation(s)/Next Step(s):
RECEIVE presentations on the topic of the Justice System: 

Diana Becton- District Attorney
Esa Ehmen-Krause – Chief Probation Officer
Patrice Guillory – Director, Office of Reentry & Justice
Robin Lipetzky – Public Defender
Brandon Banks – Public Defender, Managing Attorney
Angelene Musawwir – Public Defender Social Work Supervisory
David Livingston - Sheriff
Lt David Hall – Sheriff’s Department
Donté Blue, Chief Program Officer, Rubicon
Dr. Carole Dorham-Kelly, Executive Director, Rubicon
Rhody McCoy, Director Community Based Programs, Rubicon
Pat Mims – Director, Reentry Success Center, Rubicon
Tamisha Walker, Safe Return Project
Danny Espinoza, Reimagining Public Safety Contra Costa campaign
Randy Joseph, Richmond Reimagining Public Safety
Veronica Benjamin, Reimagining Public Safety Contra Costa campaign
Melvin Willis, Racial Justice Coalition
Chelsea Miller, Co-Director of The Collective Healing and Transformation Project (The CHAT



Chelsea Miller, Co-Director of The Collective Healing and Transformation Project (The CHAT
Project)

The following link was provided by the Safe Return Project with reference materials to supplement
their presentation:
https://www.safereturnprj.org/ground-truthing-research

Attachments
1 - District Attorney Presentation
DA - Supplemental Materials for Proposals
2 - Probation Presentation
3 - Public Defender Presentation
Public Defender Proposal and Supplemental Materials
4 - CCC Office of the Sheriff Presentation
Office of the Sheriff - Supplemental Materials
5 - Rubicon Presentation
6 - Reimagine Public Safety
7 - CCC Racial Justice Coalition
CHAT Project Supplemental Materials
Sheriff - Letter of Support 1
Sheriff - Letter of Support 2
Sheriff - Letter of Support 3
Sheriff - Letter of Support 4
Sheriff - Letter of Support 5
Sheriff - Letter of Support 6

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.safereturnprj.org%2Fground-truthing-research&data=04%7C01%7CLisa.Driscoll%40cao.cccounty.us%7C1d69ac37b55040b8b5c608d93d7873cf%7C76c13a07612f4e06a2f4783d69dc4cdb%7C0%7C0%7C637608410401952686%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=Jv23XNq96W80ZE%2FsXWsk%2FqZTW9zoCq%2F3Xy0v6LzoID8%3D&reserved=0


Contra Costa County 
District Attorney’s Office

Measure X

Diana Becton, District Attorney



Measure X 
Investments
Contra Costa County 

District Attorney’s Office

Young Adult Diversion

Combat Human 
Trafficking

Independent 
Investigations Bureau

page 2



Measure X 
Investments
Contra Costa County 

District Attorney’s Office

Young Adult Diversion

Transitional Age Youth (TAY) 
18-24

Disproportionate Representation

Racial and Ethnic Disparities

Systemic Inequity

Rehabilitative Services

Redirect TAY

page 3



Measure X 
Investments
Contra Costa County 

District Attorney’s Office

Combat Human Trafficking

Sex and Labor Trafficking

Task Force

24.9 Million Victims

Young Girls and Women

Black, Asian and Hispanic

Partnerships

Investigations and Prosecution

Outreach

page 4



Measure X 
Investments
Contra Costa County 

District Attorney’s Office

Independent Investigations 
Bureau

Law Enforcement Involved Fatal 
Incidents Protocol

Misconduct and Use of Force

68 Investigations since 2017

10 Fatalities – Black(3) , Latino(3) , 
White(3) , and Asian(1) 

Public Trust and Confidence

page 5



Measure X 
Investments
Contra Costa County 

District Attorney’s Office

Investment Prioritization and 
Request

Prosecutors

Investigators

Support and Partnerships

Evaluation and Analysis

$5 Million Annual Estimate

page 6



Measure X 
Investments
Contra Costa County 

District Attorney’s Office

Questions

page 7



 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
District Attorney Administration  (925) 957-8604 
900 Ward Street, Fourth Floor  Fax (925) 646-4683 
Martinez, California  94553 

July 7, 2021 
 
 
Mariana Moore, Chair 
Measure X Community Advisory Board 
 
 
Subject: Investment Request to Enhance Efforts to Collaboratively Prevent and Respond to  
                All Forms of Human Trafficking in our Community 
 
Overview:  
 
The Contra Costa District Attorneys Office is the sole prosecuting agency with Contra Costa 
County. Our sole mission is to seek justice and enhance public safety for all residents. 
It has become clear that human trafficking occurring in and through our community is 
significant.  Sex and labor trafficking occur in several forms here, including street level 
prostitution, exploitation through on-line dating applications and social media sites, 
domestic servitude, wage theft and extortion.   
 
In 2018, District Attorney Diana Becton established the office’s first Human Trafficking Unit 
to develop a collaborative and comprehensive approach to combat exploitation of persons 
for sex, or labor, coordinate victim services, and provide education to raise community 
awareness. Contra Costa County received a federal grant, and the District Attorney’s office 
became the funded law enforcement partner in the Federal Enhanced Collaborative Model 
to Combat Human Trafficking grant.  We expanded our partnership with The Contra Costa 
Alliance to End Abuse and local direct service providers to build a local, state and federal 
Human Trafficking Task Force, which has seen remarkable success.  
 
The Contra Costa District Attorney’s office has been a leader in our County’s collaborative 
efforts to identify victims of all forms of human trafficking, but is significantly underfunded 
to meet the needs of our community. The Human Trafficking Unit needs to expand in order 
to truly have a meaningful impact on crimes of trafficking and exploitation in our 
community.  
 
Trends:  
 
Human trafficking is among the worlds fastest growing criminal enterprises and is 
estimated to be a $150 billion-a-year global industry. It is a form of modern day slavery 
that profits from the exploitation of our most vulnerable populations. The International 



2 
 

Labor Organization estimates that there are more than 24.9 million human trafficking 
victims worldwide at any time. This includes 16 million victims of labor exploitation, 4.8 
million victims of sexual exploitation, and 4.1 million victims of state imposed forced labor. 
The victims of human trafficking are often young girls and women. Young girls and women 
are 57.6% of forced labor victims and 99.4% of sex trafficking victims. 1 
  
Highway 4 links sex trafficking victims and exploiters from East to West Contra Costa.  
Richmond and San Pablo see street-level prostitution in the 23rd Street corridor (known as 
a “blade”). East and Central County see on-line dating applications being used to promote 
commercial sex that then occurs in cars parked in public places (“car dates”) or hotels.   
 
The economic instability caused by the pandemic has made people more vulnerable to both 
sex and labor exploitation.  Commercial sex, often involving domestic and teen-dating 
violence, has become a part of intimate partner relationships as more couples struggle to 
make ends meet. Young people glamorize commercial sex based on popular culture / music 
which promotes the so-called “pimp” lifestyle.   
 
Racial Equity:  
 
In Contra Costa County, many of our sex trafficking victims are young Black and Hispanic 
women.  Young people glamorize commercial sex based on popular culture / music which 
promotes the so-called “pimp” lifestyle. 
 
Gaps:  

We do not have adequate resources and/or staff, and there is a continued need to develop a 
collaborative and comprehensive approach to combat exploitation of persons for sex, or 
labor, to coordinate victim services, and provide education to raise community awareness. 
Given the multijurisdictional nature of this work, there is an acute need for a Human 
Trafficking Coordinator, who brings together the large number of local, state and federal 
law enforcement agencies due to the multijurisdictional nature of this work, along with 
other essential staff who support the work of the Human Trafficking Unit. The existing staff 
is strained because in addition to managing complex human trafficking cases, they must 
actively engage in prevention, awareness-raising outreach events, community events, and 
school trainings. These activities are critical to meeting grant mandates, as well as building 
trust between law enforcement, community members and social service/advocacy 
professionals.  

Human trafficking cases are complex, often involving an enormous amount of evidence that 
must be examined from digital devices, like cell phones, computers, and social media 
accounts.  

Additional resources are needed to strengthen identification, investigation and prosecution 

 
1 Human Trafficking, State of California, Department of Justice, Oag.ca.gov 



3 
 

of all types of Human Trafficking Cases. 

 
Intersectional:   
 
The victims of human trafficking are often young girls and women. Young girls and women 
are 57.6% of forced labor victims and 99.4% of sex trafficking victims. 2  
 
In Contra Costa County, our victims are all to often young Black and Hispanic women.  
Young people glamorize commercial sex based on popular culture / music which promotes 
the so-called “pimp” lifestyle.  
 
In Contra Costa we have adopted a Five-prong approach. Prevention, Education, 
Awareness, and Enforcement, are supported by robust victim services. Our Human 
Trafficking prosecutors have noted how genuinely surprised many defendants are to be 
facing serious criminal consequences for supporting or profiting from the commercial sex 
work of others.  As a result, we have partnered with Outreach Teams to teach human 
trafficking in local high schools including Richmond High and Cal High in order to raise 
awareness and allow our youth to make more informed choices in this arena to avoid both 
victimization and criminal justice system involvement. 
 
Our Human Trafficking Unit collaborates with trusted advocacy partners including The 
Alliance, CVS, Family Justice Centers, CFS / CSEC Steering Committee, STAND, Love Never 
Fails, Justice at Last, Bay Area Legal Aid and more and on teaching, outreach and 
prevention. 
 
Our Task Force partners now include the US Attorney’s Office, FBI and Homeland Security 
Investigations, California’s Department of Industrial Relations, Franchise Tax Board and 
Employment Development Department, Contra Costa law enforcement agencies, and local 
victim service providers. 

How Measure X Funds will Support and Enhance Prevention: 
 
Our Human Trafficking Unit actively supports outreach aimed at prevention, education, and 
awareness. Staff, including Victim-Witness advocates represents the Task Force at 
awareness-raising events such as National Night Out and Human Trafficking Days of Action, 
based out of our Family Justice Centers in Richmond and Antioch.   
 
Prevention is enhanced by prosecutors who engage in outreach into schools to teach 
Human Trafficking awareness in Richmond, San Ramon and Antioch schools, and have 
plans to expand the work with the San Pablo Police Department, along with working to 
secure Richmond as the location for a pilot, federally funded school outreach program.  Our 

 
2 Human Trafficking, State of California, Department of Justice, Office of the Attorney 
General, Oag.ca.gov 
 



4 
 

Human Trafficking Unit collaborates with trusted advocacy partners including The Alliance, 
CVS, Family Justice Centers, CFS / CSEC Steering Committee, STAND,  Love Never Fails, 
Justice at Last, Bay Area Legal Aid and more and on teaching, outreach and prevention.  
Augmenting Human Trafficking Unit Staff will allow these efforts to continue and expand, 
even as referrals, investigations and prosecutions increase. 

How Measure X Funds will Enable Transformational, Bold Ideas to Better Support 
Immigrant Workers and Families: 
 
The Human Trafficking Unit and Task Force have fantastic opportunities to expand our 
outreach efforts to those community members who are particularly vulnerable to labor 
trafficking and exploitation such as day laborers, construction workers, seasonal farm 
workers, domestic workers in hotels and motels and elder care facilities, in the first 
languages of these workers.   
 
These populations are disproportionally Hispanic and Asian community members lacking 
immigration status.  The Task Force envisions outreach to vulnerable communities, 
including distributing information that will help these community members support their 
families by understanding their legal rights to California’s minimum wage and overtime, 
and fair, safe working conditions.  Materials would be produced in English, Spanish and 
Mandarin and presented by/with advocacy partners already working in and trusted by 
these communities with the expected goal of connecting victims to culturally-competent 
services and support and investigating /prosecuting exploiters to get court-ordered 
restitution for the legal value of the victim’s labor and support applications for Continued 
Presence, U Visas and / or T Visas.   
 
These innovative approaches will require that we add capacity to the Human Trafficking 
Unit in order to plan and execute these outreach efforts and also to respond to the 
increased referrals, investigations and prosecutions, and victim service needs that will 
result. 

What Success Will Look Like When Measure X Funds Are Used to Add Capacity to the 
Human Trafficking Unit and Human Trafficking Task Force: 
 
The District Attorney’s office will be able to better fulfill its existing mission of creating a 
sustainable, multidisciplinary and collaborative Human Trafficking Task Force.  The office 
will have sufficient trained and experienced staff members to support and expand on 
existing outreach and training efforts.  This will generate more case referrals, more 
investigations, more survivors recovered and connected to culturally competent services 
and support and more traffickers held accountable through state and/or federal 
prosecutions that have a goal of making victims whole through court-ordered restitution.  
As awareness of rights and potential liabilities increases, community members will be able 
to make more informed choices to avoid or mitigate exploitative situations involving labor 
and/or commercial sex or access needed help. 
 



5 
 

Also support for data collection and analysis allows for all Task Force partners to take more 
of a “data driven approach” to investigations and prosecutions, thus maximizing scarce 
resources. 
 
Funding Request: 
 
$1 Million 
 



 

1 
 

July 7, 2021 
 
 
Mariana Moore, Chair 
Measure X Community Advisory Board 
 
 
Subject: Investment Request for Independent Investigations Bureau 
 
 
Overview:  
 
The Contra Costa District Attorney’s Office is the sole prosecuting agency within Contra 
Costa County. Our sole mission is to seek justice and enhance public safety for all residents. 
A core component of public safety is community trust, which is strengthened by being 
transparent with the communities we are sworn to serve. 
 
Situations may arise where a law enforcement officer commits misconduct or uses force 
(which should only be used in accordance with the law). When improper use of force or 
misconduct is alleged, the public has a right to expect a thorough, transparent, and 
independent investigation of the incident.  
 
The Contra Costa District Attorney’s Office seeks Measure X Funding in order to establish 
an Independent Investigations Bureau (The Bureau), that will work exclusively on use of 
force and misconduct cases and operate independently of every other unit within the DA’s 
office. The Bureau will be committed to conducting independent investigations, and when 
warranted prosecuting those who violate the law. The Bureau will report directly to the 
District Attorney. The Bureau will be staffed by senior prosecutors and experienced 
investigators that report directly to the District Attorney.  
 
Data:  
 
The Contra Costa County District Attorney’s Office (CCCDAO) and every law-enforcement 
agency in Contra Costa County has adopted the Law Enforcement Involved Fatal Incidents 
Protocol (Protocol) to investigate incidents when officers or civilians are shot, killed, or die 
during an encounter with law-enforcement. The Protocol was created in 1984 and has 
undergone a number of revisions, with the most recent version being updated in 2014. The 
Protocol may also be invoked for other incidents, such as allegations of officer misconduct. 
 



As part of the Protocol process, the District Attorney and the involved agencies conduct 
independent investigations. The purpose of the criminal investigation is to determine 
whether any of the involved individuals, officers or civilians, committed a crime.  
 
In Contra Costa County, since January 1, 2017, there have been 68 investigations into 
incidents when officers or civilians were shot, killed or died during an encounter with law 
enforcement.  
 
The numbers by year are as follows: 
2017—13  
2018—19 (four fatalities) 
2019—12 (three fatalities) 
2020—13 (two fatalities) 
2021— (as of May 31, 2021. One fatality) 
 
Trends:  
 
In the past several years, high-profile killings of unarmed black men and women have 
garnered worldwide attention. Around the country, issues of transparency, accountability, 
and public trust have drawn intense debate and controversy.  
  
Racial Equity:  
 
Since September 2017, there have been ten (10) fatal Officer Involved Shootings. The 
overall breakdown by race for the ten is as follows: 
 
--3 Latino deaths 
--3 Black deaths 
--3 White deaths  
--1 Asian death 
 
Gaps:  
 
There were days of protest across the country in the wake of George Floyd’s death, placing 
the public view about law enforcement and accountability in the spotlight. In recent years, 
the community has expressed concerns about the close relationships between prosecutors 
and law enforcement. Concerns have been raised about the possibility of bias or conflict. 
These concerns undermine public trust and confidence in the investigation. In a survey 
following the shooting of Michael Brown in Ferguson, Missouri, 76% of African Americans 
had little confidence in the investigations.1 
 
 

 
1 Stark Racial Divisions in Reactions to Ferguson Police Shooting, PEW RESAEARCH CTR.,2 
(Aug. 18, 2014)  



 
Prevention:  
 
A recent report from the Stanford Criminal Justice Center on “Improving Criminal 
Investigations of Police Shootings” suggests protocols that maximize: (1) independence, (2) 
accountability and transparency; and (3) expertise. 2  
  
Intersectional:   
 
Enhanced community trust and confidence in the investigation. 
 
Transformational Bold Ideas:  
 
Establish an Independent Investigations Bureau (The Bureau), that will work exclusively 
on use of force and misconduct cases and operate independently of every other unit within 
the District Attorney’s office. The Bureau will be committed to conducting independent 
investigations, and when warranted prosecuting those who violate the law.  
 
Success:  
 
The Bureau investigators will work solely on allegations of misconduct and use of force.  
Investigations will be completed promptly due to concentrated resources. Enhanced public 
community trust and confidence in the investigation. 
 
Investment Request:   
 
$3 Million 
 
 
 

 
2 At Arm’s Length: Improving Criminal Investigations of Police Shootings (Oct. 2016) 
(accessible at: https://law. stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/At-Arms-Length-
Oct-2016.pdf). 
 



 

1 
 

July 7, 2021 
 
 
Mariana Moore, Chair 
Measure X Community Advisory Board 
 
 
Subject: Investment Request for Young Adult Diversion 
 
 
Overview:  
 
The Contra Costa District Attorney’s Office is the sole prosecuting agency within Contra 
Costa County. Our sole mission is to seek justice and enhance public safety for all residents.  
 
Young people of color are disproportionately represented in the justice system. The main 
idea of Young Adult Diversion is to implement restorative justice diversion as an 
alternative pathway for transitional age youth (TAY), aged 18-24, who are arrested for 
specified felonies and serious misdemeanors. The Young Adult Diversion is part of a larger 
movement to recognize young adults in the justice system as a distinct group with distinct 
needs. TAY are disproportionately represented in the justice system, disproportionately 
arrested, and have the highest recidivism rate of any group. The Young Adult Diversion 
Program is a shift away from a punitive response, and instead a focus on healing, 
restoration, and accountability. The primary goal is to redirect youth from the criminal 
justice system, reduce the pipeline into the justice system, reduce recidivism and reduce 
disparities in the justice system.   
 
Data:  
 
According to the 2019 data collected by the California Department of Justice (DOJ), youth of 
color bore the brunt of justice system involvement. Also, based on data from the Final 
Report of the Contra Costa County Racial Justice Task Force, across the County, Black adults 
were more than 3 times more likely to be arrested than adults from any other racial/ethnic 
group, and Black youth were more than 7 times more likely to be arrested than youth from 
any other racial/ethnic group.  

 
• Black, Latinx, and youth of color are more likely to be arrested in California 

compared to white youth. 



• In California, compared to white youth, Black youth are 8.7 times more likely to be 
arrested, and Latinx youth are 2.1 times more likely to be arrested. 

• Systemic racism has led to the increase of racial and ethnic disparities at each 
subsequent point of contact within the juvenile justice system.  

• Black and Latinx, and youth of color are more likely to have their arrest referred to 
court, get sentenced, and be incarcerated for longer periods of time. 1    

 
Trends:  
 
Data confirms that Youth of color bear the brunt of California’s justice system, and that 
youth of color are primarily impacted by the system. Across the state is that there is a 
demand for change.  
 
Racial Equity:  
 
Across Contra Costa County, racial and ethnic disparities in arrests and detention of youth 
plague our system. According to data from the State of California’s Department of Justice’s 
criminal Justice Statistics Center, Black people are more likely to be arrested than 
individuals from any other racial or ethnic group in every city but one in Contra Costa 
County.2 Additionally, both Black and Latinx youth were 50% more likely to be detained 
than White youth. 3   
 
Gaps:  
 
There has never been a post-arrest, pre-charge diversion program in Contra Costa County 
aimed at prevention over incarceration for TAY (18-24 years old). TAY youth are system 
impacted and bear the burden of systemic inequities including racial and ethnic disparities. 
Resources for this group of young people are extremely limited. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 (Haywood Burns Institute. United States of Disparities. Retrieved from: 
https://usdata.burnsinstitute.org/#comparison=3&placement=3&races=1,2,3,4,5,6&offens
es=5,2,8,1,9,11,10&year=2017&view=m) 
 
2 (Contra Costa County Racial Justice Task Force (2017). Final report to board of 
supervisors. Retrieved from: http://64.166.146.245/docs/2018/BOS/20180724 
1121/34430 FINAL%20CCC-RJTF BoS-memo 20180710 STC.pdf 
 
3 (California Department of Justice. (n.d.). Retrieved from: 
https://openjustice.doj.ca.gov/crime-statistics/arrests 
 
 

http://64.166.146.245/docs/2018/BOS/20180724%201121/34430
http://64.166.146.245/docs/2018/BOS/20180724%201121/34430


Prevention:  
 
A Young Adult Diversion program divert youth away from punitive solutions and towards 
rehabilitative services. Youth will be provided with wraparound services that are trauma 
informed, culturally relevant, and developmentally appropriate.  
 
Intersectional:  
 
TAY youth, are disproportionately represented in the justice system, disproportionately 
arrested, and have the highest recidivism rate of any group. The Young Adult Diversion 
Program is a shift away from a punitive response, and instead a focus on accountability, 
healing, and restoration, for the youth, the victim, and the community. The program will 
divert felonies and serous misdemeanor cases for which youth of color are 
disproportionately arrested and/or incarcerated. Victims are contacted and provide 
meaningful input, if desired. Victims also have the opportunity to get answers, and to see 
the youth show remorse for their actions. 
 
Transformational Bold Ideas:  
 
District Attorney Becton is an advocate for solutions that reduce youth incarceration and 
vulnerability to the prison pipeline. The District Attorney’s office will partner with other 
justice partners, and with community-based programs to develop case eligibility 
requirements, avoid net-widening and focus on reducing racial and ethnic disparities 
 
The bold idea is to invest in prevention over incarceration. The Young Adult Diversion 
Program is a shift away from a punitive response, and instead a focus on healing, 
restoration, and accountability. The primary goal is to redirect youth from the criminal 
justice system, reduce the pipeline into the justice system, reduce recidivism, increase 
victim satisfaction, and reduce disparities in the justice system.   
 
Success:  
 
The anticipated successful outcomes are: 

• Redirect youth from the criminal justice system 
• Lower recidivism 
• Development of “life skills” 
• Reduce racial and ethnic disparities in the criminal justice system 
• Data collection and transparency 
• Reduce related fiscal and social costs 

 
Funding Request: 
 
$1 Million 
 
 



Contra Costa County 
Probation Department

1



2



Probation Programs & Services

 Adult Investigations

 Juvenile Investigations

 Adult Supervision

 Post-Release Community 
Supervision

 Juvenile Supervision

 DJJ Reentry

 Pre-Trial Supervision

 Taskforce Deputies

 Juvenile Hall

 Briones Youth Academy

 Orin Allen Youth Rehabilitation Facility

 Juvenile Home Supervision

 Care of Court Wards

 Out of Home Placement

 Non-Minor Dependents

 Office of Reentry and Justice

3



Adult Supervision 4

2851

3064
3138

2851
2917

3003
3076

3219
3320

3139

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

Year

Adult Supervision: Annual Supervision Population
9-year lookback

Adult Population



Juvenile Supervision 5

1095

1210

1295

1082

774

650

509

416

680

790
842

665

434

230

167

415 420
453

417

340

420

342

R² = 0.858

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

Year

Juvenile Supervision: Annual Supervision Population
8-year lookback

Total Population Misdemeanor Felony Expon. (Total Population)



Juvenile Hall 6

49

44
45

56

48

51

45

35

43 43

34

31

25
24

28

32
30 30

28
29 29

28

24 24

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Juvenile Hall Population (monthly average) - Detention Units
2019-2021



Orin Allen Youth Rehabilitation Facility 7

28

23 23 23

29 29

31

36
37

32

23

21

19

16

13
14 14

17
18

17

15

19
20

17

14

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

OAYRF Population Monthly Average: 2019-2021



ORJ Establishment

 Authorized by the Board of Supervisors as 2.5 year pilot 
project of the County Administrator’s Office; established 
January 2017.

 Community Advisory Board to the Community Corrections 
Partnership (CCP) initiated in 2015.

 ORJ’s permanent home within the CCC Probation 
Department - 50 Douglas Drive, Martinez 

8



ORJ’s Purpose

To build on, align, and advance
reentry and justice initiatives in 
Contra Costa County.

9



ORJ Responsibilities
Community Investments

 Conducting the procurement process, 
contract management for CBO Reentry 
Service providers

Research & Evaluation

 Advancing knowledge of relevant issues, 
research and best-practices

 Managing data collection and evaluation 
of services

 Advise decision-makers on matters 
related to reentry

Program/Grant Management

 Support the pursuit of funding 
opportunities and the development of 
new initiatives

 Coordinating array of reentry, 
realignment, and justice-related services

Interagency Coordination & Partner 
Collaborations

 Facilitating collaborative efforts around 
policy development, operational practices 
and supportive services; 

 Fostering capacity-building and 
partnership development 

Community Engagement

 Conducting public outreach, info sharing 
and community engagement

 Supporting legislative advocacy & 
community voice 

10



ORJ Past & Ongoing Projects

 Reentry Services Provision: Funding provided through AB 109 Public 
Realignment to local CBOs for the delivery of reentry services 

 Reentry  Strategic Plan Update:  What do we want the Reentry System to look 
like in 5 years?

 Game Plan for Success (formerly Pre-Release Planning Project):  Developing 
Individual Reentry Transition Plans prior to release & warm-handoffs from 
custody to community.

 Pre-Trial Services:  Providing evidenced-based evaluation and supervision 
services since March 2014, with a 62% success rate.

 Racial Justice Oversight Body:  Reducing disproportionate minority contact 
within the justice system. 

 Youth Justice Initiative (YJI):  Youth reentry planning & schoolwide prevention 
and intervention pilot projects; federally funded 3-year grant in final year.

11



ORJ Past & Ongoing Projects
 Central & East Ceasefire Program: Focused Deterrence on gang members; gun violence 

reduction.  

 Government Alliance on Race & Equity (GARE):  A national network of government 
agencies working to achieve racial equity and advance opportunities for all.

 Stepping Up:  A national initiative focused on reducing the number of people with 
mental illness in County Jail.

 Smart Reentry Grant:  Focusing services on Transition Aged Youth (TAY) population in 
Antioch (collaboration with Probation)

 CoCo LEAD +:  Prop. 47 funded, based in Antioch, to implement new arrest-diversion 
protocols and intensive, coordinated services for people with behavioral health issues, 
repeatedly arrested for an array of low-level, non-violent charges.  (Collaboration with 
Antioch Police, the Contra Costa Housing Authority, the County’s H3, Probation, and 
CBOs)

12



Safety = Community 
Transformation + 

Healing

Population 
specific & 

specialized 
services

Holistic, 
wraparound 

support 
centering 
families

Expanding 
access to 
reentry 

services to 
include all 

justice-
involved

Integration of 
health + 
housing 
services 

ORJ’s Role: 

Agent of system 
change & 
improvement that 
yield positive results 
and transformative 
impact for the 
communities we serve.

13



14

Questions?



OFFICE OF 
THE 

PUBLIC 
DEFENDER

Presentation to 
Measure X 

Community Advisory 
Board

July 7, 2021



Office of the Public Defender

We represent the most vulnerable members of the 
community as they face a crisis point in their lives

• Over 60% of persons detained pretrial in Contra 
Costa County are POC

• 50% of people in jail have behavioral health 
challenges

• 14% of our clients are undocumented persons

• All our clients live in poverty

As we defend people in court, we strive to address the 
root causes of their engagement with the criminal court 
system in a holistic manner



Measure X Dollars Can Transform Lives

We propose three Front End Advocacy Teams (FEATs) 
for people in jail to facilitate their safe release to the 
community and provide ongoing holistic support while 
their case progresses through the court system.   

The three teams will serve the three county judicial 
regions:  Central, East and West.



Front End Advocacy Team Composition

A Mitigation Specialist Investigator who will gather 
background information from family members and track down 
important documentation

A Social Worker to assess needs for support and services and 
to provide support to the client and the family as the case 
progresses

An Attorney to meet with the client in custody prior to the first 
court appearance and to advocate in court for release 

A Clerical Assistant and a Legal Assistant to support case 
management and provide administrative support 



   
 

1 
 

 
OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER MEASURE X PROPOSAL  

FRONT-END ADVOCACY TEAMS 

 
The Public Defender’s Office proposes an innovative program to reduce 

pretrial incarceration by connecting those who are recently arrested with legal 
advocacy teams.  These holistic, multi-disciplinary Front-End Advocacy 
Teams (FEATs) will include attorneys, social workers, investigators, paralegals, 
and clerical support.  This will allow those who cannot afford private attorneys 
to have access to legal representation, mitigation expertise, early investigation, 
and robust case management to connect them with community-based 
resources. This early intervention approach will reduce days in jail, increase 
connection to community-based resources, and increase stability for 
community members and families impacted by the criminal legal system.  We 
request funding for three teams, one to serve each of the three geographic 
judicial regions (Central, East and West).  The total cost will be roughly $2M, 
which includes potential funding for housing navigation and other reentry 
services. 

Justification 
 

The Contra Costa County Office of the Public Defender is the front-line 
defense for indigent persons who are cited, arrested, detained in custody and 
accused of criminal behavior in Contra Costa County.  We provide vigorous, 
client-centered advocacy to those we represent.  We believe justice can only be 
served when the most vulnerable among us are treated with the same 
attention, dignity, and respect as the most powerful.  We represent clients in a 
range of cases from low level misdemeanors to serious felonies. Most persons 
brought into the criminal legal system in Contra Costa are represented by 
Public Defenders.  Last year, approximately 15,447 cases were referred to our 
office for legal representation.     

In recent years the Office of the Public Defender has moved toward a 
practice that focuses on holistic defense.  The holistic defense model is an 
interdisciplinary model that looks beyond an individual’s immediate legal 
service needs and engages attorneys as well as social workers and non-lawyer 
specialists to assist with issues such as housing, mental health treatment, 



   
 

2 
 

immigration, and public benefits.  It also includes working with clients to 
alleviate the long-lasting consequences of an arrest or conviction by assisting 
with record clearing and sentence-reduction. This model differs from traditional 
public defense by addressing underlying issues that contribute to a client’s 
criminal legal system involvement. 1   Holistic defense has been found to reduce 
jail populations, reduce future criminal legal system involvement, and to 
improve case outcomes and efficiency.2   

 

Funding Gap – Why Measure X Funds are Necessary 

Public Defender services are a mandated function funded by the county.  
However, this funding mandate is limited to providing an attorney to defend the 
accused person once charges are filed against them in court. Holistic services, 
such as those described in this proposal, are not traditionally funded at the 
county level.  Rather, in order to provide the type of innovative interventions 
and support that can keep our clients from returning to the criminal system, 
we have had to look to grant funding and other avenues of support.  

This approach has proved successful.  In recent years, our office has 
launched innovative grant-funded programs designed to expand early access to 
attorneys for our misdemeanor clients who are not in jail.  These efforts have 
greatly reduced the number of persons who end up in jail due to a missed 
court date.  In 2016, we launched the Early Representation Program (EarlyRep) 
to help provide legal representation from the moment of law enforcement 
contact in misdemeanor cases. EarlyRep has been very successful at lowering 
the rate of failure to appear in court, reducing bench warrants, and providing 
legal assistance beyond traditional public defense.  In addition, last year we 
launched the Holistic Intervention Partnership (HIP), a public-private 
partnership that provides support for our misdemeanor clients by connecting 
them with funded housing and reentry services.   

With funding from Measure X, we hope to extend similar early advocacy 
and holistic support services to those held in custody in our jails.   

The Need for Front-End Advocacy for Persons in Custody 

The vast majority of those in Contra Costa’s jails are being held pretrial 
and have not yet been convicted or sentenced.3  In working with our clients, we 
often find that those with mental health issues and the unhoused do not get 

 
1 Cynthia G. Lee, Brian J. Ostrom, & Matthew Kleiman, The Measure of Good Lawyering: 
Evaluating Holistic Defense in Practice, 78 ALB. L. REV. 1215 (2014/2015). 
2 Dottie Carmichael, Nicholas Davis, Heather Caspers,& George Naufal, Indigent Defense 
Spending and Cost Containment in Texas. Public Policy Research Institute, Texas A&M 
University (2018). 
3 On July 7, 2020, 88.5% of persons in county jail were awaiting trial or sentencing according 
to CCSO data.   



   
 

3 
 

released pretrial or that they are in custody longer than needed in order to 
coordinate a release plan that the court finds suitable.  The delay between 
arrest and arraignment and the lack of social work support for those recently 
arrested impacts our office’s ability to quickly coordinate a robust release plan 
by the first court date.     

Research shows that even a few days in custody can have a significant 
destabilizing effect for those living on the margins and can result in a loss of 
employment and housing, mental health decompensation, and other serious 
negative outcomes.4  Legal outcomes are also negatively impacted by being kept 
in jail.  Persons kept in custody while their case moves through the court 
system plead guilty at higher rates, are more likely to be convicted, and face 
longer sentences than similarly charged persons who are released from 
custody.5  For these reasons, every effort must be made to advocate effectively 
and early for an individual’s release from custody. 

The time between arrest and the first court date is critical to this effort.  
In Contra Costa County, approximately 1830 individuals are booked into the 
county jail each month.6  After individuals are arrested, many are held in jail 
for 3-5 days before they see a judge.  When they first come before a judge, the 
court will decide whether an individual should be held in custody or released 
while their case is working its way through the system.  Our office, like most 
Public Defender’s Offices, cannot provide representation for individuals until 
they are brought into court, usually after individual has been in jail for several 
days.  During this critical period, law enforcement often continues their 
investigations and the District Attorney’s office reviews cases for filing, while 
the accused wait in custody without access to counsel or other resources.      

Representation for those accused of a crime should start right away for 
indigent persons who cannot afford to hire an attorney.  As with detained 
persons with means who can afford to hire a private attorney, public defender 
clients should have options for release immediately reviewed and mitigation 
workups begin at the time of arrest.   

To address this gap in services between arrest and first court date, 
the Public Defender’s Office proposes an innovative pilot program to 
reduce pretrial incarceration by connecting those who are recently 
arrested with legal advocacy teams.  These holistic, multi-disciplinary 
advocacy teams will include attorneys, social workers, investigators, 
paralegals, and clerical support.  This will allow those who cannot afford 

 
4 Subramanian, R. et. al. Incarceration’s Front Door: The Misuse of Jails in America. Vera 
Institute of Justice, (February 2015). 
5 California Policy Lab Policy Brief, June 2018, Alena Yarmosky, 
https://www.capolicylab.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Policy-Brief-Early-
Representation-Alena-Yarmosky.pdf.  
6 Monthly average jail bookings according to CCSO data for 2019.   

https://www.capolicylab.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Policy-Brief-Early-Representation-Alena-Yarmosky.pdf
https://www.capolicylab.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Policy-Brief-Early-Representation-Alena-Yarmosky.pdf


   
 

4 
 

private attorneys to have access to legal representation, mitigation 
expertise, early investigation, immigration resources and robust case 
management to connect them with community-based resources.  This 
early intervention approach will reduce days in jail, increase connection 
to community-based resources, and increase stability for community 
members and families who are impacted by the criminal legal system.  

Providing early access to counsel and advocacy support for the indigent 
in our jails has proven very effective at reducing pretrial incarceration in other 
jurisdictions.  For example, in 2017, San Francisco Public Defender’s Office 
launched a Pre-Trial Release Unit to provide legal advice and advocacy to 
arrestees between booking and arraignment.  This pilot program was found to 
have saved nearly a million dollars of taxpayer money and thousands of jail 
beds during its first five months of operation.7  Having pre-arraignment 
representation doubled the likelihood of release at arraignment, and 
substantially reduced the time that arrestees on parole were kept in custody.  

    The Model – Front-End Advocacy Teams 

This front-end representation effort will require a holistic, 
multidisciplinary team that will provide attorney representation by meeting 
with clients in the jail, contacting family members and support persons, 
working to gather mitigating information to encourage releases, preparing for 
bail hearings, and beginning critical early investigation in cases.    

Our front-end advocacy team will consist of the following members:  

Attorney Provides direct legal representation, prepares for bail and 
release hearings, connects with family members and support 
persons to explain the legal process. 

Social Worker Provides case management by conducting trauma-informed 
needs assessments and providing linkage to community-
based services.  This includes locating housing/programming 
options for release, coordinating a transition plan, and 
supporting clients during and after release.   

Investigator Conducts critical front-end investigation to gather 
background information and supporting documentation. Also 
ensures evidence is collected including any video footage and 
witness interviews that may help in determining the case 
outcome. 

Clerical and 
Legal 
Assistant 

Conduct intake interviews at the jail, locate and review client 
case records, and provide administrative support to the 
advocacy team.   

 
7 An Analysis of the San Francisco Public Defender’s Pre-Trial Release Unit, June 2018, Alena 
Yarmosky, http://public.sfpdr.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/05/The-Impact-of-
Early-Representation-PRU-Evaluation-Final-Report-5.11.18.pdf.  
 

http://public.sfpdr.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/05/The-Impact-of-Early-Representation-PRU-Evaluation-Final-Report-5.11.18.pdf
http://public.sfpdr.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/05/The-Impact-of-Early-Representation-PRU-Evaluation-Final-Report-5.11.18.pdf


   
 

5 
 

 

Some of the common tasks the team members will conduct will include: 

• Contacting family members and support persons 
• Legal advocacy regarding bail motions including gathering information to 

document a client’s inability to pay money bail 
• Locating appropriate community-based resources including residential 

placement, SUD programs, and mental health treatment   
• Gathering documentation regarding employment and assisting in 

communicating with employers 
• Assisting with applications for benefits or the reinstatement of benefits  

 

Impact on Racial Disparities in the Criminal System 

In Contra Costa County, as in much of the nation, there are higher arrest 
and pretrial detention rates for those who are Black and Latino.  Black 
residents of Contra Costa are held in pretrial detention at 7 times the rate of 
White residents and Latino residents are held in pretrial detention at 2.5 times 
the rate of Whites.8  Data collected by the county shows that persons in our 
jails awaiting trial are 40% Black, 20% Latinx, and 34% white  (the county 
population as a whole is 10% Black, 25% Latinx and 46% white).  For 
individuals held in pretrial confinement, this is often due to an inability to pay 
money bail required for release and to court decisions regarding bail.  With 
front-end advocacy, we will be able to directly reduce these disparities. 

 

Making a Difference for Persons with Mental Health and Substance Use 
Disorders 

Providing pre-arraignment advocacy teams will directly address the crisis 
of mentally ill individuals in our local jails by connecting individuals with 
mental health resources to provide crisis stabilization.  Front-end advocacy will 
allow for the early diversion of persons with mental health related cases from 
the county jails and away from our criminal legal system.  Our pretrial 
advocacy team will work to reduce the number of mentally ill individuals in our 
local jails and to find appropriate release options for those who suffer from a 
mental illness.   
 

Contra Costa County has committed to addressing the high rates of 
mental illness among individuals incarcerated locally by joining the Stepping 

 
8 Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations to the Contra Costa County 
Board of Supervisors, June 2018, at page 7. 



   
 

6 
 

Up Initiative.  The Stepping Up Initiative has explored the problem of mentally 
ill individuals in our county jails and frames it as follows:  

“Approximately 2 million times each year, people who have serious 
mental illnesses are admitted to jails across the nation. Almost three-
quarters of these adults also have drug and alcohol use problems. Once 
incarcerated, individuals with mental illnesses tend to stay longer in jail 
and upon release are at a higher risk of returning to incarceration than 
those without these illnesses. 

The human toll of this problem—and its cost to taxpayers—is staggering. 
Jails spend two to three times more money on adults with mental 
illnesses that require intervention than on those without those needs, yet 
often do not see improvements to public safety or these individuals’ 
health. Although counties have made tremendous efforts to address this 
problem, they are often thwarted by significant obstacles, including 
operating with minimal resources and needing better coordination 
between criminal justice, mental health, substance use treatment, and 
other agencies.  Without change, large numbers of people with mental 
illnesses will continue to cycle through the criminal justice system, often 
resulting in tragic outcomes for these individuals and their families, 
missed opportunities for connections to treatment, inefficient use of 
funding, and a failure to improve public safety.” 9 

According to detention mental health reporting, roughly 50% of 
individuals incarcerated in Contra Costa County are living with mental health 
challenges and/or substance use disorders.  Indeed, many of those in our jails 
are in custody due to a mental health break or because of a substance use 
disorder.  Our front-end advocacy teams will work to connect these persons 
with treatment options and locate placements in substance use disorder or 
dual diagnosis programs.  Our team will work to coordinate transportation to 
programs upon release and ensure transitions from jail to community are 
properly handled.   

Specifically, the front-end advocacy team will:  
 

• Connect clients in custody with community mental health case managers 
and outpatient clinics.   

• Leverage any existing services our clients already have in place and 
engage service providers into the current release planning.   

• Help encourage a continuity of mental health treatment and keep 
existing providers connected to their patients.  For those who are not 
connected with community-based services, we will work to connect them 
with community-based resources upon release.   

 
9 https://stepuptogether.org/the-problem  

https://stepuptogether.org/the-problem


   
 

7 
 

• Connect clients with benefits, reinstate any existing benefits, and 
leverage any private insurance plans clients are eligible for.   

• Ensure that any prescribed medication is provided for those who are 
released and that they are released with a future appointment with a 
community mental health provider.    

• Negotiate with the DA’s office and provide mitigating information much 
closer to the time of arrest to divert persons out of the system before a 
criminal charge is filed.  

• Expedite the screening for mental health diversion, which now takes 2-3 
months.  

• Identify and begin to work with those who are potentially incompetent to 
stand trial earlier in the process.    
 

Making a Difference for Persons Facing Immigration Consequences 

Approximately 14% of Contra Costa Public Defender clients are non-
citizens.10  For these individuals time is of the essence in getting access to 
immigrant legal services and deportation defense attorneys.  We will connect 
these clients and their families from the point of arrest with legal services for 
immigrants and other community-based resources through Stand Together 
Contra Costa (STCC).   

  

Conclusion 
A countywide investment in front-end, holistic advocacy for newly 

incarcerated persons will further the goals of Measure X in multiple ways.  The 
population targeted for front-end advocacy are the most vulnerable members of 
our community: persons of color, persons living in poverty and persons living 
with mental health challenges and substance use disorders.  The focus on a 
holistic approach to support detained persons, at the earliest possible point of 
intervention, will enhance public safety by fostering a connection to services 
and community support for those in our jails and their families.  This early 
support can greatly improve the chances that an individual will come out of the 
process with the hope of permanently avoiding a return to custody.  The $2M 
requested is a small ask with the potential for radically transforming our 
approach to legal advocacy and saving hundreds of lives.   

 
10 Based on internal Public Defender’s Office data from 2019.  



capolicylab.org  1 
  

Ta uni 
  

POLICY BRIEF 
June 2018 

 
Alena Yarmosky 

 

 

The Impact of Early Representation: An Analysis of the 
San Francisco Public Defender’s Pre-Trial Release Unit 

 

In October 2017, the San Francisco Public Defender’s Office piloted the Pre-Trial Release Unit (PRU) to 
enhance access to pre-arraignment legal representation for indigent arrestees. Using data provided by the 
Office, this study finds the pilot program doubled the likelihood of release at arraignment – from 14% to 28% –  
for arrestees who received arrest-responsive interventions from the PRU. The intervention is projected to 
save approximately 11,200 jail bed-days per year at an annual cost of approximately $335,000. i Furthermore, 
the PRU’s efforts to advocate for the dismissal of parole holds reduced pre-trial incarceration by 44%, or an 
average of 9.5 days, among eligible parolees who were held in custody for violation of their parole orders.   

Context 
When individuals are arrested, they are often held 
in jail until their arraignment hearing (the first 
time a defendant is brought before a judge). At 
arraignment, the court decides whether an 
individual should be held in custody or released 
pre-trial, with or without court supervision. Public 
defenders traditionally provide representation for 
indigent defendants starting at arraignment. 

However, the pre-arraignment period is critical 
for a number of reasons: bail is set, formal 
charges are filed, and case investigation begins. 
Individuals who can afford a private attorney 
immediately after booking have access to 
services that may increase the likelihood that 
they will be released from jail prior to 
arraignment, or that their charges will be 
dropped altogether. Indigent arrestees – who are 
not provided a public defender until the 
arraignment hearing – do not receive these 
benefits.  

Pre-trial release can have tremendous impact on 
defendants’ lives and later case proceedings. 
Defendants who are incarcerated pre-trial plead 
guilty at higher rates, are more likely to be 
convicted, and face longer sentences than 
similarly-situated releasees.ii Researchers have 
found that even a relatively short period in jail 
pre-trial – as few as two days – correlates with 
negative outcomes for defendants and for public 
safety when compared to those defendants 
released within 24 hours.iii 
 

Overview of the PRU 
Against this backdrop, the San Francisco Public 
Defender’s Office began providing pre-
arraignment representation to a subset of 
criminal defendants in October 2017, in a program 
called the Pre-Trial Release Unit (PRU). San 
Francisco is among the first counties in the 
United States to provide pre-arraignment 
representation to indigent defendants.iv  



capolicylab.org  2 
  

In addition to the PRU, San Francisco has enacted 
other important policy and programmatic 
changes to make pre-trial release more equitable. 
For example, the San Francisco Pretrial Diversion 
Project supports pre-trial release through various 
programs. In 2016, San Francisco adopted the 
Public Safety Assessment (PSA), which provides 
judges with an evidence-based risk score to 
inform release decisions and an alternative to 
money bail. Initial analysis by participating 
agencies suggests that the PSA has led to a 
decrease in the number of pre-trial detainees and 
the frequency of pre-trial detention.v  

One rationale motivating these multiple 
initiatives is San Francisco’s effort to avoid the 
construction of a new jail by reducing the overall 
county jail population by 83,0202 jail bed-days per 
year.vi  The county was further motivated to 
establish the PRU as it believed that providing 
pre-arraignment representation could reduce 
wealth-based inequities in access to justice.  

The PRU provides two primary interventions. 
Clients arrested on new criminal activity may 
receive “arrest-responsive” interventions 
designed to help build their case, which include 
client interviews, case investigation, notification 
of a prior attorney of record, family/friend 
contacts, and recruitment of community 
members to attend arraignment.  

The PRU also provides “parole advocacy” when 
the primary reason behind the detention is 
violation of one’s parole orders. Parole advocacy 
involves PRU staff directly contacting agents to 
advocate for dismissal of clients’ parole holds.  

During our five-month study period, the PRU 
provided services to a subset of indigent 
defendants (1,024 unique cases). Two attorneys 
and one investigator provided PRU arrest-
responsive services in an average of 42 cases per 
week. The cost of the program was $335,000 for 
the first year.  Given resource limitations, PRU 
staff prioritized defendants with more serious 
booking charges and more extensive criminal 
histories, when possible. Parole advocacy was 

provided unprioritized to every defendant for 
which unit staff had time (231 out of 308 eligible 
parolees, or 75 percent of cases). Figure 1 
provides a breakdown of interventions provided.  
 

Figure 1: PRU Services, by Intervention Typevii 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Methodology 
To quantitatively assess the impact of the PRU on 
length of pre-trial incarceration, we generated a 
dataset of booking, charge, and demographic 
information for all arrestees booked into county 
jail during our study period (October 2, 2017 - 
February 28, 2018) from the Public Defender’s 
GIDEON case management system. We then 
merged this booking data with PRU treatment 
information, coded by intervention type.  

To compare outcomes for those who received 
PRU services to those who did not, we used a 
propensity score matching approach to minimize 
differences between treated and non-treated 
arrestees. The propensity score indicates the 
likelihood that a client receives arrest-responsive 
PRU treatment given: age, race, gender, severity 
of booking charge, out-of-county warrants, 
parole or probation holds, and criminal history. 
We then used a “nearest neighbor” matching 
technique to match clients treated by the PRU 
with similarly-scored defendants who did not 
receive treatment.  

Because there was little selection bias associated 
with parole advocacy, we used a regression 



capolicylab.org 3 

model to measure impact of parole advocacy on 
eligible parolees’ length of incarceration.viii   

Findings 
Our findings suggest that the PRU has 
demonstrated promising initial success in 
decreasing the length of pre-trial detention. 

Specifically, our analysis reveals that individuals 
who receive arrest-responsive services are twice 
as likely to be released at arraignment when 
compared with similarly situated, non-treated 
arrestees. Similar, not-treated arrestees are 
released at arraignment 14 percent of the time, 
compared to a 28 percent rate for treated 
arrestees. Though results were consistent in 
several robustness tests, confirmation of this 
result via randomized trial would strengthen the 
causal nature of the finding.   

Interviews with the Public Defender’s Office 
suggest this result may be due to attorneys’ 
increased ability to argue for release at 
arraignment, including increased access to client 
information, early case investigation, and the 
presence of community members at arraignment. 

Using a rough extrapolation, we estimate that 
the PRU’s arrest-responsive treatment saved 

i Annual cost retrieved from: Office of the Controller, City & 
County of San Francisco. (2018). Evaluation of Pilot 
Programs Funded to Reduce the Jail Population.  
ii Dobbie, W. et. al. (2018). The Effects of Pre-Trial Detention 
on Conviction, Future Crime, and Employment: Evidence 
from Randomly Assigned Judges. American Economic 
Review, 108(2), 201-240. doi:10.1257/aer.20161503 
iii Subramanian, R. et. al. Incarceration’s Front Door: The 
Misuse of Jails in America. Vera Institute of Justice, 
(February 2015).  

approximately 4,689 jail bed-days during its initial 
5 months of operation or an average of 11,253 jail 
bed-days saved per year.  

Finally, we found that parole advocacy as an 
independent intervention significantly reduced 
the length of incarceration. Among eligible 
parolees, parole advocacy provided by the PRU 
reduced the average length of pre-trial 
incarceration by 44%, or 230 hours (approx. 9.5 
days). Interviews also suggested that parole 
advocacy increases the speed at which parole 
holds are lifted and reduces the number of parole 
petitions filed.  

These promising findings suggest that other 
jurisdictions may wish to experiment with early 
representation. We suspect that the impact of 
early representation may be even larger in a 
jurisdiction that has not undertaken extensive 
efforts to reduce pre-trial detention.  

Further Research 
Our findings indicate that pre-arraignment 
representation significantly impacts the 
likelihood of release at arraignment. We 
recommend that the Public Defender’s Office 
repeat this analysis at the PRU’s 18-month mark 
to confirm our findings with a larger sample size. 

iv Miami-Dade County, FL began providing early 
representation in 2013.  
v CPL is partnering with the San Francisco Sheriff’s 
Department to analyze the PSA’s effect on pre-trial release. 
vi Work Group to Re-envision the Jail Replacement Project. 
(2017). Final Report. 
vii The category “all other” includes the following 
interventions: outside contacts (91 cases), in-person 
arraignment recruitment (28 cases), in jail referrals (19 
cases), and bail advocacy (4 cases). 

100% Release at arraignment for those receiving 
arrest-responsive services 

(significant with 99.9% confidence) 

44% Length of pre-trial incarceration for clients 
receiving parole advocacy services  
(significant with 97.5% confidence) 

The California Policy Lab builds better lives through 
data-driven policy.  We are a project of the University of 
California, with sites at the Berkeley and Los Angeles 
campuses.  

This research publication reflects the views of the 
author and not necessarily the views of our funders, 
our staff, our advisory board, the Regents of the 
University of California, or the San Francisco Public 
Defender’s Office.  



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 1 

Final Report to Board of Supervisors 

Introduction 

Overview of Racial Justice Task Force 

On April 12, 2016 the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors (Board) unanimously voted to create the 

Racial Justice Task Force (RJTF), prompted in large part by the activism and advocacy of the Contra Costa 

County Racial Justice Coalition. Tasked with building on the County’s 2008 report and recommendations, 

“Disproportionate Minority Contact: Reducing Disparities in Contra Costa County,” the 17-member body 

was designed to represent a range of local stakeholders, including County criminal and juvenile justice 

agencies, County health and behavioral health, community-based organizations, local school districts and 

law enforcement agencies, and the community at large. In February 2017, Resource Development 

Associates (RDA) was hired to provide Task Force facilitation and data analysis services and on April 5, 

2017, the RJTF convened for the first time. 

The RJTF met monthly from April 2017 through June 2018 to review data on local criminal and juvenile 

justice systems and processes, discuss best practices and emerging practices for addressing racial 

disparities in those systems and processes, and develop recommendations for action to address those 

disparities. Two ad hoc subcommittees were also convened to foster community engagement and plan 

for two series of community forums. In November 2017, the RJTF hosted 5 community forums to solicit 

residents’ input on priority areas for the Task Force to focus on and in May 2018, the RJTF hosted 3 

additional forums to solicit input on preliminary recommendations. On June 6, 2018, the Task Force met 

for the last time to vote on recommendations to present to the Board of Supervisors.   

The purpose of this memo is to present those recommendations to the Board and the larger body of local 

stakeholders in order to move forward their adoptions and implementation. This memo begins with a 

brief discussion of the considerations taken into account by the RJTF as it developed these 

recommendations, followed by an overview of the racial disparities in Contra Costa County, and then a 

presentation of recommendations. Appendices provide more information on the Task Force voting 

process, including a breakdown of how each RJTF member voted on each recommendation, as well as 

additional data on disparities in local criminal and juvenile justice systems.  

Considerations in RJTF Areas of Focus and Recommendations 

The criminal and juvenile justice systems are comprised of a wide array of agencies and organizations that 

have different statutory responsibilities and authority and operate in different jurisdictions (Figure 1). As 

the RJTF began its work, the group had to grapple with two key considerations related to the scope of the 

justice system and of the Task Force itself: 1) whether to focus only on agencies and processes under 

County jurisdiction and authority, and 2) how to prioritize breadth, and make recommendations across 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 2 

the justice system, or depth, and make a smaller number of recommendations but with greater specificity 

and readiness for implementation.  

In terms of the former, RJTF members quickly agreed that despite the body having been convened to 

make recommendations for County action, it was impossible to understand disparities in County justice 

processes without first examining adults’ and youths’ entry into these processes, namely arrests and other 

issues related to local law enforcement. Therefore, both data and recommendations below are inclusive 

of criminal justice system agencies that operate within Contra Costa County but do not report to the 

Board, including local law enforcement agencies and the Superior Court. There are also recommendations 

for the school districts that operate within the County.  

Figure 1. Overview of Criminal and Juvenile Justice System Process 

 

In addition to taking a more expansive approach in deciding which justice system agencies and processes 

to include under its purview, the RJTF also agreed to take a broad focus, looking at disparities across 

criminal and juvenile justice processes and putting forth an extensive set of recommendations to address 

all of them, rather than a narrower focus on any one process or area of focus. As a consequence, the 

recommendations made here should be viewed as a starting point as part of a longer implementation 

process. 

The Basic Criminal & 

Juvenile Justice System Process 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 3 

In addition to the two considerations described above, as the RJTF engaged in the process of developing 

recommendations, one other key decision point regularly emerged for consideration: whether and how 

much to focus on feasibility—and affordability—in making recommendations to the Board. Ultimately, 

the majority of RJTF members felt strongly that the task of this body was to review data and make 

recommendations based on observed disparities; RJTF members did not want the scope of these 

recommendations to be constrained by “likely” County action, agreeing that if a recommendation was 

important, the Task Force should make it rather than pre-determining what the County might ultimately 

implement.  

Key Findings: Overview of Racial Disparities in Contra Costa County 

Criminal and Juvenile Justice Systems and Processes  

Obtaining and examining data on racial disparities within the justice system was a critical step in the RJTF’s 

process and allowed the Task Force to identify key junctures where disparities exist in order to target 

interventions. A number of data limitations, tied to both data availability and data access, meant that the 

RJTF was not able to examine all data points of interest, driving a number of recommendations related to 

data collection and reporting. The lack of available data was a consistent challenge throughout this 

process, and key challenges included: 

 Inconsistent data collection across the many local law enforcement agencies (LEAs) in Contra 

Costa County meant that the RJTF was not able to obtain up-to-date, racially specific data about 

law enforcement processes and practices; different LEA collect different data elements, have 

different policies and procedures around the dissemination of data collected, and have varying 

internal capacity for data management and analysis; 

 Concerns about protecting youth’s confidentiality limited the Court’s willingness to make juvenile 

delinquency court data available; and 

 California Judicial Council guidance to the Contra Costa County Court Executive Officer 

discouraged the Court from sharing individual-level criminal court data. 

Because of these challenges, the RJTF had limited ability to obtain he type of individual-level data 

necessary to track racial disparities across different points in the criminal or juvenile justice process and 

relied largely on aggregate data and/or data available through public data sources. Data were collected 

from the State of California Department of Justice (DOJ) Criminal Justice Statistics Center (CJSC), the 

Contra Costa County Probation Department, the Contra Costa County Superior Court, the Contra Costa 

County Sheriff’s Office, and the Contra Costa County Racial Justice Coalition.  Because different data are 

available from different sources at different points in time, these data span from 2013 through 2017. 

Based on the data that was available, the following findings emerged: 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 4 

Law Enforcement Disparities  

Finding 1. Higher arrest rates for Black youth and adults across Contra Costa County drive disparities in 

justice system involvement and outcomes. 

According to data from the State of California DOJ CJSC, in both 2013 and 2014, Blacks were more likely 

to be arrested than individuals from any other racial/ethnic group in every city except one in Contra Costa 

County. While the specific rate of the disparity varied by city the disparity tended to be higher in cities 

with smaller black populations (see Appendix B for more information). Across the County, Black adults 

were more than 3 times more likely to be arrested than adults from any other racial/ethnic group, and 

Black youth were more than 7 times more likely to be arrested than youth from any other racial/ethnic 

group.  

Figure 2. Contra Costa County, 2014 Adult Arrests per 1,000 

 

 

Figure 3. Contra Costa County, 2014 Juvenile Arrests per 1,000 

 

 

18
20

17

2

5 5
7

0

3 4

7

0
2 2 2

0
0

5

10

15

20

25

Violent Property Drug Sex

A
rr

es
t 

R
at

e
   

 

Black Latino White Other

12

7

2 11 1 1 01 1 1 00 0 0 0
0

5

10

15

20

25

Violent Property Drug Sex

A
rr

es
t 

R
at

e

Black Latino White Other

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 5 

Finding 2. While this finding is consistent across cities in the County, differences in the offenses with 

the greatest disparities indicates that different local contexts drive these disparities. 

Despite the clear and consistent trend in Blacks being arrested more than any other racial/ethnic group, 

2013 and 2014 DOJ data that there are notable differences in the rate of this disparity, as well as in the 

specific offenses for which Black residents are disproportionately arrested. For example, some cities show 

the greatest rate of disparity for felony offenses, while others show greater disparities for misdemeanors; 

similarly, some cities show greater disparities for violent offenses, while others show greater disparities 

for property or drug crime. What these data make clear is that different local patterns and practices drive 

these disparities.  

This finding was also supported by qualitative data collection, which showed that the practices related to 

routing people away from formal criminal or juvenile justice processing—known ask “diversion”—vary  

greatly across Contra Costa County. Different cities have different approaches to both formal and informal 

diversion, including different offenses for which they are willing to divert people and differences in 

whether and to what extent individuals who are arrested may be diverted to local organizations to address 

underlying issues that may lead to criminal or delinquent behavior and, subsequently, arrests.  

Juvenile Justice Disparities 

Finding 3. Black youth in Contra Costa County were much more likely than Latino and White youth to 

be referred to Probation. 

Unsurprisingly given the disproportionate rate at which Black you are arrested, data from the Contra Costa 

County Probation Department indicate that Black youth are more likely to be referred to Probation for 

possible further delinquency system processing. According to data from the Probation Department, in 

2014 and 2015, Black youth were between 9-11 times more likely to be referred to Probation than White 

youth and 5-6 times more likely to be referred than Latino youth. Latino youth were also approximately 

twice as likely to be referred to Probation as White youth. As noted above, the RJTF was not able to obtain 

individual-level data on youth arrests or referrals, so we could not determine whether or not Black youth 

were more likely to be referred for similar offenses.  

Finding 4. Black and Latino youth were more likely than White youth to be detained prior to 

adjudication. 

Among youth who were referred to the Probation Department, both Black and Latino youth were more 

likely to be detained in the County’s Juvenile Hall, based on Probation data from 2014 and 2015. Both 

Black and Latino youth were 50% more likely to be detained than White youth after being referred to 

Probation and, because Black youth are already overrepresented in youth who are arrested and referred 

to Probation, Black youth who live in Contra Costa County are detained in Juvenile Hall at 14-16 times the 

rate of White youth. Again, data limitations limited the RJTF’s ability to compare the specific 

circumstances under which different youth were detained.   

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 6 

Finding 5. In 2014, Black youth were sent to secure confinement at a higher rate than all other races; 

relative to being a ward of the Court, Hispanic youth were securely confined at a higher rate.   

Among youth who are adjudicated delinquent, Black and Latino youth are more likely to receive a 

disposition that involved secure confinement, including either the Orin Allen Youth Rehabilitation Facility 

(“the Ranch”) or the California Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ).  According to Probation data from 

2014 and 2015, Black youth were 50% to 200% more likely to be sent to secure conferment and Latino 

youth were 80% to 300% more likely than Whites; because of the cumulative disparities across the 

juvenile justice system, Black youth in Contra Costa County are confined 16-14 times often as White youth.  

Criminal Justice Disparities 

Finding 6. In 2014 and 2015, a greater proportion of cases with Latino or Black defendants had charge 

enhancements than cases with White defendants. 

Sentencing enhancements are additional charges 

within the California Penal Code that allow for 

additional prison time if an underlying fact or 

condition is met. There are two kinds of 

enhancements that can increase the penalties for 

individuals who are convicted of a criminal offense, 

“charge enhancements” and “person 

enhancements.” Charge enhancements can occur 

when something about the way a crime is 

committed make the offense eligible for a more 

serious sentence that it would usually be, for 

example if someone is convicted of possessing or 

distributing drugs in a “drug free zone,” around a 

school or other designated area. Data from the 

Contra Costa County Superior Court for 2015 and 

2016 show that a greater proportion of Black and 

Latino defendants have charge enhancements, meaning that they are likely receiving more serious 

penalties for comparable offenses as White defendants.  

Finding 7. In 2014 and 2015, a greater proportion of Black defendants had person enhancements than 

either Latino or White defendants. 

An individual can also be eligible for a more serious sentence if he or she has a prior criminal history via 

“person enhancements,” such as three strikes laws and other “habitual offender” laws. Data from the 

Contra Costa County Superior Court for 2015 and 2016 show that a greater proportion of Black defendants 

have person enhancements than White defendants, meaning that they are likely receiving more serious 

penalties for comparable offenses as White defendants. Although the data available to the RJTF did not 

allow us to compare the outcomes of defendants of different race/ethnicity with the same charges, this 

17%
23%22%

28%28% 31%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2014 2015

Figure 4. Black and Latino defendants are more 

likely to have charge enhancements than Whites 

White         Black            Latino 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 7 

pattern is nonetheless important in light of a growing body of research showing that both kinds of 

enhancements are a major driver of disparities in imprisonment.i  In particular, research has shown that 

Blacks are more likely to live in “drug free zones,” increasing the likelihood that they will be eligible for 

place-based enhancements; in addition, higher overall context with law enforcement and the criminal 

justice system has cumulative effects whereby Black defendants are more impacted by habitual offender 

laws. ii iii  

Finding 8. From 2015 to 2017, Black adults in Contra Costa County were more likely than Latino or White 

adults to be detained pre-trial. 

Data from the Contra Costa County 

Sheriff’s Office showed that in 2016 

and 2017, Black and Latino 

defendants were disproportionately 

likely to be detained pretrial than 

White defendants. The reasons for 

this included both court decisions 

related to bail and release as well as 

defendants’ ability to pay bail and 

obtain release.  

Given the cumulative disparities 

across criminal justice processes, 

Black residents of Contra Costa 

County are held in pretrial detention 

at almost 7 times the rate of White 

residents; Latino residents are held in pretrial detention at 2.5 times the rate of Whites.  

Finding 9. Changes to County jury selection processes have increased disparities in who services on 

juries in Contra Costa County.  

Starting in 2011, Contra Costa County Superior Court made changes to the jury selection process and 

misdemeanor trial locations. Whereas previously, jurors for misdemeanor trials had been selected 

regionally to serve on trials in East, West and Central county regions, so that the jury pool was 

representative of the region in which an alleged crime occurred, beginning in 2011, the Court centralized 

the trials to occur at the Martinez Courthouse and began selecting jurors from a countywide pool. In 

tandem, these processes appear to have resulted in juries that are more White and less representative of 

the overall County population.   

516 564
404 532

341 381

144
134

100 92
78

102

432
530

372 397
284

309

438
679

175 267
304

474

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Detention Non-detention- Bail
Non-detention- OR Non-detention- Letter to appear

2016       2017                        2016       2017                         2016         2017 

Figure 5. Black defendants are most likely to be detained pretrial 

    White                  Black                Latino 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 8 

Recommendations 

Oversight and Accountability 

While the Contra Costa County RJTF has made critical progress in developing a broad set of 

recommendations for addressing racial disparities in the County’s criminal and juvenile justice systems, 

there is much work to be done to implement these recommendations and assess their efficacy. Moreover, 

it is critical to the RJTF that this be done transparently and with ongoing input from a diverse array of 

stakeholders.  

1) The Racial Justice Task Force recommends that the Board of Supervisors appoint a Racial Justice 

Oversight Body (RJOB) to oversee the implementation of the recommendations made by the Task 

Force, as specified by the Board of Supervisors.  The RJOB would meet on a quarterly basis and 

report to the Board on an annual basis.  The RJOB shall be made up of the following members: 

1. A representative from the Superior Court, as a non-voting member 

2. The Sheriff or his designee 

3. The Chief Probation Officer or his designee 

4. The Public Defender or her designee 

5. The District Attorney or her designee 

6. A representative from a local law enforcement agency, nominated by the Contra Costa 

County Police Chiefs’ Association 

7. A representative from the Contra Costa County Board of Education 

8. A representative from Contra Costa County Health Services  

9. Eight community-based representatives, that include at a minimum: 

a. Two members of the Racial Justice Coalition,  

b. Two individuals with prior personal criminal or juvenile justice system 

involvement,  

c. Three representatives from community-based organizations that work with 

individuals in the justice system, including at least one person who works 

directly with youth 

d. One representative from a faith-based organization  

Any individual may meet more than one of these qualifications. 

The RJTF further recommends that the work of this body be staffed by the County Office of 

Reentry and Justice, and that funds for facilitation be allocated through an RFP process. 

1) a. The RJOB should or a subcommittee thereof should review local criminal and juvenile justice data 

in order to identify and report on racial disparities. This will include a review of use-of-force data, 

as available from the California Department of Justice’s Open Justice data.   

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 9 

Diversion 

Diversion is a broad umbrella term that refers to the process of diverting individuals from formal criminal 

or delinquent processes following an encounter with law enforcement. Informal diversion may include 

the decision by a law enforcement officer not to arrest someone from criminal or delinquent behavior or, 

after arresting someone, choosing not to refer the person onto the District Attorney or Probation 

Department. Formal diversion generally involves linking individuals to services, supports, and 

opportunities that can help them address underlying issues that may lead to criminal or delinquent 

behavior. By helping people avoid formal justice system processing, diversion can be a critical vehicle for 

reducing racial disparities in the justice system. iv v 

While diversion programs and practices redirect contact with the justice system, local jurisdictions must 

be aware that racial disparities can exist in this decision point and further exacerbate racial disparities if 

decision-making is not carefully monitored. In addition, because Blacks are so much more likely to have 

contact with the justice system and are often charged with more serious offenses than individuals from 

other racial/ethnic groups, diversion efforts that exclude people with prior justice system contact and/or 

are only limited to the most minor offenses often exacerbate racial disparities. Effective diversion 

programs are targeted, collaborative, and data driven. 

Diversion is currently implemented inconsistently across Contra Costa County. May local law enforcement 

agencies have their own diversion approaches and programs, but neither diversionary offenses nor 

diversion programs/processes are standardized across the county.  At the County level, the District 

Attorney’s Office has some limited diversion programs, such as the Bad Check Diversion Restitution 

program, and the Probation Department informally diverts youth whose offense are not determined 

appropriate for formal processing.  

2) With the goal of reducing racial disparities in the Contra Costa County criminal justice system, 

form a committee to recommend countywide criteria and protocols for formal and informal 

diversion.  The recommendations shall be evidence-based and follow established best practices. 

In considering what criteria and protocols to recommend, the committee shall 

1. Develop separate recommendations for adult and juvenile populations. 

2. Strive to ensure the broadest possible pool of eligible participants. 

3. Strive to ensure that prior criminal justice involvement does not bar a person’s eligibility 

for diversion. 

4. Ensure that the inability to pay for the costs of diversion will not prohibit participation. 

5. Recommend, as appropriate, partnerships between law enforcement agencies and 

community-based organizations to provide diversion services and oversight. 

This committee may be a subgroup of the Racial Justice Oversight Body (RJOB) and will report to 

the RJOB. 

 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 10 

3) Expand the use of crisis intervention teams, mobile crisis teams, and behavioral health assessment 

teams so they are available across the County.  

4) Local law enforcement agencies shall issue citations and establish non-enforcement diversion 

programs as an alternative to arrests. 

Data 

Thorough data collection and use are essential to monitoring and tracking whether agencies are producing 

equitable outcomes across race and ethnicity, and efforts to address bias and disproportionate minority 

contact throughout justice systems are succeeding. 

Data collection, analysis and reporting disaggregated by race, ethnicity, geography and offense will give 

stakeholders visibility on efficacy and implementation fidelity of interventions, where disparities persist, 

whether progress to reduce disparities is being made, and whether the strategies are properly 

implemented. Ultimately, data driven processes increase transparency and legitimacy to broader 

stakeholders about the initiatives to reduce disparities in the county. 

Although County criminal justice system agencies and local law enforcement agencies in Contra Costa 

County generally collect data about individual contact with different criminal or juvenile justice systems, 

there has been no systematic countywide effort to standardize what data are collected, define how race 

is identified and tracked across different systems, or agree on reporting processes. In addition, although 

the County has used AB 109 funds to invest in client data management systems for several public agencies, 

these agencies tend to lack to the capacity to extract and analyze these data on a regular basis.  

5) All Contra Costa County criminal justice agencies  and local law enforcement agencies shall 

collect individual-level data on all individual encounters with criminal and juvenile justice 

systems and processes. In so doing, they should consult best practices to balance data needs 

with confidentiality regulations. 

a. Office of Reentry and Justice shall publish race-specific data online on all of the above to 

create greater transparency and accountability of the County criminal justice agencies 

and local enforcement agencies. 

b. All Contra Costa County criminal justice agencies and local law enforcement agencies shall 

improve capacity for data collection and analysis including expanding staff with data 

analysis capabilities. 

c. Office of Reentry and Justice shall support analysis of interventions implemented 

through the RJTF to measure efficacy and assess impact on racial disparities. 

 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 11 

County Support for Local Agencies 

As Figure 1. Overview of Criminal and Juvenile Justice System Process on page 2 makes clear, county-level 

criminal and juvenile justice agencies are fundamentally connected to and impacted by the policies and 

practices of non-county agencies. In particular, city-level law enforcement practices necessarily determine 

who ends up in County-level justice system agencies. In addition, school district approaches to school 

discipline have a direct relationship with whether or not youth are referred to county juvenile justice 

systems. Thus, while the RJTF was convened by the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors to make 

recommendations for County processes, the following recommendations are based on addressing the 

inherent interconnectedness of County and more local processes.  

6) The County shall work with local enforcement agencies to seek funds that support the integration 

of de-escalation and behavioral health intervention trainings into local enforcement agency 

regional academy and/or department orientations. 

a. The County shall work with local enforcement agencies to seek funds to implement 

improved procedural justice practices and implicit bias training. 

i. Identify funding for procedural justice training utilizing the train the trainer 

model. 

ii. Work with the Chief’s Association to create a forum to share information and 

strengthen promising practices around procedural justice and implicit bias 

trainings. 

7) In addition, local enforcement agencies in Contra Costa County should: 

i. Ensure inclusion of de-escalation and behavioral health intervention trainings 

into local enforcement agency regional academy and/or department orientations 

ii. Provide procedural justice and implicit bias training to all staff 

8) The County Office of Education shall provide resources to incentivize school districts to explore, 

evaluate, implement or expand existing non-punitive discipline practices, such as Positive 

Behavioral Interventions Support (PBIS) and Restorative Justice (RJ) practices. 

i. Identify funding for continuous training and technical assistance to all schools in 

the County to support implementation of PBIS and Restorative Justice, as well as 

data collection to assess implementation and impact. 

9) The County Office of Education shall work with school districts to provide behavioral health 

services such as counseling, peer support, and early intervention services for youth presenting 

signs of emotional, mental, and/or behavioral distress. 

Community Engagement and Services 

Collaboration and structured partnerships with the community is essential. The justice system needs to 

recognize community based organizations and faith-based organizations as legitimate partners in 

reducing disparities. The community brings urgency, insight and creative solutions that can acutely reduce 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 12 

disparities and bring about a lasting change especially around reintegration and serving as alternatives to 

justice involvement. 

Reentry programming in Contra Costa County is provided regionally using AB 109 funding, with the 

Reentry Success Center serving West County and HealthRIGHT360 delivering services under the Central-

East Network of Services, also known as The Network.  The Reentry Success Center provides services to 

individuals and families impacted by incarceration, helping to plan critical next steps after contact with 

police or courts.  In addition, AB 109 funding supports a range of services and supports for any individual 

with a history of justice system involvement.  

The County is also in the process of revising its reentry strategic plan through a community-engagement 

and planning process.     

10) County criminal justice agencies shall establish formal partnerships with community-based 

organizations to provide greater capacity for 

i. diversion,  

ii. reentry programs,  

iii. alternatives to detention  

iv. pretrial services   

v. in custody programming 

All community-based organizations receiving funding from the County shall be evaluated for 

efficacy and effectiveness of program goals and objectives to ensure populations are 

appropriately served. Community input shall be an integral part of this process. 

11) Establish a community capacity fund to build the capacity of community-based organizations – 

especially those staffed by formerly incarcerated individuals – to contract with the County and 

provide services to reentry clients. 

12) The County and/or RJOB shall collaborate with the Community Corrections Partnership- Executive 

Committee (CCP-EC) to consider increasing realignment funding for community services. 

Practices Related to Trial and Adjudication Processes 

There are a number of practices that agencies involved in the adjudication process – courts, prosecution, 

and defense – can implement to reduce racial disparities in the justice system. For the Court, using a jury 

pool that is as representative as possible to the local population increases the likelihood that individuals 

are judged by a jury of their peers. District Attorney’s Offices wield a great deal of power through their 

ability to decide whether and how to charge an individual with a criminal offense, as well as whether to 

request money bail or a release on recognizance. Public Defenders Offices, as the public agency 

advocating for the rights of individuals accused of crimes, are uniquely situated to support defendants, 

not only through vigorous defense but also by providing other services aimed at both addressing 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 13 

underlying issues that may be associated with justice system involvement, such as behavioral health 

issues, as well as by providing legal services to help people address some of the collateral consequences 

of criminal justice contact, such as immigration or child welfare issues.  

Contra Costa County uses a master jury list created by combining a list of all registered voters as well as 

persons who have a valid driver’s license or identification card issued by the Department of Motor 

Vehicles. Contra Costa County employs a One Day/One Trial system, were vi Under this system, individuals 

are typically assigned to jury selection after one day at the courthouse, and then their service is complete 

for at least 12 months.vii  Individuals are selected from a countywide pool. The District Attorney’s Office 

does not currently have any official policies regarding the use of sentence enhancements or bail requests.1 

The Public Defender’s Office currently employs several social workers, funded through AB 109, who work 

with clients to support both legal advocacy and linkage to services to address psychosocial needs. 

13) Encourage the Superior Court to return to the process of jury selection whereby jurors are called 

to service to their local branch court for misdemeanor trials. 

14) The Public Defender’s Office shall hire social workers who can assess clients’ psychosocial needs 

and link them to services. 

15) The Public Defender’s Office, either directly or through partnerships with community-based 

organizations, should offer civil legal representation to clients. For youth, this should focus on 

educational advocacy. 

Confinement 

Indiscriminate use of confinement increases racial and ethnic disparity. Disparities in confinement can be 

reduced when successful and robust strategies are implemented at the front end of the justice system.  

Strategies to reduce racial and ethnic disparities in confinement address policies and practices that affect 

discipline, conditions of confinement, and facilitate smooth reintegration into the community. 

Contra Costa County has placed emphasis on developing formalized partnerships between the Office of 

the Public Defender, Probation, the Sheriff’s Department, and the District Attorney’s Office in order to 

decrease the pretrial in-custody population. Through this collaboration, the County has developed the 

cross-departmental Pre-trial Services (PTS) and Arraignment Court Early Representation (ACER) program. 

PTS provides judges with greater information by using a modified version of the Virginia Pretrial Risk 

Assessment Instrument (VPRAI). ACER ensures the presence of attorneys at defendants’ initial court 

appearances and is intended to increase the likelihood that appropriate defendants will be released on 

                                                           
1 The RJTF considered but did not ultimately support a recommendation to limit the use of sentence enhancements.  

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 14 

their own recognizance (OR) for the duration of the court process and allow for the expedited resolution 

of cases.   

Contra Costa County also worked with RDA to develop a pre-release planning pilot program plan, and has 

recently implemented this pilot. Finally, the County’s Custody Alternative Facility allows individuals who 

are low risk to public safety to be released from custody and supervised by deputies from the Sheriff’s 

Office. 

16) Expand eligibility for Pre-Trial Services and increase Pre-Trial Services staffing, with a focus on 

reducing racial disparities and replacing the money bail system. 

17) Expand the current pre-release pilot to serve all individuals in custody. 

18) Establish an independent grievance process for individuals in custody in County adult detention 

facilities to report concerns related to conditions of confinement based on gender, race, religion, 

and national origin. This process shall not operate via the Sheriff’s Office or require any review by 

Sheriff’s Office staff. 

19) Establish an independent monitoring body to oversee conditions of confinement in County adult 

detention facilities based on gender, race, religion, and national origin and report back to the 

Board of Supervisors. 

Other 

20) All County staff shall participate in and complete implicit bias training. 

Next Steps 

The RJTF has made important progress in reducing racial disparities in Contra Costa County justice systems 

and there are a number of next steps that will be essential for carrying this work forward. The first 

recommendations provided here – the creation of a Racial Justice Oversight Body – will be an essential 

vehicle for taking these steps, and establishing the RJOB is an important next step. Once this Body has 

been established, staffed, and membership recruited, there are several steps necessary to ensure its 

progress and efficacy:  

1. Prioritization of recommendations: the RJTF intentionally choose to take a broad view of its 

charge and developed a lengthy set of recommendations across justice systems and processes. 

Further action will now require greater focus on a smaller set of recommendations in order to 

delineate and then implement the concrete steps necessary for implementation.  Toward this 

end, the County and/or RJOB must prioritize those recommendations of greatest interest, in 

particular identifying those that will be addressed in the upcoming fiscal year versus those that 

will be addressed in subsequent years.  

2. Establish subcommittees: For each recommendation selected for immediate action, the RJOB 

should convene a subcommittee of RJOB members who bring expertise in and commitment to 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | 15 

addressing that issue or topic area. These subcommittees should include public agency and 

community member representation and be small enough to do concrete implementation 

planning. 

3. Develop workplans: Each subcommittee must develop a workplan that delineates core steps for 

implementing the recommendation(s) that it is working on, including timelines and roles and 

responsibilities. This will require identifying the individuals and organizations that have influence 

and authority over changes to policy and practice and establishing processes for engagement 

them in next steps.     

 

i Nazgol Ghandnoosh. “Black Lives Matter: Eliminating Racial Inequity In The Criminal Justice System,” The Sentencing 
Project. 2015.  
ii Ibid.  
iii John MacDonald and Steven Raphael. “An Analysis of Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Case Dispositions and 
Sentencing Outcomes for Criminal Cases Presented to and Processed by the Office of the San Francisco District 
Attorney.” (2017). 
iv Ryan C. Wagoner, Carol A. Schubert, and Edward P. Mulvey, “Probation Intensity, Self-Reported Offending, and 
Psychopathy in Juveniles on Probation for Serious Offenses,” Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the 
Law Online 43, no. 2 (June 1, 2015): 191–200. 
v Youth.Gov: Points of Intervention. (2017). Retrieved December 15, 2017 from https://youth.gov/youth-
topics/juvenile-justice/points-intervention 
vi http://www.cc-courts.org/jury/general.aspx 
vii http://www.courts.ca.gov/documents/jurysys.pdf 

                                                           

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | i 
 

Appendix A: Detailed Summary of Votes 

When the RJTF began meeting, members established a series of working agreements that were designed 

to ensure that all perspectives were valued and that dissenting views were given due consideration. 

Toward that end, the Task Force agreed to a voting process whereby members could choose one of three 

options in responding to recommendations: 1. support, 2. do not support, and 3. oppose. If four or more 

RJTF members—or one-quarter—of the voting RJTF members oppose any action or recommendation, the 

Task Force agreed that it would not pass. Task Force members could also abstain from any vote.   

Oversight and Accountability 

1) The Racial Justice Task Force recommends that the Board of Supervisors appoint a Racial Justice 

Oversight Body (RJOB) to oversee the implementation of the recommendations made by the Task 

Force, as specified by the Board of Supervisors.  The RJOB would meet on a quarterly basis and 

report to the Board on an annual basis.  The RJOB shall be made up of the following members: 

1. A representative from the Superior Court, as a non-voting member 

2. The Sheriff or his designee 

3. The Chief Probation Officer or his designee 

4. The Public Defender or her designee 

5. The District Attorney or her designee 

6. A representative from a local law enforcement agency, nominated by the Contra Costa 

County Police Chiefs’ Association 

7. A representative from the Contra Costa County Board of Education 

8. A representative from Contra Costa County Health Services  

9. Eight community-based representatives, that include at a minimum: 

a.  Two members of the Racial Justice Coalition,  

b.  Two individuals with prior personal criminal or juvenile justice system 

involvement,  

c.  Three representatives from community-based organizations that work with 

individuals in the justice system, including at least one person who works 

directly with youth 

d.  One representative from a faith-based organization  

Any individual may meet more than one of these qualifications. 

The RJTF further recommends that the work of this body be staffed by the County Office of 

Reentry and Justice, and that funds for facilitation be allocated through an RFP process. 

 

                                                           
1 The RJTF spent several meetings discussing and refining these recommendations. Through this process, some 
recommendations were combined or rearranged; as a result, there are sometimes gaps in numbering.  

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | ii 
 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John 
Lowden, Marcus Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, 
Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha 
Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

 
14 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

Result:  Passed 

 1) a. The RJOB should or a subcommittee thereof should review local criminal and juvenile justice 

data in order to identify and report on racial disparities. This will include a review of use-of-force 

data, as available from the California Department of Justice’s Open Justice data.   

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John 
Lowden, Marcus Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, 
Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha 
Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

14 
 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

Result:  Passed 

Diversion 

With the goal of reducing racial disparities in the Contra Costa County criminal justice system, form a 

committee to recommend countywide criteria and protocols for formal and informal diversion.  The 

recommendations shall be evidence-based and follow established best practices. 

In considering what criteria and protocols to recommend, the committee shall 

1. Develop separate recommendations for adult and juvenile populations. 

2. Strive to ensure the broadest possible pool of eligible participants. 

3. Strive to ensure that prior criminal justice involvement does not bar a person’s eligibility for 

diversion. 

4. Ensure that the inability to pay for the costs of diversion will not be a bar to eligibility or 

participation. 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | iii 
 

Recommend, as appropriate, partnerships between law enforcement agencies and community based 

organizations to provide diversion services and oversight. 

This committee may be a subgroup of the Racial Justice Oversight Body (RJOB) and will report to the RJOB.  

 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, Marcus 
Walton, William Walker, Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan 
Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

 
12 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain John Lowden, Cardenas Shackelford 2 

Result:  Passed 

County criminal and juvenile justice agencies and the Police Chief’s Association shall establish criteria for 

informal and formal diversion, with a focus on those offenses with greatest racial disparity. Toward that 

end, the County shall identify the offenses for which Black and Latinos are most disproportionately 

arrested, charged, and convicted and use those as a starting point for diversion efforts. 

 

Vote by Members* 

Vote Members Total 

Support  0 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

* Members did not vote as Revised Recommendation #2 passed 

Result: Failed 

Criteria for diversion shall include non-violent felony level crimes such as burglary.    

Vote by Members* 

Vote Members Total 

Support  0 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

* Members did not vote as Revised Recommendation #2 passed 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | iv 
 

Result:  Failed 

Criteria for diversion shall allow individuals with prior justice system involvement to be diverted. 

Vote by Members* 

Vote Members Total 

Support  0 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

* Members did not vote as Revised Recommendation #2 passed 

Result: Failed 

Local enforcement agencies shall establish formal partnerships with community based organizations to 

provide diversion programs and services for youth and adults. Inability to pay shall not prohibit 

participation in diversion programs. 

Vote by Members* 

Vote Members Total 

Support  0 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

* Members did not vote as Revised Recommendation #2 passed 

Result: Failed 

County criminal and juvenile justice departments shall establish formal partnerships with community 

based organizations to provide diversion programs and services for youth and adults. Inability to pay shall 

not prohibit participation in diversion programs. 

Vote by Members* 

Vote Members Total 

Support  0 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

* Members did not vote as Revised Recommendation #2 passed 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | v 
 

Result:  Failed 

Expand the use of crisis intervention teams, mobile crisis teams, and behavioral health assessment teams 

so they are available across the County. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John 
Lowden, Marcus Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, 
Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha 
Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

 
14 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

Result: Passed 

Local law enforcement agencies shall issue citations and establish non-enforcement diversion as an 

alternative to arrests. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John 
Lowden, Marcus Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, 
Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, 
Robin Lipetzky 

13 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Harlan Grossman 1 

Result: Passed 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | vi 
 

Data 

All Contra Costa County criminal justice agencies and local law enforcement agencies shall collect 

individual-level data on all individual encounters with criminal and juvenile justice systems and processes. 

In so doing, they shall consult best practices to balance data needs with confidentiality concerns. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John Lowden, Marcus 
Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, Tamisha Walker, 
Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, 
Robin Lipetzky 

13 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Todd Billeci 1 

Result: Passed 

Office of Reentry and Justice shall publish race-specific data online on all of the above to create greater 

transparency and accountability of the County criminal justice agencies and local enforcement agencies. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John 
Lowden, Marcus Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, 
Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha 
Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

14 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

Discussion: Todd Billeci shared there may be court-involved issues attaining juvenile data 

Result: Passed 

 

 

 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | vii 
 

All Contra Costa County criminal justice agencies and local law enforcement agencies shall improve 

capacity for data collection and analysis including expanding staff with data analysis capabilities. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, Marcus Walton, William Walker, 
Cardenas Shackelford, Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan 
Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

11 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Bisa French, Todd Billeci, John Lowden, 3 

Discussion: Bisa French shared concern about the fiscal impact of this recommendation. Todd Billeci 

shared he does not like the word “shall” in this recommendation. Venus Johnson shared she whole 

heartedly believes system change is driven through data and policy however, the Board does not have the 

authority to make this happen. She stated all agencies should be working independently towards better 

data collection and analysis to drive policy change. . John Lowden shared he will abstain in interest of 

other agencies. Harlan Grossman shared he is unsure who has the authority to do this. 

Result: Passed 

Office of Reentry and Justice shall support analysis of interventions implemented through the RJTF to 

measure efficacy and assess impact on racial disparities. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John 
Lowden, Marcus Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, 
Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha 
Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

14 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

Result: Passed 

 

 

 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | viii 
 

County Support for Local Agencies 

The County shall provide resources to ensure integration of de-escalation and behavioral health 

intervention trainings into local enforcement agency regional academy and/or department orientations. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Marcus Walton, Tamisha Walker 3 

Do Not Support Leslie Takahashi, Stephanie Medley 2 

Oppose Todd Billeci, Venus Johnson, John Lowden, William Walker, Cardenas 
Shackelford, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Robin Lipetzky 

8 

Abstain Debra Mason 1 

Discussion: Leslie Takahashi shared while she understands the Board may not have the jurisdiction to do 

this, it is important to identify the resources needed to make this recommendation happen. 

Result: Failed 

The County shall work with local enforcement agencies to seek funds that support the integration of de-

escalation and behavioral health intervention trainings into local enforcement agency regional academy 

and/or department orientations. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John 
Lowden, Marcus Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, 
Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha 
Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

14 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

Result: Passed 

The County shall provide resources to incentivize local enforcement agencies to implement improved 

procedural justice practices and implicit bias training. 

i. Identify funding for procedural justice training utilizing the train the trainer model  

ii. Work with the Chief’s Association to create a forum to share information and strengthen 

promising practices around procedural justice and implicit bias trainings. 

 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | ix 
 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John 
Lowden, Marcus Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, 
Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha 
Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

14 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

Result: Passed 

In addition, local enforcement agencies in Contra Costa County shall: 

i. Ensure inclusion of de-escalation and behavioral health intervention trainings into local 

enforcement agency regional academy and/or department orientations 

ii. Provide procedural justice and implicit bias training to all staff 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John 
Lowden, Marcus Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, 
Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha 
Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

14 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

Result: Passed 

The County Office of Education shall provide resources to incentivize school districts to explore, evaluate, 

implement or expand existing non-punitive discipline practices, such as Positive Behavioral Interventions 

Support (PBIS) and Restorative Justice practices. 

i. Identify funding for continuous training and technical assistance to all schools in the County to 

support implementation of PBIS and Restorative Justice, as well as data collection to assess 

implementation and impact. 

 

 

 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | x 
 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Leslie Takahashi, John Lowden, Marcus Walton, William 
Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, 
Harlan Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

12 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Todd Billeci, Venus Johnson 2 

Result: Passed 

The County Office of Education shall work with school districts to provide supportive behavioral health 

services such as counseling, peer support, and early intervention services for youth presenting signs of 

emotional, mental, and/or behavioral distress. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John Lowden, Marcus 
Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, Tamisha Walker, 
Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, 
Robin Lipetzky 

13 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Todd Billeci 1 

Result: Passed 

In their review and approval of Local Control and Accountability Plans (LCAPs) and supplemental funding, 

the County Office of Education shall prioritize the following, as far as legally possible. 

a. Exploring and identifying programs that focus on faculty and staff trainings and their interactions 

with students. Such programs shall support developing strategies that address behavior issues to 

achieve positive outcomes such as My Teacher Partner Program (MTP). 

b. Requiring school districts to create partnerships with culturally specific organizations to routinely 

train faculty and staff on the issues facing communities of color. 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xi 
 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Leslie Takahashi, , William Walker, Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, 
Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

7 

Do Not Support Marcus Walton, Cardenas Shackelford, Harlan Grossman 3 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Venus Johnson, John Lowden 4 

Result: Failed 

Community Engagement and Services 

County criminal justice agencies shall establish formal partnerships with community-based organizations 

to provide greater capacity for  

i. diversion,  

ii. reentry programs,  

iii. alternatives to detention  

iv. pretrial services   

v. in custody programming 

All community-based organizations receiving funding from the County shall be evaluated for efficacy and 

effectiveness of program goals and objectives to ensure populations are appropriately served. Community 

input shall be an integral part of this process. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John 
Lowden, Marcus Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, 
Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha 
Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

14 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

Result: Passed 

Establish a community capacity fund to build the capacity of community-based organizations – especially 

those staffed by formerly incarcerated individuals – to contract with the County and provide services to 

reentry clients. 

  

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xii 
 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John 
Lowden, Marcus Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, , 
Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, 
Robin Lipetzky 

13 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Tamisha Walker 1 

Result: Passed 

The County and/or RJOB shall collaborate with the Community Corrections Partnership- Executive 

Committee (CCP-EC) to consider increasing realignment funding for community services. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John Lowden, Marcus Walton, 
William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, Tamisha Walker, Stephanie 
Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin 
Lipetzky 

12 

Do Not Support Todd Billeci 1 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Bisa French 1 

Result: Passed 

Practices Related to Trial and Adjudication Processes 

Encourage the Superior Court to return to the process of jury selection whereby jurors are called to service 

to their local branch court for misdemeanor trials. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John 
Lowden, Marcus Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, 
Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha 
Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

14 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

Result: Passed 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xiii 
 

Encourage the Superior Court to assign felony jury trials to the branch courts having jurisdiction over the 

location where the alleged offense occurred.   

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, Cardenas Shackelford, Tamisha 
Walker, Stephanie Medley, Robin Lipetzky 

5 

Do Not Support John Lowden, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason 4 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Bisa French, Todd Billeci, , Marcus Walton, William Walker, 5 

Result: Failed 

Establish circumstances where DA won’t seek sentence enhancements.  As a starting point, the DA’s Office 

shall not seek enhancements for any offenses in which defendants are eligible for Prop 47 relief. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Leslie Takahashi, William Walker, Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, 
Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

7 

Do Not Support John Lowden 1 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Venus Johnson, Marcus Walton, Cardenas 
Shackelford, Harlan Grossman 

6 

Discussion: Venus Johnson shared there is a caveat to this recommendation. She shared there are 

currently cases  going through the justice system where the courts are deciding if Prop 47 applies to 

certain offense that may not have been specifically listed in the ballot initiative. . Depending on the results 

of those cases, charging decisions will be impacted. Venus shared she does not disagree with the 

recommendation, but due to the way it is written and the stance of the legal system, she will abstain. 

Result: Failed 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xiv 
 

Public Defender’s Office shall hire social workers who can assess clients’ psychosocial needs and link them 

to services. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, Marcus Walton, William 
Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, 
Harlan Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

12 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Todd Billeci, John Lowden 2 

Result: Passed 

The Public Defender’s Office, either directly or through partnerships with community-based organizations, 

shall offer civil legal representation to clients. For youth, this shall focus on educational advocacy 

 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Leslie Takahashi, Marcus Walton, William Walker, 
Cardenas Shackelford, Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Dennisha 
Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

10 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose Harlan Grossman 1 

Abstain Todd Billeci, Venus Johnson, John Lowden 3 

Discussion: Tamisha Walker shared the County does not currently provide enough funding for the Public 

Defender’s Office so she will support it. Stephanie Medley shared similar sentiments as Tamisha and 

shared the recommendation as it is written does not attach any resources to it or identifies any.  

Result: Passed 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xv 
 

Confinement 

Expand eligibility for Pre-Trial Services and increase Pre-Trial Services staffing, with a focus on reducing 

racial disparities and replacing the money bail system. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, John Lowden, Marcus 
Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, Tamisha Walker, 
Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, 
Robin Lipetzky 

13 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Bisa French 1 

Result: Passed 

Expand the current pre-release pilot to serve all individuals in custody. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, , Marcus 
Walton, William Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, Tamisha Walker, 
Stephanie Medley, Harlan Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Robin Lipetzky 

12 

Do Not Support John Lowden, Debra Mason 2 

Oppose  0 

Abstain  0 

Discussion:  Todd Billeci clarified this recommendation pertains to a pre-release program not pre-trial 

Result: Passed 

Establish an independent grievance process for individuals in custody in County adult detention facilities 

to report concerns related to conditions of confinement based on gender, race, religion, and national 

origin. This process shall not operate via the Sheriff’s Office or require any review by Sheriff’s Office staff. 

 

 

 

Vote by Members 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xvi 
 

Vote Members Total 

Support Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, , Marcus Walton, William Walker, 
Cardenas Shackelford, Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan 
Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Robin Lipetzky 

10 

Do Not Support Todd Billeci, Debra Mason 2 

Oppose John Lowden 1 

Abstain Bisa French 1 

Discussion: Debra Mason shared she does not support the recommendation if it requires the elimination 

of the Sherriff’s current process. She shared she believes there should be an additional step to process 

any complains if one is not satisfied with the Sherriff’s process.  

Result: Passed 

Establish an independent monitoring body to oversee conditions of confinement in County adult 

detention facilities based on gender, race, religion, and national origin and report back to the Board of 

Supervisors. 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Leslie Takahashi, Venus Johnson, , Marcus Walton, 
William Walker, , Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, Harlan 
Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

11 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose Todd Billeci, John Lowden 2 

Abstain Cardenas Shackelford 1 

Discussion: Todd Billeci shared that even though he opposes this recommendation, he appreciates the 

engagement and involvement of the community throughout this process. 

Result: Passed 

 

 

 

 

 

Added Recommendation 

All County staff shall participate and complete implicit bias training. 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xvii 
 

Vote by Members 

Vote Members Total 

Support Bisa French, Venus Johnson, John Lowden, Marcus Walton, William 
Walker, Cardenas Shackelford, Tamisha Walker, Stephanie Medley, 
Harlan Grossman, Dennisha Marsh, Debra Mason, Robin Lipetzky 

12 

Do Not Support  0 

Oppose  0 

Abstain Todd Billeci, Leslie Takahashi 2 

Discussion: Todd shared that he will abstain because he has heard that recent studies indicate that implicit 

bias training may cause more harm than good. 

Result: Passed 

  

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xviii 
 

Appendix B: Data reviewed by RJTF 

This appendix includes a summary of all quantitative data obtained and reviewed by the RJTF. As noted in 

the project Findings above, data were obtained from a variety of sources, including the State of California 

Department of Justice (DOJ), the Contra Costa County Probation Department, the Contra Costa County 

Superior Court, the Contra Costa County Sheriff’s Office, and the Contra Costa County Racial Justice 

Coalition.  Because different data are available from different sources at different points in time, these 

data span from 2013 through 2017.  

Local Law Enforcement Data 

All data provided below are from the State of California DOJ Criminal Justice Statistics Center (CJSC). Data 

are from 2014, unless otherwise indicated. 

Figure 1. Contra Costa County, Adult Arrests per 1,000 

 

Figure . Illustrates countywide arrest trends among Black, Latino, White and Other adults. Black adults are 

6 times more likely than White adults to be arrested for a violent offense, as well as 5 times more likely 

to be arrested for a property crime and over 2 times as likely to be arrested for a drug offense.  

18
20

17

2

5 5
7

0

3 4

7

0
2 2 2

0
0

5

10

15

20

25

Violent Property Drug Sex

A
rr

es
t 

R
at

e
   

 

Black Latino White Other

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xix 
 

6%

12%

51%

31%

Total Population: 24, 136

Black

Hispanic

White

Other

80

177

14

40

3 86
16

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Felony Misdemeanor

A
rr

es
t 

R
at

e
 

Figure 2. Contra Costa County, Juvenile Arrests per 1,000 

 

Figure 2. illustrates countywide arrest trends among Black, Latino, White and Other youth. Black youth 

are 12 times more likely to be arrested for a violent crime than White youth, while they are 7 times more 

likely to be arrested for a property offense and twice as likely to be arrested for a drug offense than White 

youth. A greater disparity among arrests rates by race exists within youth as compared to adults. 

While these graphs are city specific data, they are examples of a larger trend across most cities in Contra 

Costa County. 

   Figure 3. El Cerrito Population   Figure 4. El Cerrito Adult Arrest Rates per 1,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3. represents a breakdown of El Cerrito’s total population, which is relatively a small population. 

Of El Cerrito’s total population, 6% are black. Figure 4.  shows that Black individuals are approximately 13 

times as likely as White individuals to be arrested for a felony and approximately 11 times more likely to 

be arrested for a misdemeanor. 

12

7

2 11 1 1 01 1 1 00 0 0 0
0

5

10

15

20

25

Violent Property Drug Sex

A
rr

es
t 

R
at

e

Black Latino White Other

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xx 
 

 Figure 5. Richmond City Population                           Figure 6. Richmond Adult Arrests Rate per 1,000 

Figure 5. represents a breakdown of Richmond’s total population, which is a much larger city with a larger 

black population (23%) than El Cerrito. While the racial disparities are not as great as those in El Cerrito 

or smaller cities, disparities remain. As seen in Figure 6, Black adults are approximately 4.5 times as likely 

as White adults to be arrested for a felony and approximately 4 times as likely to be arrested for a 

misdemeanor. 

While these graphs are city specific data, they are examples of a larger trend across most cities in Contra 

Costa County. 

Figure 7. City of El Cerrito, Adults Arrest Rates per 1,000 

As Figure 7. illustrates, disparities are greatest for property offenses in El Cerrito where Black adults are 

approximately 18 times as likely as White adults to be arrested for a property offense. 

23%

41%

17%

19%

Total Population: 106,469

Black

Latino

White

Other

37

20
11 10

2 38 5

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Felony Misdemeanor

A
rr

es
t 

R
at

e

26

72

33

13

14
7

02 4 4
02 2 1 0

0

20

40

60

80

Violent Property Drug Sex

A
rr

es
t 

R
at

e

Black Latino White Other

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxi 
 

Figure 8. City of Antioch, Adult Arrest Rates per 1,000 

 

As seen in Figure 8., disparities are greatest for violent offenses in Antioch where Black adults are 4 

times more likely than White adults to be arrested for a violent offense compared to only 1.5 times 

more likely to be arrested for a property or drug offense respectively.  

Figure 9. Contra Costa County, Felony Arrest Rates per 1,000

 

Figure 9. illustrates countywide data in which compared to White adults, Black adults are approximately 

5 times more likely to be arrested for a felony while Black youth are 11 times more likely to be arrested 

than White youth. 

24

14 14

1
6 8 9

0
0

20

40

60

80

Violent Property Drug Sex

A
rr

es
t 

R
at

e
   

 

Black Latino White Other

50

1114

2

11

14 1
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Adult Juvenile

A
rr

es
t 

R
at

e

Black Latino White Other

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxii 
 

Figure 10. Contra Costa County, Misdemeanor Arrest Rates per 1,000 

 

Figure 10. illustrates countywide data in which compared to White adults, Black adults are 3 times more 

likely to be arrested for a misdemeanor while Black youth are approximately 6 times more likely to be 

arrested. 

Figure 11. City of Richmond, Juvenile Arrest Rates per 1,000

 

As seen in Figure 11, disparities are greatest for violent offenses in Richmond where Black youth are 7 

times more likely to be arrested for a violent offense than White or Latino youth.  

39

19
16

3

13

3
6

1

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Adult Juvenile

A
rr

es
t 

R
at

e

Black Latino White Other

7

2

0
11 1 1

0
1

0 0 0
1 1 1

0
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Violent Property Drug Sex

A
rr

es
t 

R
at

e

Black Latino Other White

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxiii 
 

Figure 12. City of Pittsburg, Juvenile Arrest Rates per 1,000 

 

As seen in Figure 12, disparities are greatest for property offenses in Pittsburg where Black youth are 3 

times more likely to be arrested for a property offense than White or Latino youth. 

None of the following law enforcement agencies collect race-specific data on diversion practices: 

 Richmond PD partners with RYSE to divert youth from official processing.  

 Antioch PD partners with Reach to divert youth from official processing. 

 Pittsburg and Concord PD have implemented the community court model to divert some adult 

and juvenile cases from formal processing. 

  

4
3

1
0

2
1 1

00
1

0 0
1

0

2

0
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Violent Property Drug Sex

A
rr

es
t 

R
at

e
 

Black Latino Other White

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxiv 
 

9.7 6.2

88.5

68.4

14.7 13.0

0

20

40

60

80

100

2013 2014

9x
11x

White           Black           Latino 

Juvenile Justice Data 

All data provided below are from the Contra Costa County Probation Department. Data are from 2013 

and 2014.  

Figure 13. Rated of Referral to Probation per 1,000            Figure 14. Referrals to Probation RRI, 

                              youth, by Race                         by Race 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure and Figure 13. Rated of Referral to Probation per 1,000            Figure 14. Referrals to Probation 

RRI, illustrate overall, in 2013 and 2014, Black youth were 9 times more likely than White youth and 6 

times more likely than Latino youth to be referred to Probation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

1.0 1.0

9.1

11.1

1.5 2.1

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2013 2014

2.3 1.3

32.8

21.0

5.4 4.2

0

10

20

30

40

2013 2014

14x 16x 1.0 1.0

1.5 1.51.5 1.5

0

1

2

3

4

2013 2014

White           Black           Latino 

Figure 15. Pre-Adjudication Detention Rates per 

1,000 Youth, by Race 

Figure 16.  Pre-Adjudication Detention RRI, by 

Race 

 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxv 
 

As seen in Figure and Figure 16, of all youth referred to Probation, Black and Latino youth are 50% more 

likely than White youth to be detained prior to adjudication. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figures 17 and 18 show that the Probation Department filed petitions at the same rate for all referred 

youth regardless of race; however, relative to their proportion of the overall county population, Black 

youth were 10 times more likely to have petitions filed than all other groups. 

 

 

 

5.2 3.3

56.9

36.2

9.6 7.0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2013 2014

10x

10x 1.0 1.0
1.2

1.0
1.2

1.0

0

1

2

3

4

2013 2014

White           Black           Latino 

4.3 2.5

44.5

26.0

8.5 5.8

0

10

20

30

40

50

2013 2014

11x

11x 1.0 1.01.0 0.91.1 1.1

0

1

2

3

4

2013 2014

White           Black           Latino 

Figure 17.  Pre-Adjudication Detention RRI, by 

Race 

 

Figure 18. Pre-Adjudication Detention Rates per 

1,000 Youth, by Race 

Figure 19. Rates of Petitions Filed per 1,000 

youth by Race 

Figure 20. Petitions Filed RRI, by Race 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxvi 
 

White            Black          Latino 

Among youth who had petitions filed, there were not disparities in who was deemed to be a ward of the 

court. There were still disparities compared to the overall rate within the population. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As Figures 21 and 22 illustrate, among youth who were adjudicated delinquent, there were no disparities 

in which youth received a disposition of placement. There were still disparities compared to the overall 

rate within the population. 

 

0.7 0.2

10.5

6.0

2.3 1.7

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2013 2014

16x

24x 1.0 1.0

1.5

2.3

1.8

3.0

0

1

2

3

4

2013 2014

White           Black           Latino 

Figure 23. Placement Rates per 1,000 Youth, by 

Race 

Figure 24. Placement RRI, by Race 

Figure 21. Ward of the Court Rates per 1,000    

by Race 

3.3 2.0

32.4

18.7

6.1 4.1

0

10

20

30

40

2013 2014

10x

9x 1.0 1.01.0 0.90.9 0.9

0

1

2

3

4

2013 2014

Figure 22. Ward of the Court RRI, by Race 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxvii 
 

Among all youth who were made a ward of the court, Latino youth were 3 times more likely to be placed 

in secure confinement compared to White youth and Black youth were 2 times more likely to be placed 

in secure confinement compared to White youth. 

  

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxviii 
 

11

50

14

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Felony

White           Black           Latino 

13

39

16

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Misdemeanor

Criminal Justice Data  

Data provided below are from the California DOJ CSJC, Contra Costa County Superior Court, and Contra 

Costa Sheriff’s Office. Data are from 2014-2017. Specific data sources and dates are provided below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As Figure 25 illustrates, Black adults were three times more likely to be arrested for a misdemeanor 

compare to Whites. Similarly, Figure 26 shows Black adults were four times more likely to be arrested for 

a felony than White adults.  

 

 

White           Black           Latino 

20.4 19.8

108.8 111.7

34.3 35.1

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2016 2017

5.3x 5.6x

50.1 48.8

146.0
140.6

76.2 74.9

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2016 2017

2.9x 2.8x

*Data from Contra Costa County Criminal Court 

*Data from across all cities in Contra Costa County from California DOJ CSJC 

Figure 28. Felony Case Filing Rates, by Race* 

3x 
5x 

Figure 25. Misdemeanor Arrest Rates, by Race* Figure 26. Felony Arrest Rates, by Race* 

Figure 27. Misdemeanor Case Filing Rates, by 
Race* 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxix 
 

516 564
404 532

341 381

144
134

100 92
78

102

432
530

372 397
284

309

438 679

175 267
304

474

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Detention Non-detention- Bail
Non-detention- OR Non-detention- Letter to appear

2016       2017                        2016       2017                         2016         

White           Black           Latino 

Figure 27 shows how in both 2016 and 2017, Black adults were approximately three times more likely to 

have a misdemeanor case filing than their White counterparts. Similarly, as shown in Figure 28, Black 

adults were more than five times more likely to have a felony case filing than White adults. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As Figure 29 illustrates, in 2015, Black adults were approximately 7 times more likely to be detained pre-

trial than White adults. Figure 30 shows in both 2016 and 2017, Black adults were more likely to be 

detained as compared to White adults who have higher rates of non-detention OR and letter to appear. 

Black adults are also significantly less likely to be given a letter to appear than both White and Latino 

adults. 

 

 

 

 

 

10.1

69.8

25.2

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2015

6.9x

Figure 29. Pre-Trial Detention Rates, 
by Race* 

Figure 30.  Pre-Trial Detention versus Non-Detention, 
by Race* 

*Data is a snapshot of detained population on 7/9/2015 
Contra Costa County Sheriff’s Office 

*Data from Contra Costa County Criminal Court 

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxx 
 

17%
23%22%

28%28% 31%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2014 2015

46%
42%

52% 50%

35% 37%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2014 2015

White         Black           Latino 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 31 shows in both 2014 and 2015, Latino adults had the highest proportion of cases with charge 

enhancements. Figure 32 shows both in 2014 and 2015, Black adults had the highest proportion of cases 

with person enhancements, followed by White adults. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14.8 15.4

79.0
85.5

25.3 27.3

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

2016 2017

5.3x
5.5x

54.6 52.7

168.8
164.4

83.8 81.9

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

2016 2017

3.1x 3.1x

White           Black           Latino 

Figure 31. Proportion of Cases with Charge            
Enhancements, by Race* 

Figure 32. Proportion of Cases with Person 
Enhancements, by Race* 

Figure 33. Misdemeanor Conviction Rates, by 
Race* 

Figure 34. Felony Conviction Rates, by Race* 

*Data from Contra Costa County Criminal Court 

*Data from the Public Defender’s Office  

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxxi 
 

Figure 33 shows Black adults were three times more likely to have a misdemeanor conviction than White 

adults. Figure 34 shows Black adults were more than five times as likely to get a felony conviction than 

White adults in 2016 and 2017. 

 

  

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxxii 
 

Appendix C. Community Forums 

The Racial Justice Task Force hosted two rounds of community forums throughout Contra Costa County. 

The goal of each community forum was to engage community members with the project and gather 

community input and feedback on the projects’ areas of focus and set of draft recommendations.  

The first round of community forums took place in November and consisted of five community forums in 

the cities of Concord, Danville, Pittsburg, Richmond, and Antioch. The focus of the first round of 

community forums was to share the purpose of the Racial Justice Task Force and share work to date. 

Community members also had the opportunity to provide input towards the project’s areas of focus.  

Table 1. Attendees per Location 

Location 
Number of Public 
Attendees 

Concord 32 

Danville 35 

Pittsburg 34 

Richmond 28 

Antioch 25 

 

The Racial Justice Coalition, District Attorney, Board of Supervisors, School Board, Teachers, Public 

Defender, faith-based organizations, and Local Law Enforcement were some of the stakeholders in 

attendance. 

Figure 35. November Community Forums Key Themes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Impact of 
Historical Trauma

•Lack of cultural 
competence/ 
awareness in 
schools and 
justice system 
agencies

•Restorative 
justice

•Need for 
increased 
mental health 
services

Implicit & Explicit 
Bias

•Need for 
cultural 
responsive 
implicit bias 
training for all 
justice 
stakeholders 

School to Prison 
Pipeline

•Role of schools 
pushing youth of 
color into the 
justice system

•Youth 
development 

Mistrust of Law 
Enforcement

•Sherriff's 
Office's 
relationship to 
ICE

County Processes

•Expand and 
standardize 
diversion 
programs, 
policies, and 
procedures.

•Standardize data 
collection across 
the county

•Reform bail cash 
system

Attachment A



Contra Costa County 
Racial Justice Task Force – Final Report and Recommendations 

 

  June 2018 | xxxiii 
 

Following the first round of community forums, the Racial Justice Task Force analyzed community input 

and integrated feedback into areas of focus. After a series of discussions of best practices, current 

practices, and analysis of racial disparities in the county, the Racial Justice Task Force drafted a set of 

preliminary recommendations for the Board of Supervisors. The purpose of the second round of 

community forums was to share the set of preliminary set of recommendations and solicit feedback for 

any revisions, additions, or removals of drafted recommendations.  

Table 2. Attendees per Location 

Location 
Number of Public 
Attendees 

Walnut Creek 59 

Antioch 24 

Richmond 28 

 

The Racial Justice Coalition, District Attorney, Board of Supervisors, School Board, Teachers, Public 

Defender, Behavioral Health, community-based organizations, faith-based organizations, Local Law 

Enforcement, and residents were some of the stakeholders in attendance. 

 

Figure 36. May Community Forums Key Themes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Highest Priorities

•Expand diversion and criteria

•Establish sliding scale fees/ 
fee waivers for pre-trial and 
diversion programs

•Develop data collection and 
accountability measures

•Establish oversight 
committee for 
implementation process that 
includes community members

•Ensure recommendation 
planning process includes 
community input

Key Concerns

•Avaialble funding and budget 
prioritization for 
recommendations

•Misuse of publically avaialble 
data

•Buy-in from implementin 
partners such as education

•Language accessibility for 
programs/ services

Gaps

•Use of force policies and 
police engaged violence

•Police disclosure and 
monitoring of police 
misconduct

•Body cameras for law 
enforcement

•Recruitment and retention of 
school staff that are reflective 
of communities they serve

•Community centered services 
that prevent any contact with 
the justice system

•Staffing and racial disparities 
in various policing agencies

Attachment A



T H E  I M P A C T  O F   
E A R L Y  R E P R E S E N T A T I O N :  

AN ANALYSIS OF THE 
SAN FRANCISCO PUBLIC DEFENDER'S 

PRE-TRIAL RELEASE UNIT 

A l e n a  Y a r m o s k y ,  M P P  2 0 1 8  

U n i v e r s i t y  o f  C a l i f o r n i a ,  B e r k e l e y  

G o l d m a n  S c h o o l  o f  P u b l i c  P o l i c y  



Table of Contents 
 

Executive Summary 2 

Introduction 4 

Policy Background 6 

Early Representation a Long-Held Priority for the Public Defender’s Office 6 

San Francisco Faces a Mandatory Reduction in Jail Population 6 

Pre-Trial Intervention a Promising Approach 7 

Wealth Disparities in Pre-Arraignment Representation 9 

Wealth Disparities in Pre-Arraignment Release 12 

The Impact of Pre-Trial Incarceration 14 

Program Overview 16 

Types of PRU Intervention 16 

Client Selection Process 17 

Client Characteristics 19 

Evaluation Methods 22 

Research Questions 22 

Quantitative Analysis 22 

Qualitative Interviews 24 

Evaluation Results 25 

PRU Intervention Reduces Length of Pre-Trial Incarceration 25 

PRU Intervention Helps Close the Pre-Arraignment Wealth Gap 29 

Total Jail Bed Days Saved 32 

Final Recommendations 33 

Works Cited 35 

Appendix A: Study Assumptions and Limitations 36 

Appendix B: Summary Statistics 41 

 

  



2 
 

Executive Summary 
 
Overview of Pre-Trial Release Unit 
The San Francisco Public Defender’s Office launched its “Pre-Trial Release Unit” (PRU) on October 2, 2017. The 
PRU, which is staffed by two full-time attorneys and one full-time investigator, provides legal advice and 
advocacy to indigent arrestees during the critical period between booking and arraignment. PRU interventions 
include direct representation (through one-on-one interviews), early case investigation, attorney notification, 
parole advocacy, contacts to family and friends, in-person arraignment recruitment, in-jail referrals, and bail 
advocacy. In its first five months of operation, the PRU provided pre-arraignment representation in 1,024 unique 
cases.  
 

Goals of the PRU 
After years of providing counsel to indigent arrestees in San Francisco, the Public Defender’s Office is acutely 
aware of wealth disparities in access to pre-arraignment representation. The pre-arraignment period is critical 
for a number of reasons: bail is set, formal charges are filed, case investigation begins, and the first round of 
police interviews occur. Individuals wealthy enough to afford a private attorney immediately after booking have 
access to a number of services (including bail advocacy, early defense investigation, rebooking advocacy, and in-
person invocation of rights) that indigent arrestees – who are not provided a public defender until arraignment – 
do not receive. These services can significantly impact later criminal case proceedings, increase the likelihood of 
pre-trial release, and help to ensure clients’ stability during and post incarceration.  

 
In addition to reducing wealth disparities in pre-arraignment representation, the Public Defender’s Office also 
aims to reduce the county jail population – a key priority shared by the Mayor, District Attorney, and Sherriff’s 
Department. In order to ensure the permanent closure of County Jails #3 and #4, the City and County of San 
Francisco (the City) must reduce its jail population by 83,000 jail bed days per year. The PRU hopes to contribute 
to this reduction goal by increasing arrestees’ likelihood of pre-trial release. 

 
Study Evaluation Methods 
To quantitatively assess the impact of the PRU on length of pre-trial incarceration, we generated a dataset of 
booking, demographic, and charge information for all arrestees booked into county jail during our study period 
(October 2, 2017 - February 28, 2018). This dataset was generated primarily from the Public Defender’s GIDEON 
case management system, which draws from data maintained by the San Francisco County Superior Court’s larger 
case management database, and included PRU treatment coded by intervention type.  
 
Because selection into arrest-responsive PRU treatment is non-random, we used a propensity score method to 
control for differences among treated and non-treated individuals. The propensity score indicates the likelihood 
that a client receives arrest-responsive PRU treatment given: age, race, gender, out-of-county warrants, parole or 
probation holds and criminal history. We then used a “nearest neighbor” matching technique to match clients 
treated by the PRU with similarly-scored defendants who did not receive treatment. Because there was little 



3 
 

selection bias associated with parole advocacy, we used a regression model to measure impact of parole 
advocacy on eligible parolees’ length of incarceration.   
 
To further evaluate the impact of the PRU on pre-trial detention, clients’ stability, and likelihood of repeat 
involvement with the criminal justice system, we conducted interviews with a total of 14 stakeholders. 
Interviewees included PRU program staff (4), Deputy Public Defenders (6), and former PRU clients (4).  
 
Summary of Findings 
Based on the findings from our quantitative analysis and qualitative interviews, we conclude that the Public 
Defender’s Pre-Trial Release Unit has demonstrated promising initial success in meeting its goals of 1) reducing 
wealth disparities in access to pre-arraignment representation, and 2) reducing the jail population through 
increased access to pre-trial release.  
 
Specifically, our analysis reveals that PRU intervention reduces the length of pre-trial incarceration:  

- Individuals who receive arrest-responsive intervention are twice as likely to be released at 
arraignment when compared with similarly situated, non-treated arrestees. Similar, not-treated 
arrestees are released at arraignment 14 percent of the time, compared to a 28 percent rate for treated 
arrestees. This appears to be due primarily to attorneys’ increased ability to argue for release at 
arraignment, including increased access to client information, early investigation, and in-person 
presence at arraignment. 

- Among all eligible parolees, parole advocacy provided by the PRU reduced the length of incarceration 
by 230 hours (approx. 9.5 days). This is consistent with qualitative evidence that suggests parole 
advocacy increases the speed at which parole holds are lifted and reduces the number of parole 
petitions filed.  

 
We also conducted interviews with PRU program staff, public defender attorneys, and former PRU clients to 
attempt to evaluate the qualitative, more intangible impact of the PRU. Although difficult to measure, it appears 
that PRU intervention is reducing wealth disparities in access to critical pre-arraignment benefits. Our analysis 
suggests: 

- PRU intervention may uncover evidence that may positively impact later case outcomes. This 
evidence, including surveillance footage and/or witness testimony, may be impossible to access post-
arraignment.   

- By simultaneously advocating for arrestees and helping them navigate the legal process, PRU 
intervention likely increases procedural justice.  

- By contacting the employers, family members, and friends of arrestees, the PRU may help clients’ keep 
their jobs, maintain stable housing, and protect their families while incarcerated. This increased 
stability during incarceration may lead to increased stability in the longer-term.   

 
Using the above analyses, we calculated that PRU’s arrest-responsive treatment has saved approximately 
4,689 jail bed days during its initial 5 months of operation. This is an average savings of 940 jail bed days a 
month, or approximately 11,253 jail bed days saved per year.  



4 
 

Introduction 
 
The San Francisco Public Defender’s Office is committed to ensuring equal access to justice for all, regardless of 
race, gender, national origin or class. As part of this mission, the Public Defender’s Office provides attorney 
representation, including direct defense, re-entry services, and legal support, to approximately 23,000 indigent 
individuals charged with crimes each year.1 While racial disparities in the criminal justice system are undeniable 
both nationally and in San Francisco, the Public Defender’s Office has helped to significantly reduce disparities 
on the basis of wealth. In addition to high quality representation, the PD’s Office is currently leading the nation 
in efforts to reduce the burden of money bail and criminal justice debt on low-income city residents.2  
 
Despite significant progress however, there remains a critical area in which wealthy arrestees in San Francisco 
have a significant advantage over the indigent: pre-arraignment representation. Arrestees who are wealthy 
enough to hire private counsel have access to legal representation and advocacy immediately upon being 
booked into jail. In contrast, indigent arrestees are traditionally not assigned a public defender until arraignment 
(the first hearing before a judge). Depending on the time and day of arrest, arraignment may occur three to four 
days after an individual is booked into jail.3 
 
The pre-arraignment period is critical for a number of reasons: The District Attorney’s Office decides whether and 
what charges to file, bail is set, and preliminary investigations may begin to uncover evidence. Wealth also plays 
a significant role in the likelihood of release pre-arraignment; wealthy arrestees who can afford to post bail 
and/or receive rebooking advocacy may remain in their homes and communities while awaiting the DA’s 
charging decision. In contrast, the majority of San Francisco’s indigent arrestees cannot afford to post bail.4 These 
individuals must remain incarcerated at least until their case is either arraigned or dismissed, with potentially 
significant costs to employment, child custody, and financial stability. Pre-arraignment representation may also 
increase the likelihood of release at arraignment by providing attorneys the time needed to compile a robust 
case for release.5   
 
The impact of pre-trial release cannot be overestimated. Defendants who are incarcerated pre-trial plead guilty 
at higher rates, are more likely to be convicted, and face longer sentences than similarly-situated releasees.6 Pre-
trial incarceration is also correlated with increased recidivism, as longer jail time can cause a defendant to lose 
his/her job, housing, eligibility for certain treatment programs, or community supports.7 
                                                
1 San Francisco Public Defender. Retrieved from http://sfpublicdefender.org/about/ 
2 Fuller, T., & Stevens, M. (2018, February 28). New York Times, California Today: Should Bail Be Set Above What Defendants Can Pay? 
Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2018/02/28/us/california-today-bail-hearings-san-francisco.html 
3Program Staff, Pre-Trial Release Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March - April) 

4 Do the Math: Money Bail Doesn't Add Up for San Francisco. (2017). San Francisco Financial Justice Project, Office of the Treasurer & 
Tax Collector. 
5 Deputy Public Defenders, Felony Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March – April) 
6 Dobbie, W., Goldin, J., & Yang, C. S. (2018). The Effects of Pre-Trial Detention on Conviction, Future Crime, and Employment: Evidence 
from Randomly Assigned Judges. American Economic Review, 108(2), 201-240. doi:10.1257/aer.20161503 
7 Lowenkamp, C. T., VanNostrand, M., & Holsinger, A. (2013). The Hidden Costs of Pretrial Detention. Laura and John Arnold Foundation. 
Retrieved from http://www.arnoldfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/LJAF_Report_hidden-costs_FNL.pdf 



5 
 

In keeping with its mission to ensure access to justice for all, the San Francisco Public Defender’s Office launched 
its pilot “Pre-Trial Release Unit” (PRU) in October of 2017. The PRU aims to reduce wealth disparities in access to 
pre-arraignment representation by providing legal advice and advocacy to indigent defendants in the critical 
period between booking and arraignment. The PRU also seeks to reduce the county jail population – a key 
priority shared by the Mayor, District Attorney, and Sherriff’s Department – by increasing the likelihood of 
release pre- and at arraignment.  
 
This report will examine whether pre-arraignment representation, as provided by the PRU, has a significant 
impact on pre-trial incarceration of indigent defendants. Specifically, this report will assess the PRU’s progress in 
its goals of 1) rectifying wealth disparities in pre-arraignment representation and 2) reducing the jail population. 
We hope that this analysis aides the Public Defender’s Office, as well as the City and County of San Francisco, in 
its decision whether to continue this pilot program past the nine-month trial period.  
 
 

  



6 
 

Policy Background  
 

Early Representation a Long-Held Priority for the Public Defender’s Office  
The San Francisco Public Defender’s Office provides high-quality legal representation to indigent defendants 
within the City and County of San Francisco (the City). Due in large part to this robust counsel, the City has made 
progress in ensuring equitable access to justice regardless of wealth. However, wealthy arrestees continue to 
hold a significant advantage over the indigent in one critical area: access to pre-arraignment representation.  
 
Arrestees who are able to hire private counsel have access to legal representation and advocacy immediately 
upon being arrested and booked into jail. In contrast, indigent arrestees are historically not assigned a public 
defender until arraignment, which can occur three to four days after arrest. The San Francisco Public Defender’s 
Office has been acutely aware of these wealth disparities – and the resulting differences in pre-arraignment 
legal advice and advocacy – for several years. However, prior to the funding of the Pre-Trial Release Unit in Fall 
2017, the office had been unable to expand their indigent representation to the pre-arraignment period. 8  

 
San Francisco Faces a Mandatory Reduction in Jail Population 
The City and County of San Francisco spends approximately $119.5 million each year on programs targeting the 
City’s justice-involved population.9 A significant portion of this funding is used to house individuals within the 
City’s jail system: County Jail #2 (located at 425 7th St.), County Jails #3 and #4 (located at 850 Bryant St.), and 
County Jail #5 (located at #1 Moreland Dr. San Bruno).10 The San Francisco Sheriff’s Department also maintains a 
locked ward at San Francisco General Hospital, which houses incarcerated individuals in need of intensive 
medical treatment. 11 
 
Out of the four primary jails responsible for housing prisoners, two (County Jails #3 and #4) have been deemed 
unsafe for permanent habitation. County Jails #3 and #4, both located in the Hall of Justice, have been classified 
as “seismically unfit” by inspectors and pose a serious threat to incarcerated individuals in the event of a major 
earthquake or similar emergency. 12 In 2015, the City proposed construction of a new facility to replace County 
Jails #3 and #4. However, after months of advocacy from local activists and criminal justice stakeholders, the 
Board of Supervisors voted unanimously in January 2016 to reject the City’s proposal. Instead, the Board called 
for the formation of a working group to propose alternative measures, with the ultimate goal of reducing the jail 
population enough to allow for the permanent closure of Jails #3 and #4.13    
 

                                                
8 Program Staff, Pre-Trial Release Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March - April) 
9 Final Report, Work Group to Re-envision the Jail Replacement Project. (2017). 
10 County Jail #1, located at 425 7th Street, is used for processing of booking and release only. No individuals are housed here.  
11 San Francisco County Jail System Facility Descriptions. Retrieved from http://www.sfsheriff.com/jail_info.html 
12 Final Report, Work Group to Re-envision the Jail Replacement Project. (2017). 
13 Ibid. 



7 
 

The “Work Group to Re-envision the Jail Replacement Project” (Work Group) 
was formed in March 2016. Chaired by San Francisco Sherriff Vicki Hennessy, 
Barbara Garcia (Director of Department of Public Health), and Roma Guy 
(community member and representative of Taxpayers for Public Safety), its 
membership consisted of 39 local criminal justice and mental health experts, 
including the San Francisco Public Defender’s Office. Given its mandate to 
facilitate the permanent closure of unsafe county jails, the Work Group prioritized 
methods for a significant, sustainable reduction in the city’s jail population.14 
 
To assess the reduction required, the Work Group compared the total number of 
usable beds in San Francisco’s jail system to the average daily jail population in 
the first six months of 2016. They concluded that in order to allow for the 
permeant closure of County Jails #3 and #4, the jail population must be reduced 
by an average of 166-228 individuals per day (see Figure 1). This is a necessary 
jail bed reduction of 83,220 bed days per year. 15 16 
 

Pre-Trial Intervention a Promising Approach  
San Francisco’s jail population largely consists of individuals who have not been 
convicted of a crime. 85 percent of individuals in San Francisco county jail are in 
the pre-trial phase, meaning they have not been sentenced and are still awaiting 
resolution of their case.17 Although a portion of these individuals may be 
ineligible for release due to out-of-county warrants, federal holds, or 
parole/probation violations, a significant portion of the total jail population (45 
percent) is eligible for release pre-trial.18 This indicates that pre-trial intervention is 
a promising means of reducing the jail population overall.  
 
Of course, jail population is not equivalent to jail bed day use. The majority of San Francisco’s jail population (65 
percent) is made up of individuals who stay in jail for 15 days or less. Despite their numbers, these individuals 
account for only 3 percent of total jail bed days used. In contrast, a small minority of individuals (12 percent) 

                                                
14 San Francisco Department of Public Health. Work Group to Re-envision the Jail Replacement Project. Retrieved from 
https://www.sfdph.org/dph/comupg/knowlcol/jrp/default.asp 
15 It is important to note that jail population reduction is measured in terms of jail bed days, not the total number of people in jail. This 
is due to the fact that individuals are incarcerated for different lengths of time; reducing the short-term stays of several people in jail 
would have the same impact on average daily jail population as reducing the long-term stay of one individual. Further, a jail bed 
calculation allows us to consider the resources saved by reducing an individual’s length of detention, even if he/she is not entirely 
released from jail.  
16 Final Report, Work Group to Re-envision the Jail Replacement Project. (2017). 
17 Update to the Jail Population Forecast (Rep.). (2015). City Services Auditor, Office of the Controller, City and County of San Francisco. 
18 Percentage derived from daily jail population snapshot on August 23, 2016.  Work Group to Re-envision the Jail Replacement Project 
Report Release & Next Steps. Presentation to Board of Supervisors, June 13, 2017, San Francisco. Retrieved from 
https://www.sfdph.org/dph/files/jrp/BOS-Presentation-6-13-2017.pdf 
 

Source: Work Group to Re-envision 
the Jail Replacement Project,  

Board of Supervisors Presentation 
 (June 13, 2017) 

 

Figure 1:  Jail Population vs. Capacity  
 



8 
 

have long-term jail stays of over 180 days. Although a much smaller portion of the population, these individuals 
account for 78 percent of 2015 jail bed days used (see Figure 2).19  
 
Practically, this indicates that a similar reduction in jail bed days could be achieved by either 1) targeting many 
individuals with short-term stays, or 2) targeting fewer individuals with significantly longer stays.  
 
Figure 2: 2015 Incarcerated Individuals, Share of Bed Days vs. Share of Population  

 
Source: Work Group to Re-envision the Jail Replacement Project, Board of Supervisors Presentation (June 13, 2017) 
 
This analysis can be helpful in measuring the impact of various interventions on jail bed day reduction. However, 
this approach is limited in predicting the impact of pre-trial intervention. That’s because pre-trial intervention 
may itself impact the length of time that an individual is in jail.  Consider an individual who receives pre-trial 
intervention and who stays in jail less than 15 days. If this pre-trial intervention was effective in securing her 
release, it is likely that she would have been incarcerated for much longer – accounting for a significantly larger 
share of jail bed days – had she not received treatment.  The causal effects of pre-trial intervention make it 
difficult to determine a critical threshold for impact using program size alone. 
 

Launch of the Pre-Trial Release Unit  
In their final report, the Work Group recommended pre-trial intervention as a promising approach to reducing 
San Francisco’s jail population. Their recommendation aligned ideally with the Public Defenders’ long-held 
priority of reducing wealth disparities in access to pre-arraignment representation.  
 
The Pre-Trial Release Unit was launched on October 2, 2017, supported by $355,000 in funding from the Mayor’s 
FY 2017 – 2018 budget. The goals of the unit reflect the twin priorities of its founding:  1) rectify wealth 
disparities in pre-trial outcomes, and 2) reduce San Francisco’s jail population.  

                                                
19 Final Report, Work Group to Re-envision the Jail Replacement Project. (2017). 



9 
 

Wealth Disparities in Pre-Arraignment Representation  
 
Significant wealth disparities exist in access to pre-arraignment representation. Individuals who are able to hire 
a private attorney have access to legal representation and advocacy immediately upon being booked into jail. In 
contrast, prior to the launch of the Pre-Trial-Release Unit, low-income arrestees were not assigned a public 
defender until arraignment. Figure 3 provides a basic overview of the pre-arraignment process prior to the PRU.  
 
Figure 3: Overview of Process from Arrest to Arraignment, Prior to PRU Implementation 

 
Source: Arrest to Arraignment Process Maps, Office of the Controller, City and County of San Francisco  
 



10 
 

As noted in Figure 3, California law requires that individuals are arraigned no more than 48 working hours after 
arrest.20 Practically, this means that individuals arrested during non-working hours (on the weekends or holidays) 
may have to wait several additional days before their case is either discharged or arraigned.21   
 
The San Francisco District Attorney’s Office is currently working to reduce these delays by extending charging 
decisions to non-working days (weekend rebooking).22 However, it is important to note that arraignment hearings 
continue to occur exclusively during working hours.23 Therefore, individuals arrested at the end of the week and 
formally charged by the DA may still have to wait up to 96 hours before arraignment.24 

 
Criminal Case Impacts of Pre-Arraignment Representation  
This disparate access to pre-arraignment representation can severely impact individuals’ later criminal case 
proceedings. Wealthy individuals who retain private counsel prior to arraignment are more quickly informed of 
their constitutional rights, receive critical early investigation, and have access to direct re-booking advocacy. All 
of these services – traditionally unavailable to indigent defendants – can help to ensure individuals are not 
overly charged, wrongfully convicted, and/or unnecessarily incarcerated.   
 
Invocation of Rights: Arrestees who can afford to pay for pre-arraignment representation are able to invoke 
their constitutional rights under the 5th and 6th amendments. Specifically, arrestees are informed by their 
attorney that they have a right to legal counsel in critically-important police interviews, and they are likely 
instructed by their attorney to invoke this right in any and all communication with police.  
 
Despite media popularization of Miranda rights, the majority of arrestees do not fully understand the extent of 
their rights as criminal case defendants.25 As a result, arrestees may unintentionally self-incriminate (or appear to 
self-incriminate) in conversations with police. Young adults, non-native English speakers, and people with 
cognitive disabilities and mental illness face particularly steep barriers to understanding, and are therefore 
particularly vulnerable to self-incrimination. However, because police interviews typically happen within 24 
hours of arrest – the period before a public defender is traditionally assigned -- the most vulnerable arrestees 
are often those most likely to waive their constitutional rights. Future charging decisions, plea offers, and trial 
decisions may be significantly impacted as a result.  
 

                                                
20 California Penal Code §825  
21 Final Report, Work Group to Re-envision the Jail Replacement Project. (2017). 
22 Ibid. 
23 The Superior Court, County of San Francisco maintains normal working hours and does not operate on weekends or holidays.  
24 To account for this, our propensity score analysis does not incorporate individuals who are booked on Fridays. Nonetheless, PRU 
program staff report that individuals booked on Thursdays may also remain incarcerated over the weekend prior to arraignment. In 
order to maintain a conservative estimate, we assume 96 hours as the maximum time from booking to arraignment. See “Study 
Assumptions and Limitations” for further information.   
25 Rogers, R. (2011, November). Getting it wrong about Miranda rights: False beliefs, impaired reasoning, and professional neglect. 
Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22082397 
 



11 
 

Early Investigation: Pre-arraignment representation is also critically important to the successful assembly of 
evidence. Surveillance footage, an increasingly weighty component of criminal case evidence, often 
automatically updates every 48–72 hours and may be inaccessible even three days post-arrest. Early 
investigation is also important in securing witness testimony; the more time passes between an alleged incident 
and investigation, the more difficult it becomes to identify and locate witnesses. This can be a particular 
challenge in San Francisco due to the high proportion of transient and homeless individuals.26 Without concrete 
home addresses or reliable contact information, it can be virtually impossible to access and interview these 
individuals even days post-arrest.  
 
In interviews with deputy public defenders, numerous attorneys reinforced the importance of early investigation. 
When asked about challenges to legal defense, 5 out of 6 attorneys interviewed voluntarily reported difficulties 
in accessing some forms of evidence once they had been formally assigned to the case.27 In contrast, wealthy 
arrestees who can afford pre-arraignment counsel have significantly increased likelihood of obtaining what may 
become critically important evidence in later case proceedings.  
 
Rebooking Advocacy: As outlined in Figure 3, an arrestee is both booked and rebooked during the pre-
arraignment period.  Initial booking occurs at jail intake, when an SFPD officer files informal booking charges 
based on his/her interpretation of alleged offense. Rebooking occurs approximately 24 to 48 hours after initial 
booking, when the District Attorney makes a decision to file formal charges in an arrestees’ case.  
 
Unlike initial booking, the DA’s rebooking decision is based on further case investigation. This makes rebooking a 
critical opportunity for legal advocacy: if attorneys are retained prior to rebooking, they can directly petition the 
DA to reduce or dismiss their clients’ charges. Rebooking advocacy is also closely related to early investigation. If 
attorneys uncover critical or even exculpatory evidence during early investigation, they can present this evidence 
during rebooking to help secure their clients’ immediate release.  
 
From a systems perspective, rebooking is also an important check on police discretion exercised during the initial 
booking stage. A 2017 report by University of Pennsylvania’s Quattrone Center found that racial bias in police 
booking charges is a primary driver of overall racial disparities in San Francisco’s criminal case outcomes.28 When 
an individual is incorrectly or overly-charged by police, rebooking is the earliest opportunity to correct this 
injustice.  
 
Despite its importance, however, rebooking advocacy is primarily accessible only to wealthy arrestees. Because 
rebooking occurs prior to arraignment – and the start of traditional public defender representation – indigent 
individuals have been largely left out.    

                                                
26 Program Staff, Pre-Trial Release Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March – April ) 
27 Deputy Public Defenders, Felony Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March - April) 
28 Owens, E., Kerrison, E. M., & Da Silveira, B. S. (2017). Examining Racial Disparities in Criminal Case Outcomes among Indigent 
Defendants in San Francisco. Quattrone Center for the Fair Administration of Justice, University of Pennsylvania Law School. 
 



12 
 

Wealth Disparities in Pre-Arraignment Release  
 
Due in part to differences in access to pre-arraignment representation, significant wealth disparities continue to 
exist in pre-arraignment release. When compared to wealthy arrestees, low-income arrestees are more likely to 
remain in custody pre-arraignment.29  
 

The Role of Money Bail  
A primary driver of this disparity is the United States’ reliance on money bail. When an individual is booked into 
jail, his/her bail is set according to alleged offense.30 At arraignment, a judge may decide to alter a defendant’s 
bail amount based on community ties, criminal history, and public safety risk.31  
 
Wealthy arrestees who can afford to post the full bail amount (as indicated by the Superior Court’s fixed fee 
schedule) are able to remain in their homes and communities while awaiting formal charges and/or arraignment. 
If the District Attorney decides not to file charges in their case or they are exonerated at trial, these individuals 
get a full bail refund. In contrast, indigent arrestees who wish to be released pre-arraignment must pay a 
nonrefundable bail fee (generally 10 percent of set bail) to a bail bondsman.32 Because this fee is non-
refundable, indigent individuals and their families may find themselves thousands of dollars in debt, even if 
charges are never filed against them.33 
 
Some low-income arrestees are able to pay the non-refundable fee needed to secure release on bail. However, 
given San Francisco’s particularly high bail schedule, the majority of the city’s indigent arrestees are unable to 
afford even this 10 percent fee.34 A recent report from the San Francisco Treasurer’s office found that 40 – 50 
percent of San Francisco’s pre-trial jail population would be released if they could afford to pay bail.35 
 
Unequal Access to Bail Advocacy: Unequal access to early representation reinforces this disparity in pre-
arraignment release. Although bail is set at booking using a fixed fee schedule, the California Penal Code 
empowers most arrestees to make an application for reduced bail prior to arraignment -- within 8 hours of being 
booked into county jail.36 Without legal counsel, there is no mechanism for an incarcerated individual to file this 

                                                
29"Not in it for Justice" | How California's Pretrial Detention and Bail System Unfairly Punishes Poor People. Human Rights Watch. (2017, 
June 06).  
30 Superior Court of California, County of San Francisco, Felony-Misdemeanor Bail Schedule. (2017, July 1). 
31 California Penal Code §1275 
32 Do the Math: Money Bail Doesn't Add Up for San Francisco. (2017). San Francisco Financial Justice Project, Office of the Treasurer & 
Tax Collector. 
33 Ibid.  
34 Median felony bail in California is estimated to be $50,000, more than five times the national average. San Francisco’s bail schedule 
is estimated to be in the top highest quartile in the state.   
35 Do the Math: Money Bail Doesn't Add Up for San Francisco. (2017). San Francisco Financial Justice Project, Office of the Treasurer & 
Tax Collector. 
36 California Penal Code §§1268–1276. 



13 
 

petition.  But if an arrestee is wealthy enough to hire private counsel pre-arraignment, his/her attorney can use 
this approach to advocate for reduced bail almost immediately.  

 
Wealth Disparities in Release at Arraignment  
Indigent arrestees are similarly disadvantaged in their access to release at arraignment. This is primarily due to 
differences in attorneys’ capacity to present a robust, individualized case for release.  
 
Private attorneys hired immediately upon arrest or booking have approximately 48 hours to conduct early 
investigation, gather evidence of clients’ community ties, and otherwise prepare a strong case for their client’s 
release at arraignment. In contrast, public defenders must attempt to gather any/all relevant information on the 
day of arraignment itself.  
 
Aside from obvious preparation limitations, public defenders face barriers in communicating with clients and 
receiving critical case information. First, attorney-client interaction is extremely limited prior to arraignment. In 
interviews, attorneys reported having an average of 5-10 minutes to meet and speak with each client prior to the 
start of proceedings.37 The scope of their conversation is also limited. Because all pre-arraignment interviews 
take place in large communal holding cell, attorneys are unable to discuss case specifics with their client out of 
concern for confidentially.  And while attorneys do ask their clients questions about community ties, they have 
no opportunity to verify or illustrate this information before presenting it to the judge. Finally, public defenders 
are only provided access to critical case information (including client’s arrest report and RAP sheet) immediately 
prior to the start of arraignment. With limited time to read and process this information – which may be 
extensive – public defender attorneys have little ability to prepare robust, case-specific arguments for their 
clients.38  
 
Private attorneys hold a final advantage in their ability to argue for release at arraignment: clients’ community 
contacts. Private attorneys who are hired 24-48 hours prior to arraignment can recruit clients’ friends, family 
members, and even employer(s) to attend the arraignment hearing in-person. Attorneys report that an in-person 
presence at arraignment can be incredibly helpful in securing a clients’ release, mainly by demonstrating the 
strength of an individual’s local and community ties.39 However, prior to the PRU, in-person recruitment was a 
virtual impossibility for indigent arrestees. If the first time a public defender meets his/her client is at 
arraignment, it is too late to bring anyone else to the courtroom.    
  

                                                
37 Deputy Public Defenders, Felony Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March - April) 
38 Ibid.  
39 Ibid.  



14 
 

The Impact of Pre-Trial Incarceration  
 
Wealth disparities in pre-trial release are particularly problematic when considering the severe consequences of 
pre-trial detention on conviction, sentencing, and stability post-release. Research demonstrates that defendants 
who are detained pre-trial are more likely to be convicted, sentenced to jail, and remain in jail for longer periods 
of time.  
 
Recent studies have found significant correlation between pre-trial detention and increased likelihood of 
conviction. A 2016 study conducted by the National Bureau of Economic Research found that defendants 
detained pre-trial were significantly more likely to be convicted than similarly situated defendants who had been 
released pre-trial.40  It is important to note that this disparity is driven both by an increase in guilty pleas and 
guilty findings: pre-trial detention was found to be associated with a 27.5 percent increase in the likelihood of a 
defendant pleading guilty and a 27.3 percent increase in the likelihood of being found guilty by judge or jury.41 
 
Considering that criminal cases can take several months and even years to resolve, it is unsurprising that 
defendants detained pre-trial tend to plead guilty more quickly and at higher rates. Even individuals who are 
innocent of alleged crimes may decide that pleading guilty is the best way to secure release; this is particularly 
true for defendants who, due to credit for time served, become eligible for release immediately upon entering a 
guilty plea. 42 43 
 
On the other hand, a defendant’s appearance during trial has been shown to have a significant effect on his/her 
likelihood of being found guilty.44 The positive relationship between pre-trial detention and guilty findings may 
be due in part to this appearance bias; jail jumpsuits and shackles may make a defendant appear “more guiltily” 
when compared with a professionally dressed defendant. Jurors may also assume that defendants who do not 
qualify for pre-trial release are in fact a threat to public safety, further biasing their perceptions of the 
defendant.45  
 
In addition to increased likelihood of conviction, defendants detained pre-trial face increase likelihood of being 
sentenced to jail. A 2016 study of 380,000 misdemeanor defendants in Harris County Texas found stark 
differences in sentencing among detained and non-detained defendants: defendants detained pre-trial were 43 

                                                
40 Dobbie, W., Goldin, J., & Yang, C. S. (2018). The Effects of Pre-Trial Detention on Conviction, Future Crime, and Employment: Evidence 
from Randomly Assigned Judges. American Economic Review, 108(2), 201-240. doi:10.1257/aer.20161503 
41 Ibid. 
42 Meghan Sacks & Alissa R. Ackerman (2012) Pretrial detention and guilty pleas: if they cannot afford bail they must be guilty, Criminal 
Justice Studies, 25:3, 265-278, DOI: 10.1080/1478601X.2012.705536 
43 Pinto, N. (2015, August 13). The Bail Trap. The New York Times Magazine. Retrieved from 
https://www.nytimes.com/2015/08/16/magazine/the-bail-trap.html 
44 Gunnell, J. J., & Ceci, S. J. (2010). When emotionality trumps reason: A study of individual processing style and juror bias. Behavioral 
Sciences & the Law, 28(6), 850-877. doi:10.1002/bsl.939 
45 Dobbie, W., Goldin, J., & Yang, C. S. (2018). The Effects of Pre-Trial Detention on Conviction, Future Crime, and Employment: Evidence 
from Randomly Assigned Judges. American Economic Review, 108(2), 201-240. doi:10.1257/aer.20161503 



15 
 

percent more likely to be sentenced to jail time.46 A 2013 study of over 150,000 bookings into a Kentucky county 
jail found similar results for both felony and misdemeanors offenses: detained defendants were over four times 
more likely to be sentenced to jail and over three times more likely to be sentenced to prison than defendants 
who were released pre-trial.47 Pre-trial detention is associated with longer sentencing. In Harris County Texas, 
detained defendants received sentences that were more than twice as long, on average, when compared to 
similarly situated defendants who had been released pre-trial.48 Kentucky arrestees detained pre-trial were found 
to have jail sentences nearly three times as long.49 
  
Finally, pre-trial detention is correlated with increased likelihood of recidivism. Another study analyzed the same 
sample of 150,000 bookings into a Kentucky jail from July 2009 to July 2010. The authors found that defendants 
detained pre-trial were 1.3 times more likely to be rearrested within the next 24 months, compared with 
similarly-situated releasees.50 This relationship was shown to strengthen over time; the longer a defendant was 
detained pre-trial, the greater the likelihood of later arrest. This effect is particularly great for low-risk 
defendants – even 48 hours in jail was shown to increase recidivism of low-risk or first-time offenders by almost 
40 percent.51 
 
The long-term consequences of pre-trial detention are important to understand, not only as they impact the 
integrity of our justice system, but also as they drive overall trends in jail population. Practically, an increase in 
the number of defendants detained pre-trial not only results in more jail bed days used during the pre-trial 
period, but also leads to a proven increase in jail bed days required post-conviction and in future arrests. Pre-trial 
release is therefore an investment that continues to yield returns.  
 
 
 

                                                
46 Heaton, P., Mayson, S., & Stevenson, M. (2016). The Downstream Consequences of Misdemeanor Pre-Trial Detention. Quattrone 
Center for the Fair Administration of Justice, University of Pennsylvania School of Law. 
47 Lowenkamp, C. T., VanNostrand, M., & Holsinger, A. (2013). Investigating the Impact of Pretrial Detention on Sentencing Outcomes. 
Laura and John Arnold Foundation. 
48 Heaton, P., Mayson, S., & Stevenson, M. (2016). The Downstream Consequences of Misdemeanor Pre-Trial Detention. Quattrone 
Center for the Fair Administration of Justice, University of Pennsylvania School of Law. 
49 Lowenkamp, C. T., VanNostrand, M., & Holsinger, A. (2013). Investigating the Impact of Pretrial Detention on Sentencing Outcomes. 
Laura and John Arnold Foundation. 
50 Lowenkamp, C. T., VanNostrand, M., & Holsinger, A. (2013). The Hidden Costs of Pretrial Detention. Laura and John Arnold Foundation.  
51 Ibid. 



16 
 

Program Overview 
 
The San Francisco Public Defender’s Pre-Trial Release Unit is staffed by two full-time attorneys and one full-time 
investigator.  From October 2, 2017 through February 28, 2018, the PRU provided 1,024 defendants with pre-
trial representation. 
 

Types of PRU Intervention  
PRU staff provide clients with a variety of pre-arraignment representations. In order to be considered a PRU 
client, defendants must receive at least one of 8 distinct services (detailed below and in Figure 4).  
 

Direct Representation: Attorneys provide direct representation in the form of interviews with recently-
booked indigent defendants. The purpose of these interviews is to 1) Generate leads on potential 
helpful or exculpatory evidence, (including witness names and details of arrest) as possible, 2) Compile 
information on clients’ life circumstances, including family, job history, health, and community ties, for 
use in future court proceedings, and 3) Allow for invocation of rights in any future interaction with 
police.52 

 
Attorney of Record Notification: Staff notifies fellow PD attorneys when their client has been re-
arrested. Prior to the PRU, PD attorneys often did not know their client had been re-arrested until after 
they had been arraigned.53  

 
Early Investigation: PRU staff conducts investigations into circumstance of arrest, identifies weaknesses 
in the charges levied against the defendant, if possible, and compiles exculpatory and/or helpful 
evidence for use in future case proceedings. PRU investigations may include identification of key 
witnesses, interviews with witnesses, review of surveillance footage, and/or contemporaneous 
documentation of mental or physical ailments.  

 
Parole Advocacy: The PRU also provides parole advocacy for defendants arrested while on parole. 
Parolees can be arrested for failing to adhere to strict parole guidelines, or for an alleged offense 
unrelated to their parole status. When these individuals are arrested, they face an automatic “Parole 
Hold” for up to 10 days. Parole holds can only be lifted by a defendant’s Parole Agent. PRU staff contacts 
defendants’ Parole Agents and requests that their holds be lifted.  At the Agent’s request, and often as a 
condition of release, PRU staff meets with the defendant, relays communication from their Agent, and 
urges adherence to parole conditions.  

 

                                                
52 Prior to every visit, PRU staff use CMS and Gideon to identify conflicts of interest.  If there is an actual or possible conflict of interest, 
the booked individual will not be interviewed by the PRU. 
53 Deputy Public Defenders, Felony Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March – April) 
 



17 
 

Family/Friend Contacts: Arrestees are often unable to alert their friends or family members upon being 
booked into jail. Outside assistance can be critical, however; If contacted, a clients’ friends/families can 
help to coordinate childcare, ensure housing is maintained, communicate work absences to employers, 
and otherwise help to fulfill client’s obligations while incarcerated.  

 
In-Person Arraignment Recruitment: For defendants who have strong family and community ties, PRU 
staff recruits supportive individuals to attend the defendant’s arraignment. In-person attendance can 
demonstrate a defendant’s investment in the local community, an important indicator of “flight risk”. 

 
In-Jail Referrals: For defendants who are injured, ill, or suffering from mental illness, PRU staff provides 
immediate referrals to in-jail medical and psychiatric assistance. 

 
Bail Advocacy: To facilitate pre-arraignment release for indigent defendants, attorneys submit 1269c 
petitions to the Court for release or reduction of bail. 

 
Figure 4: Total PRU Client Per Intervention Type   

 
 

Client Selection Process  
While PRU attorneys aim to provide assistance to all individuals booked into San Francisco county jail, the unit’s 
limited capacity makes this unrealistic. Instead, attorneys prioritize clients for intervention based on the 
following factors:  
 



18 
 

Charge severity: PRU attorneys provide representation almost exclusively to individuals charged with 
felonies. Of those charged with felonies, attorneys prioritize individuals charged with serious and/or 
violent offenses. 

 
Previous criminal history: When possible, PRU attorneys prioritize individuals who, due to previous 
convictions or current charges, may qualify for sentencing enhancements under California’s “Three 
Strikes” law.  

 
Parole violations: PRU attorneys provide parole advocacy to individuals at risk of flash incarceration or 
parole revocation. This intervention is provided regardless of presence or severity of criminal charge.  

 
It is important to note that PRU intervention falls into two primary categories: arrest-responsive intervention, 
which includes pre-arraignment interviews, case investigation, attorney notification, contacts to family or friends, 
and pre-arraignment recruitment; and parole advocacy, which is provided to clients regardless of presence or 
severity of criminal charge. This distinction is important in determining the impact of PRU intervention and is 
discussed further in our “Evaluation Results” section (see page 27).  
 

  



19 
 

Client Characteristics 
 
Defendants receiving PRU services are predominately male. More than 
88 percent of PRU clients (901) are male, compared with 12 
percent (122) female clients. This is consistent with the over-
representation of men in the criminal justice system overall.  
 
It is important to note that while the PRU represented at least 2 
clients who identify as transgender, this information is not 
provided in gender data obtained from the Court Management 
System (CMS). Until February 20th of this year, the San Francisco 
Sherriff’s Department classified jailed individuals by the gender 
assigned to them at birth. While the Sherriff’s Department now 
allows transgender individuals to be classified according to their 
gender identity (a necessary step to ensure transgender women 
are not housed with cis-gendered men), this policy took effect 
only 8 days prior to the end of our 5-month data sample. As such, 
gender information provided here largely does not account for 
transgender individuals.  
 
The average age of PRU clients is 37. Approximately 38 percent of PRU clients are between the ages of 25 and 
36; 16 percent are between the ages of 18 and 25; 22 percent are between the ages of 36-45; and 25percent are 
46 or older. Clients who received PRU treatment are an average of one year older than non-treated clients, and 
this difference was found to be statistically significant. Because age of client is not a factor in client selection 
(see “Client Selection Process” above), this is likely due to the fact that age is significantly correlated with 
likelihood of prior arrest. Clients’ criminal history is considered in prioritization of PRU clients, likely explaining 
the difference in average age among treated and non-treated groups.  
 
Figure 6: PRU Clients, by Age  

 

Figure 5: PRU Clients, by Gender 



20 
 

Using data accessed through the CMS/Gideon systems, we determined that the racial demographics of PRU 
clients largely reflect the racial makeup of the total jail population (see Figure 7). Approximately 27 percent of 
PRU clients are white, 47 percent are black, 17 percent are Latino/a, 5 percent are Asian or Pacific Islander, and 4 
percent are identified as either “Unknown” or “Other”.  
 
As was the case with gender data, it is important to note the limitations of the race data available within San 
Francisco’s Court Management System. Although PRU attorneys keep detailed race data within client files and 
case notes, this information has not yet been uploaded to shared tracking spreadsheets.  CMS/Gideon data only 
classifies individuals as “White,” “Black,” “Asian/Pacific Islander,” and “Other” -- noticeably missing is a 
classification for Latino/a individuals.  This is problematic for the purposes of this research, because evidence 
shows that Latino/a arrestees in San Francisco face more severe pre-trial case outcomes than similarly situated 
White defendants.54  
 
To more accurately categorize Latino/a individuals, we used 2010 census data to identify surnames for which at 
least 85 percent of census respondents identified as Latino/a. By matching the surnames of arrestees’ in our 
sample with these assumed-Latino surnames, we were able to appropriately classify Latinos as 17 percent of 
PRU clients and 16 percent of the jail population overall.   
 
Figure 7: PRU Clients and All Booked Individuals, by Race 

 
 
Finally, PRU clients face significantly more severe booking charges than non-treated arrestees. Clients’ top 
booking charges were grouped into 11 distinct categories based on charge summary code (see Figure 8).55 
Summary codes range from 1- 74, with 1 constituting the most severe charge (“Willful Homicide”), and 74 
constituting the least severe (“Misc. Traffic Violations”).  
                                                
54 Indigent Latino defendants in San Francisco are convicted of 10 percent more misdemeanors and receive probation sentences that 
are 55 percent longer than white defendants. Source: Owens, E., Kerrison, E. M., & Da Silveira, B. S. (2017). Examining Racial Disparities 
in Criminal Case Outcomes among Indigent Defendants in San Francisco. Quattrone Center for the Fair Administration of Justice, 
University of Pennsylvania Law School. 
55 Clients’ top charge is determined by a Public Defender clerk, who reviews all charges and chooses the most severe (“top”) offense to 
enter into the Gideon database. While there is potential for human error here, we were unable to access additional client charges in an 
operational form.  



21 
 

 
The average summary code of PRU clients’ charges is 15.29. The median summary code associated with PRU 
charges is 9.  In contrast, non-PRU defendants have an average charge summary code of 33.28 and a median of 
31. Given the fact that PRU staff prioritizes more severe booking charges for representation, it is unsurprising 
that these differences are statistically significant. 
 
Figure 8: Booking Charge by Summary Code Category 

FELONY 

SUMMARY 
CODE CHARGES INCLUDED (SAMPLE) 

1 - 6 
Willful homicide, manslaughter (non-vehicular and vehicular), forcible rape, 

robbery, assault 
7 - 11 Kidnapping, burglary, theft, motor vehicle theft, forgery, checks, access cards 

12 - 15 narcotics, dangerous drugs, other drug violations 
16 - 18 Lewd or lascivious, unlawful sexual intercourse, other sex law violations 
19 - 24 Weapons, DUI, hit-and-run, escape, bookmaking, arson 

25 
Felony traffic, accessory, treason, bigamy, bribery, extort, neglect, perjury, 

malicious mischief, and gambling 
26 - 28 Federal offenses 

MISD. 

29 - 40 Dangerous drugs, petty theft, indecent exposure 
40 - 64  Prostitution, disorderly conduct, trespassing, DUI 

60 Public nuisance, contempt of court, perjury, highway 
65 - 67 Misc. traffic offenses 

 
Figure 9: PRU Treated and Non-Treated Individuals, by Charge Severity 



22 
 

Evaluation Methods 
 

Research Questions 
The following research questions guided our evaluation: 
 

1. Does early representation provided by the PRU have an impact on defendants’ length of pretrial 
incarceration? Specifically, does PRU intervention increase clients’ likelihood of release at arraignment? 

2. Does early representation help reduce wealth disparities in pre-arraignment outcomes? Specifically, 
does PRU intervention provide additional benefits to clients in the form of procedural justice, later case 
outcomes, and economic or family stability?  

3. How many jail bed days, if any, are saved as a result of PRU treatment?  
 
A mixed-methods approach was used to answer the research questions above. 
 

Quantitative Analysis  
To quantitatively measure the impact of PRU treatment, we conducted an analysis of pre-trial criminal case 
outcomes for indigent arrestees booked during the first 5 months of the PRU program: October 2, 2017 - 
February 28, 2018.  
 
This dataset was generated primarily from the Public Defender’s GIDEON case management system, which draws 
from data maintained by the San Francisco County Superior Court’s larger case management database. Included 
in this dataset was client demographic information, information on booking charge, length of pre-trial 
incarceration, and out-of-county, parole, and probation holds, if applicable.  
 
We also analyzed internal PRU data, which is currently tracked by staff in a shared spreadsheet. While data is 
occasionally coded by activity, it is stored primarily in the form of qualitative case notes. A review of this data 
indicated that PRU representation can be separated into 8 primary categories:56 
 

- Client interviews; 
- Early case investigation; 
- Attorney notification/referral; 
- Parole advocacy; 
- Contacts to outside family, friends, employers, and housing; 
- In-person arraignment recruitment; and  
- In jail assistance 
- Bail advocacy 

 

                                                
56 The details of specific PRU interventions are explained in the “Program Overview” section. 



23 
 

Using PRU case notes, we coded these 8 distinct PRU interventions for each client served. We then merged PRU 
treatment data with our primary GIDEON booking dataset to generate a universe of 8,179 unique booking spells 
from October 2 2017 – February 28, 2018. Of all unique bookings into San Francisco jail during this time period, 
1,024 received some form of PRU representation.  
 
It is important to note that this dataset does not consist of 8,179 unique individuals, as individuals may be 
booked into jail multiple times over the five months studied. Unlike GIDEON and PRU data, this dataset is also 
not stored according to unique court number. This is due to the fact that an individual booked into jail at a 
specific time may be assigned multiple court numbers for the same booking spell, depending on his/her 
probation/parole holds and existing warrants.  To isolate clients’ unique booking spells, we merged arrest 
charge, hold, and warrant information for each client booked into jail at a unique time.  
 
In evaluating arraignment outcomes, it is also important to incorporate an analysis of defendants’ criminal 
history. Criminal history is a significant factor in the decision to release a client at arraignment,57 yet due to 
information barriers, it can be difficult to evaluate statistically.58 To approximate a defendant’s criminal history as 
closely as possible, we evaluated case information for all individuals arrested and booked into San Francisco 
County jail between January 1, 2013 and October 1, 2017 (immediately prior to the start of the PRU). Using 
arrestees’ SF number, a unique identifier within the Superior Court’s case management system, we matched 
defendants in our sample database with their local misdemeanor and felony arrest history over the previous 58 
months.  
 
While the PRU spreadsheet provided information on clients’ arraignment outcomes, this information was not 
available for non-PRU defendants. However, we were able to approximate custody status at arraignment using 
length of incarceration as a proxy. Given the typical arraignment timeline (in which defendants are arraigned 
anywhere from 24 to 96 hours after booking), we assumed that any individual incarcerated for 24 hours or less 
had been released prior to arraignment. We then assumed that individuals incarcerated for 96 hours or more had: 
1) been arraigned while in custody, and 2) had not been released at arraignment.  
 
That analysis left us with 988 non-treated defendants who had spent anywhere from 24 to 96 hours in jail. We 
pulled individual CMS records for 10 percent (98) of these cases and found that only 20 percent of these 
marginal defendants had been in custody at arraignment. Of these individuals, 80 percent were released at 
arraignment. 20 percent were denied release. 59 We then projected these ratios onto the remaining 890 non-
treated defendants.  

                                                
57 California Penal Code §§1318-1319.5, 1270 govern release on one’s own recognizance. 
58 The Public Defender does not have access to clients’ RAP sheets in aggregate form, making it difficult to operationalize clients’ 
conviction information. See “Assumptions and Limitations” for additional information on data challenges.  
59 For the purposes of this analysis, “in custody at arraignment” indicates that a client was arraigned on a criminal charge while in 
custody. “Not in custody at arraignment” indicates that a client was not arraigned on a criminal charge while in custody. Note that 
individuals classified as “not in custody” may have either: 1) been released prior to criminal charge arraignment, 2) had his/her charge 
dropped or dismissed prior to arraignment, or 3) did not face criminal arraignment due to parole/probation violation or out-of-county 
warrant. 
 



24 
 

The non-random nature of PRU selection prevented us from directly comparing pre-trial outcomes across treated 
and non-treated groups. Instead, we used a propensity score method to generate a control group of defendants 
similarly-situated to PRU clients. The propensity score (measured from 0 to 1) indicates the likelihood that a 
client would receive arrest-responsive PRU treatment given the following characteristics:  
 

- Age 
- Race 
- Gender 
- Out-of-county warrants (misdemeanor and felony) 
- Parole or probation holds 
- Criminal history (previous felony arrests and previous misdemeanor arrests) 
- In custody for at least 6 hours (to eliminate those ineligible for treatment due to immediate dismissal) 

 
We then used a “nearest neighbor” matching technique to match clients treated by the PRU with similarly-scored 
defendants who did not receive treatment. With comparable control and treatment groups, we could then isolate 
the average effect of PRU treatment.  
 
Because there was little selection bias associated with parole advocacy, a less extensive process was required to 
isolate treatment effect. After checking for randomness, we used a regression model to measure impact of parole 
advocacy on eligible parolees’ length of incarceration.   
 

Qualitative Interviews  
To further evaluate the impact of the PRU on pre-trial detention, clients’ stability, and likelihood of repeat 
involvement with the criminal justice system, the research team conducted interviews with a total of 14 
stakeholders.  
 

- Program Staff Interviews (4) 
o Director, Specialty Courts & Reentry Programs  
o 2 Deputy Public Defenders, Pre-Trial Release Unit  
o Investigator, Pre-Trial Release Unit 

 
- Attorney Interviews (6) 

o Deputy Public Defenders (Felony team) who have used information collected by the PRU in 
their arraignment proceedings. These interviews sought to determine whether information 
gathered by the PRU increased attorneys’ ability to argue effectively for their clients’ pre-
trial release. 

 
- Former Client Interviews (4) 

o Individuals who received pre-trial representation through the PRU. Interviews with former 
clients sought to isolate the impact of pre-trial incarceration on defendants’ health, family, 
and economic stability.  



25 
 

Evaluation Results  
 

PRU Intervention Reduces Length of Pre-Trial Incarceration   
 

i. Individuals who Receive Arrest-Responsive Intervention are Twice as Likely to be 
Released at Arraignment:  

Using a propensity score model to control for differences in characteristics across treatment and non-treatment 
groups (including age, race, gender, prior felony and misdemeanor arrests, out-of-county warrants, and severity 
of booking charge), we found that individuals who receive PRU intervention are more likely to be released at 
arraignment than similarly situated, non-treated arrestees.  
 
Figure 10 below illustrates the propensity scores of treated and control individuals before and after matching. 
While propensity scores differ significantly between the control and treatment groups prior to matching, the 
nearest-neighbor matching technique creates a new, parallel control group that consists only of individuals with 
like propensity scores.  
 
Figure 10: Propensity Scores of Treated and Non-Treated Individuals, Before and After Matching 
 

  
 
Figure 11: Effect of Treatment on Likelihood of Release at Arraignment:  
 

Not Treated Received Treatment Average Treatment on the Treated 

14%  
released at arraignment 

28%  
released at arraignment 

100 percent increase 
 (standard error .0282, T-stat 4.95) 

 
Because the likelihood of treatment (propensity score) is based on individuals’ underlying characteristics, our 
treatment and control groups consist of individuals who share similar booking charges, criminal history, and 
demographic makeup (age, race, and gender).  Matching on these characteristics allows us to isolate the average 



26 
 

impact of treatment on individuals receiving arrest-responsive intervention: a 100 percent increase in likelihood 
of release at arraignment (Figure 11).60  
 
The PRU’s significant influence on release at arraignment is consistent with the assessment of attorneys 
interviewed. As discussed at length on page 15, public defenders universally reported that – prior to the 
formation of the PRU – they had limited opportunities to prepare a robust case for release.  Attorneys were not 
able to meet with their clients until the afternoon of arraignment, and once there, could only spend an average 
of 5-10 minutes with them in a crowded, non-confidential holding cell.  In addition, because public defenders 
have extremely limited time to read case information and police reports at arraignment (the first time they have 
access to these documents) they have little information about their clients’ circumstance of arrest, criminal 
history, or ties to the community.  
 
In contrast, attorneys who relied on PRU-gathered information in their arraignment proceedings reported 
significant increases in their ability to argue for release. Six out of six attorneys interviewed reported that 
information provided by the PRU had “enabled them to successfully negotiate an improved outcome for their 
client at arraignment.”  Five out of six attorneys stated that they would not have been as successful without this 
information; all attorneys interviewed reported that the PRU had helped them argue successfully for at least one 
client’s release on his/her own recognizance at arraignment.61 
 
When asked to explain why they believed the PRU had been so impactful, attorneys reported it was primarily due 
to increased access to client information. After the PRU interviews a client, staff compiles relevant case and 
client information into a detailed memo, which is uploaded onto the public defenders’ shared Gideon database.62 
According to attorney interviews, PRU memos provide critical information about clients’ circumstance of arrest 
that would be otherwise unavailable before arraignment.  In addition, the PRU gathers information about clients’ 
family and community ties – a critical factor in the decision to release at arraignment. As one attorney stated: 
“We can now offer documentation of the program [our client] is in, their living situation…it’s very important.” 63 
 
Attorneys also attribute increased efficacy at arraignment to early investigation provided by the PRU. As 
discussed on page 10, early investigation involves interviews with key witnesses and family members, recovery 
of surveillance footage, and in some cases, conversations with complaining witnesses/victims. At its most basic, 
early investigation has been used to corroborate or enhance evidence of a clients’ community ties through 
documented conversations with family members, neighbors, and local organizations.64 At its most effective, early 
investigation has provided attorneys with compelling exculpatory evidence that they have used to argue for their 
clients’ immediate release.65  

                                                
60 See Appendix B for summary statistics  
61 Deputy Public Defenders, Felony Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March – April) 
62 Program Staff, Pre-Trial Release Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March - April) 
63 Deputy Public Defenders, Felony Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March – April) 
64 Ibid. 
65 Ibid. 
 



27 
 

Early investigation, as provided by the PRU, may also assist attorneys in crafting a sound legal defense. For 
example, even if a client discloses the details of his/her case to a public defender in their short pre-arraignment 
interview (discouraged by attorneys due to confidentiality concerns) and is able to provide a compelling alibi, 
attorneys are often hesitant to present this information to the court out of fear that it cannot be externally 
validated.66 In contrast, early investigation provides attorneys the verified information they need to begin 
building a robust case for release and/or exoneration from the first court appearance.67  
 
In fact, attorneys reported that early investigation may be helpful in securing release at arraignment even if no 
evidence is produced. As one attorney explained in discussing the procurement of surveillance footage, the 
absence of information can be information itself. “Even if a store refuses to provide video, we can sometimes use 
this refusal as evidence of bias...if we can start to plant the seed that this client might be innocent, the judge may 
decide to release.”68 
 
Finally, attorneys repeatedly stressed the importance of having clients’ friends and/or family members attend 
arraignment. As one attorney stated, “[In-person attendance] makes a huge difference. There are some judges 
where as long as someone comes for you, they’ll release you…that’s all they need, really.” The PRU contacted 
clients’ friends or family members in 91 cases over the study period, and formally recruited for an in-person 
presence at arraignment in 19 cases. 
 
According to attorney interviews, this recruitment has made a significant difference in arraignment outcomes. “If 
[arraignment is] the first chance for [my client] to talk to an attorney, he could give me information about his 
family… and I could tell the judge ‘okay he’s got a mother and a father and a fiancé here,’” this attorney 
continued.  “But if they’re not in court, it doesn’t matter. When the PRU talks to my clients ahead of time, the 
courtroom is filled with their family members…that makes a huge difference.”69 
 

ii. Parole Advocacy Reduces the Length of Parolee Incarceration by Avg. of 9 days:  
Over the course of the 5-month study period, 308 cases were charged with parole holds or violations. Of these 
308 cases, PRU attorneys provided parole advocacy in 231 (75 percent).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
66 Deputy Public Defenders, Felony Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March – April) 
67 Ibid.  
68 Ibid. 
69 Ibid.  



28 
 

Figure 13: Cases Receiving PRU Parole Advocacy, by Month  

 
We observed no statistically significant difference in the booking charges, age, or gender of those who received 
parole advocacy (75 percent of all eligible) and those did not receive parole advocacy (25 percent of all 
eligible).70 This is consistent with the reports of PRU staff, who indicated that they have no mechanism for 
prioritizing treatment among clients eligible for parole.   
 
To confirm that selection into parole advocacy was in fact random, we regressed a dummy variable indicating 
whether or not an individual had received parole advocacy on hours of pre-trial incarceration for eligible 
parolees, controlling for various covariates (including age, race, gender, prior felony and misdemeanor arrests, 
out-of-county warrants, and severity of booking charge). We then ran an identical regression without controlling 
for these covariates.  
 
Because controlling for covariates appears to have negligible effect on parole advocacy’s impact, we concluded 
that selection into parole advocacy was sufficiently random to validate the results of regression analysis. Among 
all eligible parolees, parole advocacy provided by the PRU reduced the length of incarceration by 230 hours 
(approx. 9.5 days). 71 
 
Qualitative evidence reinforces these findings. Internal tracking data counts 95 unique cases in which parole 
agents decided to lift a hold after being contacted by PRU staff. Although it is likely that a portion of these holds 
would have been lifted regardless of contact, data from case notes and program staff interviews suggest that 
agents may lift holds sooner than they otherwise would. For example, agents may have trouble accessing 
                                                
70 Interestingly, we found that individuals who received parole advocacy were more likely to be Black or Asian/Pacific Islander than 
those who did not receive treatment. While these differences were statistically significant, race did not have a statistically significant 
impact on hours of incarceration for parolees in our regression models, nor did inclusion of race controls significantly change the 
impact of parole advocacy on hours of incarceration (see Appendix B for full summary statistics).  
71 See Appendix B for full summary statistics  



29 
 

information on their client’s arrest, charge, and/or case progress; PRU provides this information and prompts a 
hold decision. In some cases, a parole agent may not yet even be aware of their client’s arrest; PRU contact 
provides these agents the opportunity to make a decision much earlier than otherwise possible.   
 
PRU staff may further reduce the length of parolee incarceration by offering to serve as a line of communication 
between agent and client. In several cases within the 5-month study period, PRU staff delivered messages or 
reprimands from agent to client as a condition of release. Prior to the PRU, agents’ main mechanism for 
reprimanding an incarcerated parolee was keeping him or her incarcerated (via either a flash incarceration or a 
parole petition). With PRU intervention, agents who may have otherwise filed a petition against a client – or kept 
them waiting in jail for additional days – can now stress the importance of parole adherence without increased 
incarceration.  
 
Finally, there is evidence that PRU intervention may keep parolees from having their parole violated. In one case, 
an individual had been unknowingly absconding from parole for several years. This is a very serious offense, 
particularly for a parolee of his status, and virtually always results in parole revocation. However, PRU staff was 
able to provide evidence of this individuals’ stable life (including documentation of steady employment, 
community ties, and improved health) to his parole agent. What would have almost certainly been a revocation 
of parole – with a maximum of 90 days in county jail and a likely prison sentence – became a brief jail stay 
instead.72 In another case, a parole agent was getting pressure to violate her client after a misdemeanor offense. 
Because PRU staff was able to get this client on alcohol treatment instead, the agent chose not to violate.73 
 

PRU Intervention Helps Close the Pre-Arraignment Wealth Gap 
As explained at length on pages 11-12, pre-trial representation is likely to benefit defendants’ in later criminal 
case proceedings. While these benefits were previously only available to wealthy arrestees with access to private 
attorneys, evidence suggests that PRU intervention may provide similar positive benefits for indigent arrestees. 
 

1. PRU Intervention May Positively Impact Later Case Outcomes:  
As described on page 12, early investigation may uncover evidence that would be otherwise inaccessible. 
Surveillance footage often automatically updates every 48 to 72 hours, and witnesses may be difficult to locate 
and interview even a few days after an arrest. Early investigation allows for the discovery of evidence that – 
while critical to ensuring a just case outcome – may have otherwise been lost.  PRU-provided witness accounts, 
contemporaneous documentation and available surveillance videos are all used by attorneys to build a robust 
defense for their clients. 
 
PRU intervention may also allow for the preservation of certain evidence. Throughout the course of the 5-month 
study period, PRU attorneys referred 28 clients to in-jail medical or psychological treatment. These referrals 
serve a dual purpose that is often overlooked: while they help to ensure that jailed individuals receive the 
treatment they need, in-jail referrals also provide an opportunity for contemporaneous documentation of medical 
                                                
72 Program Staff, Pre-Trial Release Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March – April); Former PRU 
Clients. [Personal interviews]. (2018, April). 
73 Program Staff, Pre-Trial Release Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March – April); 



30 
 

or psychological aliments. An individual who was struggling with mental health challenges during an alleged 
offense, for example, may later use this as part of his/her legal defense. However, because trial proceedings 
often occur months after arrest, this same individual may appear completely stable by the time his/her trial 
begins. Contemporaneous documentation of mental or physical issues, provided by the PRU, can be critical in 
ensuring that jurors or trial judges understand the reality of an incident regardless of time elapsed.74 
 
Finally, PRU staff instructs clients to avoid self-incrimination by: 1) avoiding case discussions on jail phones, and 
2) invoking their right to a lawyer in critically important police interviews. By increasing arrestees’ knowledge of 
their constitutional rights, PRU intervention may reduce the likelihood of self-incrimination – particularly among 
vulnerable populations most typically served by the Public Defender’s Office.  Future charging decisions, plea 
offers, and trial decisions may be positively impacted as a result.  
 

2. PRU Intervention Likely Increases Procedural Justice:  
A 2017 Gallup poll found that only 27 percent of Americans have a “great deal” or “quite a bit” of trust in our 
criminal justice system.75 This lack of confidence – while perhaps unsurprising – is concerning given its impact 
on what is referred to as “procedural justice”.  As it relates to the criminal justice system, procedural justice is 
most often defined as they way in which justice-involved individuals feel about the laws, processes, and 
procedures that govern them. Research indicates that if individuals trust the fairness of the laws and the actors 
that enforce them, they are more likely to follow the law.76  
 
Unfortunately, many arrestees find it difficult to navigate the complicated legal system in which they find 
themselves.77 This can further erode arrestees’ trust in the system, increasing their likelihood to reoffend.78 This 
challenge is central to current criminal justice reform efforts, and although important, is largely outside the 
scope of this research. However, evidence gathered during interviews with former PRU clients suggests that PRU 
intervention may improve procedural justice – with the potential for significant long-term benefit. 
 
In interviews, the majority of former clients reported that the PRU had helped them better understand the 
charges against them, their case, and the legal system overall. Three out of four clients interviewed reported 
that, prior to PRU intervention, they had little understanding of the process in which they found themselves. 
They described their experiences using the following phrases: “I had no idea how the system worked,” “I wasn’t 
sure how the process was going to work,” “no one told me anything.” After meeting with PRU attorneys however, 
they reported feeling respected, heard, and more knowledgeable about the process to come. One former client 
explained that after feeling previously like his word meant nothing, PRU attorneys were finally listening: “I 
believed [my attorney] believed me.”79 
                                                
74 Program Staff, Pre-Trial Release Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March – April). 
75 Gallup, Inc. (2017). Confidence in Institutions. Retrieved from http://news.gallup.com/poll/1597/confidence-institutions.aspx 
76 LaGratta, E. (2017). To Be Fair: Conversations About Procedural Justice. New York, NY: Center for Court Innovation. 
77 Rogers, R. (2011, November). Getting it wrong about Miranda rights: False beliefs, impaired reasoning, and professional neglect. 
Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22082397 
78 Beijersbergen, K. A., Dirkzwager, A. J., & Nieuwbeerta, P. (2015). Reoffending After Release. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 43(1), 63-
82. doi:10.1177/0093854815609643 
79 Former PRU Clients. [Personal interviews]. (2018, April). 



31 
 

 
Former clients’ feelings of comfort and acknowledgement suggest that the PRU is providing high-quality counsel 
on par with that previously only accessible to the wealthy. In addition, it is possible that by increasing clients’ 
sense of procedural justice, the PRU may help to reduce likelihood of re-arrest and recidivism.80  
 

3. PRU Intervention May Help Clients’ Maintain Stability During and Post-Incarceration 
Finally, evidence suggests that PRU intervention may help clients maintain their economic, family, and personal 
stability during and post-arrest.  This is achieved primarily by PRU staff contacting arrestees’ friends, family 
members or employers during the time of incarceration.  Over the 5-month study period, PRU staff contacted 
family members, friends, or employers of arrestees in 91 unique cases.  
 
Although contact with the outside world is technically feasible via jail telephone, it is often difficult for arrestees 
to get in touch with friends or family members outside. Cell phones are taken during jail booking, forcing 
arrestees to rely only on memorized contact information.81 If an individual cannot remember any specific phone 
number (increasingly common given modern technology), they may not be able to contact anyone at all.  
 
Even if arrestees’ have access to their loved ones’ contact numbers, they might choose to avoid jail phones due 
to privacy concerns. As mentioned previously, PRU attorneys instruct clients to avoid talking about their case on 
jail phones, which are recorded by the Sherriff and may be used as incriminating evidence. Arrestees may also 
have more immediate concerns: one former client reported that, despite his need to call in sick to work, he would 
not contact his employer on the jail phone for fear of being identified as calling from jail.82 Other former clients 
reported that they found the jail phones complicated and virtually impossible to use.83  
 
In these cases, PRU staff may be arrestees’ only means of interacting with outside family, loved ones, or 
employers. If an individual knows the number of the person he/she would like to reach, PRU staff will contact 
them to relay messages and case information, as relevant. If an individual does not know the number of the 
person he/she needs to reach, PRU staff will often search for individuals’ contact information. If necessary, PRU 
staff may even contact an individual via social media platforms such as Facebook.84  
 
These outside contacts can make a significant difference in arrestees economic, family, and personal stability. 
Because individuals are often arrested unexpectedly, they likely do not have time to alert their family members 
or employers of their arrest. PRU contacts may therefore be a clients’ only means of arranging childcare, alerting 
their employers of time missed, or holding their housing. In addition to improving economic, personal and family 
stability during incarceration, PRU contacts may have long-term benefits; an arrestee that loses employment due 
to pre-trial incarceration may face up to a 40 percent reduction in annual earnings.85  
                                                
80 Beijersbergen, K. A., Dirkzwager, A. J., & Nieuwbeerta, P. (2015). Reoffending After Release. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 43(1), 63-
82. doi:10.1177/0093854815609643 
81 Former PRU Clients. [Personal interviews]. (2018, April). 
82 Ibid. 
83 Ibid.  
84 Program Staff, Pre-Trial Release Unit, San Francisco Public Defenders Office. [Personal interviews]. (2018, March – April). 
85 Baughman, S. B. The Costs of Pre-Trial Detention (Rep.). Boston University Law Review. 



32 
 

Total Jail Bed Days Saved  
Given the limitations of the data available and the early nature of this evaluation, it is difficult to quantify the 
PRU’s impact on jail bed day reduction. Many of the PRU’s outcomes are either difficult to measure quantitatively 
(such as increased access to procedural justice or stability post-arrest) or require a much longer timeframe before 
impact can be observed (such as PRU’s impact on conviction, sentencing, and recidivism). However, because 
reduction of the San Francisco jail population remains a priority for the PRU, we provide a high-level estimate of 
jail bed days saved, below.  
 
Using our 5-month study period as a guide, we found that jailed individuals who received treatment and were 
released at arraignment were incarcerated for an average of 369.08 hours, as opposed to an average of 1320.36 
hours for those treated and not released (see Figure 13).86  
 
Figure 14: Average Hours of Incarceration Among Treated Individuals, Released and Non-Released 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Because we know that 28 percent of treated individuals are released at arraignment and 14 percent of non-treated 
individuals are released, we can calculate the expected value of hours incarcerated for the average treated and 
non-treated individuals:  
 

(.28 * 369.08) + (.72 * 1320.36) = 1,054 avg. hours if treated 
 

(.14 * 369.08) + (.86 * 1320.36) = 1,187.18 avg. hours if non-treated 
 

Subtracting the expected value hours incarcerated (treated) from the expected value of hours incarcerated (non-
treated) we find that PRU treatment saves 133.18 hours (5.5 days) per treated individual. Summing this across 
the 845 individuals who received arrest-responsive treatment during the first 5 months of PRU operation, we can 
conclude that arrest-responsive PRU intervention saved approximately 112,537 hours of incarceration (4,689 
jail bed days) from October 2, 2017 – Feb. 28, 2017. This is an average savings of 940 jail bed days a month, or 
approximately 11,253 jail bed days saved per year. 87 
                                                
 
86 This number is higher than we would expect if individuals are indeed being arraigned and released within 48 to 96 hours of booking. 
This could be due to individuals being technically released at arraignment but remaining incarcerated until they can be picked up by 
another county for an outstanding warrant. Alternatively, this average could be skewed by individuals who are serving flash parole 
incarcerations or awaiting parole petitions. We recommend investigating this further in future studies.  
87 The cost of incarcerating an individual in San Francisco county jail is approximately $172/day. In reducing jail bed days by 4,689 
over the first 5 months of operation, the PRU has saved the City approximately $806,508 in incarceration costs.    

Not Released at Arraignment Released at Arraignment 

1320.36 hours  
avg. hours of incarceration 

369.08 hours 
avg. hours of incarceration 

55 days 
avg. days of incarceration 

15 days 
avg. days of incarceration 



33 
 

Final Recommendations 
 
Based on the findings from our quantitative analysis and qualitative interviews, we conclude that the Public 
Defender’s Pre-Trial Release Unit has demonstrated promising initial success in meeting its goals of 1) reducing 
wealth disparities in access to pre-arraignment representation, and 2) reducing the jail population through 
increased access to pre-trial release.   
 
We recommend the Public Defender’s Office implement the following recommendations to continue building on 
the PRU’s initial successes:  
 

1. Continue robust data collection practices by maintaining qualitative case notes and 
instituting protocols for increased quantitative data collection.   
 

PRU staff maintain detailed case notes on each client with include extensive qualitative information. While these 
notes are occasionally coded by intervention type, quantitative coding is inconsistent. In order to ensure that the 
PRU can undergo future evaluation, we recommend all PRU staff code their client notes by activity type and 
outcome. While qualitative notes are certainly valuable, this change will allow future researchers to more easily 
measure program impact – particularly important if relying on months or years of data.  
 

2. Investigate the Pre-Trial Release Unit’s impact on recidivism, when feasible given data 
constraints.  

 
Defendants who are detained pre-trial are more likely to be convicted, sentenced to jail, and remain in jail for 
longer periods of time. This indicates that the impact of the Pre-Trial Release Unit is likely to compound over 
time, as otherwise convicted or re-arrested individuals remain out of custody. In order to understand the true 
impact of the PRU, we recommend a future study examines the unit’s impact on recidivism. Of course, because 
such a study would require at least 2-3 years of data, such an analysis is not currently possible.   
 

3. Continue to investigate racial disparities within booking of indigent defendants, with a 
particular emphasis on mechanisms to correct for police over-booking of arrestees of 
color. 
 

As mentioned within this report, significant racial disparities exist in pre-trial outcomes among San Francisco’s 
indigent defendants. These disparities are largely driven by police over-charging defendants of color at the 
booking stage; when over-charging occurs, it is not corrected for in the DA’s rebooking decision or beyond.  
 
Due to limited data, we were unable to quantitatively evaluate the PRU’s impact on rebooking within the context 
of report. Nonetheless, a cursory review of qualitative evidence suggests that the PRU may be helping to 
overcorrect police bias at booking by increasing the likelihood of DA discharge prior to arraignment.  



34 
 

 
We recommend that the Public Defender’s Office advocate for additional research to: 1) further investigate police 
over-charging at the booking phase, and 2) evaluate mechanisms – including through the Pre-Trial Release Unit 
– to specifically reduce racial disparities in pre-trial outcomes.  
 

4. Secure funding for the Pre-Trial Release Unit to continue operations past the 9-month 
pilot period. 

 
Despite limited data and the challenges of early program evaluation, we found strong evidence to indicate that 
the PRU is meeting its goals. Early representation, as provided by the PRU, is associated with decreased time in 
pre-trial incarceration, including increased likelihood of release at arraignment and decreased length of 
detention for parolees. While more difficult to measure, it appears that the PRU may also increase arrestees’ 
economic stability during incarceration, increase arrestees’ sense of procedural justice, and result in positive 
benefits for arrestees in later case outcomes.  
 
Based on these early successes, we recommend the Public Defender’s Office secure funding to continue the Pre-
Trial Release Unit past the 9-month pilot period.  

  



35 
 

Works Cited  
 
Baughman, S. B. (n.d.). The Costs of Pre-Trial Detention (Rep.). Boston University Law Review. 
 
Beijersbergen, K. A., Dirkzwager, A. J., & Nieuwbeerta, P. (2015). Reoffending After Release. Criminal Justice and  
     Behavior, 43(1), 63-82.  doi:10.1177/0093854815609643 
 
Do the Math: Money Bail Doesn't Add Up for San Francisco. (2017). San Francisco Financial Justice Project, Office of the  
     Treasurer & Tax Collector. 
 
Dobbie, W., Goldin, J., & Yang, C. S. (2018). The Effects of Pre-Trial Detention on Conviction, Future Crime, and Employment:  
     Evidence from Randomly Assigned Judges. American Economic Review, 108(2), 201-240. doi:10.1257/aer.20161503 
 
Final Report, Work Group to Re-envision the Jail Replacement Project. (2017). 
 
Fuller, T., & Stevens, M. (2018, February 28). California Today: Should Bail Be Set Above What Defendants Can Pay?  
     Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2018/02/28/us/california-today-bail-hearings-san-francisco.html 
 

Gunnell, J. J., & Ceci, S. J. (2010). When emotionality trumps reason: A study of individual processing style and juror  
     bias. Behavioral Sciences & the Law, 28(6), 850-877. doi:10.1002/bsl.939 
 

Heaton, P., Mayson, S., & Stevenson, M. (2016). The Downstream Consequences of Misdemeanor Pre-Trial Detention.  
     Quattrone Center for the Fair Administration of Justice, University of Pennsylvania School of Law. 
 

LaGratta, E. (2017). To Be Fair: Conversations About Procedural Justice. New York, NY: Center for Court Innovation. 
 

Lowenkamp, C. T., VanNostrand, M., & Holsinger, A. (2013). Investigating the Impact of Pretrial Detention on Sentencing  
     Outcomes. Laura and John Arnold Foundation. 
 
Lowenkamp, C. T., VanNostrand, M., & Holsinger, A. (2013). The Hidden Costs of Pretrial Detention. Laura and John Arnold  
     Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.arnoldfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/LJAF_Report_hidden- 
     costs_FNL.pdf 
 

"Not in it for Justice" | How California's Pretrial Detention and Bail System Unfairly Punishes Poor People. Human Rights  
     Watch. (2017, June 06).  
 

Owens, E., Kerrison, E. M., & Da Silveira, B. S. (2017). Examining Racial Disparities in Criminal Case Outcomes among  
     Indigent Defendants in San Francisco. Quattrone Center for the Fair Administration of Justice, University of Pennsylvania  
     Law School. 
 

MacDonald, J., and Raphael, S. (2017). An Analysis of Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Case Dispositions and Sentencing Outcomes for  
     Criminal Cases. Presented to and Processed by the Office of the San Francisco District Attorney. 
 

Meghan Sacks & Alissa R. Ackerman (2012) Pretrial detention and guilty pleas: if they cannot afford bail they must be  
     guilty, Criminal Justice Studies, 25:3, 265-278, DOI: 10.1080/1478601X.2012.705536 
 
Pinto, N. (2015, August 13). The Bail Trap. The New York Times Magazine.  
 

Rogers, R. (2011, November). Getting it wrong about Miranda rights: False beliefs, impaired reasoning, and professional  
     neglect. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22082397 
 
Update to the Jail Population Forecast (Rep.). (2015). City Services Auditor, Office of the Controller, City and County of San Francisco. 



36 
 

Appendix A: Study Assumptions and Limitations 
 

Criminal History  
In evaluating arraignment outcomes, it is important to incorporate an analysis of defendants’ criminal history. To 
approximate a defendant’s criminal history as closely as possible, we evaluated case information for all 
individuals arrested and booked into San Francisco County jail between January 1, 2013 and October 1, 2017 
(immediately prior to the start of the PRU). Using arrestees’ SF number, a unique identifier within the Superior 
Court’s case management system, we matched defendants in our sample database with their local misdemeanor 
and felony arrest history over the previous 58 months.  
 
Although this approximation of criminal history allows for a more nuanced quantitative evaluation, it is an 
imperfect measure. First, arrest does not indicate conviction; it is very likely that some clients either had their 
cases discharged or dismissed post-arrest or were ultimately exonerated at the trial phase. Nonetheless, because 
arrests are included on clients’ RAP sheets, arrest history may very well factor into a judges’ decision to release 
at arraignment.  
 
We were also limited in our ability to access information on any arrests or convictions outside of San Francisco. It 
is certainly feasible that a client who is arrested and booked in the city of San Francisco may also have been 
arrested and booked into jail in other counties or states, thereby impacting the validity of our analysis. Recent 
research is helpful here, however: In their study on racial disparities in San Francisco criminal case outcomes, 
University of California Professor Steve Raphael and co-author John MacDonald found that local criminal history 
reliably approximates non-local criminal history.88 
 

Friday Bookings 
California law requires that an arrestee is arraigned within 48 working hours of being arrested. The DA currently 
declines to file in approximately 50 percent of cases, meaning that an average of 50 percent of booked 
individuals are technically eligible for release within two working days.89 Prior to October 2017, the DA did not 
file rebooking decisions on holidays or weekends. Practically, that meant that individuals booked on Thursdays 
and Fridays often faced up to 4 -5 days of incarceration prior to the charge decision.90 
 
To rectify this disparity and reduce use of the jail beds, the District Attorney’s Office received funding during the 
FY17-18 fiscal year to implement weekend rebooking. Staff began evaluating and filing charge decision in cases 
in late 2017.  However, because weekend rebooking did not start at the same time as the Pre-Trial Release Unit, 

                                                
88 Table 3.5 of this report summarizes prior convictions, arrest cycles, and sentences at the time of arrest using the state ACHS data for 
criminal suspects in our data set by race/ethnicity. The patterns in table 3.5 largely parallel the patterns observed for local criminal 
history. Source: Raphael, S., & MacDonald, J. (2017). An Analysis of Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Case Dispositions and Sentencing 
Outcomes for Criminal Cases. Presented to and Processed by the Office of the San Francisco District Attorney.  
89 Final Report, Work Group to Re-envision the Jail Replacement Project. (2017). 
90 Ibid.  



37 
 

individuals in our sample may have been charged at inconsistent intervals depending on day of the week 
booked.   
 
Our dataset bears this out: in comparing hours incarcerated for individuals booked on Fridays within our 5-month 
research period, we found that individuals booked on Fridays have hours of incarceration that trends up, as 
opposed to the downward trend overall (see figure 13, below). To rectify these inconsistencies, we dropped 
individuals booked on Fridays prior to matching on propensity score.  
 
Figure 13: Hours Incarcerated (24 – 96 hours), All Booked Individuals vs. Individuals Booked on Fridays  
 

 
 
It is important to note that we do not drop Thursday bookings from our sample, despite the fact that an 
individual booked into jail on a Thursday may also remain incarcerated over the weekend prior to arraignment. 
To account for this extra time, we maintained a conservative estimate of length of pre-arraignment detention (96 
hours) when formulating proxy custody and arraignment variables for non-treated individuals (see below). This 
may have underestimated our treatment effect; if we assumed instead that all non-treated individuals with over 
72 hours of incarceration had not been released at arraignment, we would likely see an increase in the effect of 
PRU treatment.91 

 
 

                                                
91 Alternatively, because this 96-hour maximum may be too low for individuals booked on Thursdays prior to holiday weekends, we 
may be overestimating PRU impact. However, because we assume that the number of these Thursday bookings are relatively small, 
within our 5-month sample, any overestimation should be limited.  
 



38 
 

Hours of Incarceration 
Using case booking time/date and case release time/date, we were able to calculate hours incarcerated for each 
unique observation in our sample.92 However, Gideon booking data did not provide release dates for individuals 
in the following two categories: 1) Arrestees still incarcerated at time of initial data pull, and 2) Arrestees who 
had been booked and released at the same time, and therefore never spent time in county jail.  
 
Because individuals in these categories have dramatically different underlying characteristics and case 
circumstances, it was critical to access more precise data on release date and hours incarcerated. To accomplish 
this, we pulled individual CMS case records for approximately 2,500 out of 3,000 observations with missing 
release dates.  
 
It is important to note that individuals marked as incarcerated in CMS may have, in fact, remained in custody 
since booking. However, it is also possible that these individuals were released pre-trial, failed to appear for a 
future court date, and were re-incarcerated. In pulling individual case records, we attempted to account for these 
discrepancies as accurately as possible. Re-arrested individuals who failed to appear for arraignment (or were 
cited out/ bailed out prior to arraignment) were assigned 15.82 hours, the average hours of incarceration for an 
individual not in custody at arraignment. Individuals released at arraignment or later court hearings were 
assumed to have been released at approximately 10:00pm the day of court proceedings.93  
 
After evaluating CMS case records, we were left with 501 cases that did not have a release date. It is important 
to note that these 501 cases were not treated by the PRU. In our propensity score analysis, we assumed all cases 
with missing release dates had spent 0 hours in jail, likely causing an underestimation of the treatment effect 
(see “Propensity Score Matching” below).  

 
Projecting Custody and Arraignment Variables 
To isolate the impact of treatment on likelihood of release at arraignment, we needed information on 
arraignment outcomes for all treated and non-treated individuals within our 5-month sample. However, while 
internal PRU tracking data provided information on clients’ arraignment outcomes, this information was not 
available for non-PRU arrestees. 
 
To account for this, we approximated custody status at arraignment using length of incarceration as a proxy. 
Given the DA’s arraignment timeline (in which defendants are typically arraigned 48-72 hours after booking) we 
assumed that any individual incarcerated for 24 hours or less had been released prior to arraignment. In order to 
account for individuals booked later in the week and not arraigned until Monday (see above), we set a 
conservative estimate of 96 hours as maximum length of incarceration pre-arraignment.94 We then assumed that 
                                                
92 Hours incarcerated is calculated using booking time, and not time of arrest.  
93 This estimation was based on interviews with PRU program staff.  It is conservative; individuals ordered released at arraignment are 
often held in jail until after midnight that same day.  
94 The conservative estimate of 96 hours pre-arraignment may underestimate the impact of the PRU on release at arraignment. If we 
assumed instead that all non-treated individuals with over 72 hours of incarceration had not been released at arraignment, we would 
likely see an increase in the effect of PRU treatment. Alternatively, because this 96-hour maximum may be too low for individuals 



39 
 

individuals incarcerated for 96 hours or more had: 1) been arraigned while in custody, and 2) had not been 
released at arraignment. 
 
That analysis left us with 988 non-treated defendants who had spent anywhere from 24 to 96 hours in jail. We 
pulled individual CMS records for 10 percent (98) of these cases and found that only 20 percent (20) of these 
marginal defendants had been in custody at arraignment. Of these individuals, 80 percent (16) were released at 
arraignment. 20 percent (4) were denied release. 95 We then projected these ratios onto the remaining 890 non-
treated defendants.  

 
Propensity Score Matching  
Our propensity score was modeled using the following covariates:  
 

- Age 
- Race (dummy variables for each race category) 
- Gender (dummy) 
- Out-of-county warrants (number of misdemeanor and felony warrants, as listed in booking data) 
- Parole or probation holds (dummy variables for each category, as listed in booking data) 
- Criminal history (number of previous felony arrests and previous misdemeanor arrests) 
- In custody for at least 6 hours (to eliminate those ineligible for treatment due to immediate dismissal) 
 

After generating a propensity score for individuals within our sample, we prepared to run a “nearest-neighbor” 
match to generate a control group of similarly situated, non-treated defendants. Prior to matching, we made the 
following adjustments to our sample: 
 

- Dropped individuals booked on Friday. See “Friday Bookings” above.  
- Dropped individuals with Motions to Revoke Probation or Parole. Individuals with MTRs may have had 

their criminal charges dismissed in order to proceed with a motion to revoke, meaning they might have 
been arraigned on this motion and not on criminal charges. To eliminate this complication and ensure 
we were isolating impact of the PRU on criminal arraignments, we dropped anyone identified to have a 
MTR. 96  

                                                
booked on Thursdays prior to holiday weekends (see “Friday Bookings”), we may be overestimating PRU impact. However, because we 
assume that the number of these Thursday bookings are relatively small, any overestimation should be limited.  
95 For the purposes of this analysis, “in custody at arraignment” indicates that a client was arraigned on a criminal charge while in 
custody. “Not in custody at arraignment” indicates that a client was not arraigned on a criminal charge while in custody. Note that 
individuals classified as “not in custody” may have either: 1) been released prior to criminal charge arraignment, 2) had his/her charge 
dropped or dismissed prior to arraignment, or 3) did not face criminal arraignment due to parole/probation violation or out-of-county 
warrant. 
96 Individuals with MTRs were identified via PRU case notes and individual data pulls from CMS on approx. 2000 observations. Because 
we were unable to pull individual CMS records for each observation within our sample, it is likely that some individuals with MTRs 
remain. However, this effect should be largely controlled for by including parole/probation holds and violations in our propensity score 
estimator.  



40 
 

- Dropped individuals identified as having a conflict of interest with the Public Defender’s Office. Conflict 
individuals were represented by conflict counsel and not public defenders; eliminating conflicts did not 
impact our final result.  

- Assumed hours of incarceration for individuals without a known release date was zero (ie: no time spent 
in jail). As mentioned above, approximately 500 non-treated individuals had unknown release dates. 
Zeroing out hours of incarceration for these individuals is likely to have caused us to underestimate the 
treatment effect (as only non-treated had length of time reduced).  

  



41 
 

Appendix B: Summary Statistics  
 

A.   Propensity Score Match: Average Treatment on the Treated, Outcome at Arraignment  
 

Variable Sample Treated Controls Difference S.E. T-stat 
Outcome at 
arraignment 

Unmatched .28186 .12250 .15936 .0196 8.11 

 
Avg. Treatment on 

Treated 
.28186 .14215 .13970 .0282 4.95 

 
B.  Regression models: Parole advocacy on hours of incarceration with/without controls:  

 

 
(1) hours incarcerated  

(with controls) 
(2) hours incarcerated 

(without controls) 

parole advocacy -245.2 (105.4) -229.4 (101.8) 
age 7.061 (3.693)  

gender -33.23 (279.8)  
race (White) 58.16 (296.9)  

race (API) omitted (.)  
race (Black) 73.18 (289.1)  
race (Latino) -15.16 (308.6)  

race (unknown) -211.6 (383.5)  
enroute warrant (fel) 73.89 (166.5)  

enroute warrant (misd) 508.3 (349.7)  
previous arrest (fel) -105.5 (120.6)  

previous arrest (misd) 212.9 (132.1)  
sc1_6 618.7 (171.7)  

sc7_11 882.0 (153.3)  
sc12_15 omitted (.)  
sc16_18 -261.9 (284.2)  
sc19_24 702.6 (232.9)  

sc25 -181.7 (359.3)  
sc26_28 -252.2 (109.5)  
sc29_40 -78.32 (168.8)  
sc40_64 189.4 (303.2)  

sc60 172.1 (207.9)  
sc65_67 -196.5 (284.5)  
sc68_72 0 (.)  

_cons 321.8 (444.8) 697.0 (87.80) 
 



Service Through Efficiency 
and Transparency

Contra Costa County 
Office of the Sheriff



Data and 
Trends





A Comparison of Communities

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey 2015-2019

Median Household Income in Contra Costa County (2019) = $99,716



Demographic Comparisons



906 Households6,917 Households

816 Households 1,109 Households



To keep Contra Costa’s regional hospital 
open and staffed; fund community health 

centers; provide timely fire and emergency 
response; support crucial safety-net services; 

invest in early childhood services; protect 
vulnerable populations; and for other 

essential county services...

Measure 
X



Pre-Ballot 
Survey

Supported maintaining Sheriff 
patrols and services

Supported increasing 
accountability and transparency in 
the Sheriff's Department

73%

82%



Unmet Needs



Signficant 
Concerns in 
Unincorporated 
Communities

Illegal dumping

Homelessness

Thefts - catalytic converters, 
vehicles, burglaries

Extended response times



Prevention



Add services to the lowest income 
areas in the county for quality of 

life concerns and decreased 
response times.

Additional Neighborhood 
Patrol Deputies





Mental Health Evaluation Team

Partnership with Contra Costa Health Services - Teams of one mental health 
clinician and one deputy respond for referral assistance.

One MHET deputy funded through AB109 (Realignment in CA)

Awarded $250,000 from the DOJ COPS grant over three years to partially-fund two 
MHET deputy positions.  This grant requires matching funds.



Investigate quality of life crimes 
such as loitering, sideshows, 

littering, abandoned vehicles, 
and follow-up on community 

complaints.

Station House 
Specific Detectives



GPS-Enabled Move-Up 
Module Dispatching System



Increased 
Transparency 
Cameras for all sworn officers and 
in all unincorportated patrol units

Body-worn 
cameras

In-car 
cameras



Aging and Adult Services1 Early Childhood Programs2

Youth Programs3 Fire4

Healthcare5
Mental and Behavioral 
Health6Intersectional

7 8
Housing and 
Homelessness

Safety Net (CPS and APS)

9 Transportation



Transformative 
Ideas

Utilizing GPS technology to decrease 
response times

Quality of life focused investigators at 
each station house to meet the needs of 
the communities

Transparency through body-worn and in-
car cameras, with support staff to fulfill 
Public Records Act Requests



Response times before and after 
implementation of Move-Up 

Module Dispatching

Station House statistics from 
additional deputies and detectives

Public Records Act requests 
received and fulfilled for BWC and 

in-car video

Success Matrix



Total 
Projected 
Cost (Annual)

29 Deputy Sheriff FTE                              $ 8,664,852
5 Sergeant FTE                                        $  1,695,625
1 Sheriff's Director FTE                             $      218,451
2 Sheriff's Specialist FTE                          $    322,256
2 MHET Deputy match funding                $    489,720

(increase to $573,054 fourth year)

Body-worn / In-car camera program    $  1,300,000
Deccan LiveMUM program                     $     140,000

Personnel

Equipment

TOTAL ANNUAL COST $ 12,830,904

11.5% of $112M total Measure X Anticipated Revenue in FY 21-22



One-Time First 
Year Projected 
Cost 

Body-worn / In-car camera set-up cost   $   720,000                                                    
Deccan LiveMUM set-up cost                   $    360,000

Equipment

TOTAL ONE-TIME COST $ 1,080,000



Service Through Efficiency 
and Transparency

Contra Costa 
County Office of 

the Sheriff



Contra Costa County 
Office of the Sheriff

Operational Information 

For the Measure X Community Advisory 
Board



Mission Statement 

THE OFFICE OF THE SHERIFF WORKS IN PARTNERSHIP WITH OUR DIVERSE
COMMUNITY TO SAFEGUARD THE LIVES, RIGHTS, AND PROPERTY OF THE
PEOPLE WE SERVE. WITH UNWAVERING DEDICATION, WE PROVIDE
INNOVATIVE PROFESSIONAL LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICES TO OUR COMMUNITY.
WE ACCOMPLISH THIS MISSION BY MAINTAINING OUR CORE VALUES WHILE
ALWAYS CONDUCTING OURSELVES WITH THE HIGHEST ETHICAL
STANDARDS.

Sheriff David O. Livingston

HONOR  COURAGE  COMMITMENT  LEADERSHIP  TEAMWORK



Contra Costa County 
Office of the Sheriff

Largest law enforcement 
agency in Contra Costa County

1075 employees, including 720 
sworn officer and 355 
professional staff



Organizational Chart



Office of the Sheriff Facilities and Station Houses



Bureau Overview – CUSTODY SERVICES

The Custody Services Bureau consists of two Divisions: 
the Martinez Detention Division and the West County 

Detention Division 



Martinez Detention Division

The Martinez Detention Division includes the Martinez Detention 
Facility (MDF), Marsh Creek Detention Facility (MCDF), 

Transportation, Classification, Training, Administration, and 
Court Security. 



West County Detention Division

The West County Detention Division includes the West County Detention 
Facility (WCDF), Custody Alternative Facility (CAF), Food Services, Inmate 

Services and the Contra Costa County Adult School



Bureau Overview – FIELD OPERATIONS

The Field Operations Bureau Consists of three Divisions:

• Patrol Division

• Special Operations Division

• Investigation Division



Patrol Division

• Delta Station – East County

• Muir Station – Martinez / Bay Point

• Valley Station – Central County

• Bay Station – West County 

The Patrol Division consists of four Station Houses which patrol 
the unincorporated areas of the County:

Additionally, the Patrol Division  
established a Watch Commander 
Program to ensure management 
supervision of all personnel 24 hours 
a day, seven days a week. 



Patrol Division

The Patrol Division also consists of special policing districts 
and agencies under contract. 

• Alamo – P2B

• Blackhawk – P2A

• Diablo – P3

• Roundhill – P5

• Crockett – P1

• Discovery Bay – P6

• Contra Costa Centre

• Contra Costa County Housing Authority



Patrol Division 

The Patrol Division includes a Community Services Officer Program:

• Professional non-sworn support staff
• Provide supplemental patrol support for select crimes and calls
• Enforce ordinances and infractions
• Write reports
• Offer public assistance and crime prevention



Special Operations Division
Police Departments Under Contract:

Danville

Lafayette

Orinda

Agencies Under Contract:

A.C. Transit (Alameda-Contra Costa Transit)

Health Services Security Unit (HSSU)

Contra Costa Water District (Los Vaqueros Watershed)  



Special Operations Division

Air Support Unit, STARR:

Sheriff’s

Tactical

Airborne

Reconnaissance 

and Rescue 



Special Operations Division

Health Services Security Unit:

Contra Costa Regional Medical Center

Employment and Human Services 
Department

• Antioch
• Brentwood
• Richmond
• Pleasant Hill
• North Richmond

Health Centers and Clinics 
• Antioch
• Brentwood
• Concord Mental Health
• Concord Health Clinic
• Pittsburg
• San Pablo Adult Mental Health
• San Pablo  West County Health 

Center
• North Richmond



Special Operations Division
The Marine Services Unit is comprised of Marine Patrol, and the 
Infrastructure Protection Team.



Investigation Division

The Investigation Division is divided into these areas of

responsibility:

Homicide Unit
Special Victims Unit 
General Investigations Team 
Violence Suppression Unit
Misdemeanor Complaints
Safe Streets Task Force
Community Services Unit
Civil Unit



Bureau Overview – SUPPORT SERVICES

The Support Services Bureau consists of four Divisions:

 Emergency Services Division

 Forensic Services Division

 Technical Services Division

 Coroner’s Division



Emergency Services Division
The Emergency Services Division Includes:

• Office of Emergency Services

• Grants

• Homeland Security

• Community Warning System

• Emergency Services Support Unit

• Volunteer Services

• Mutual Aid



Forensic Services Division

Criminalistics:
 Comparative Evidence (Firearms)

 Forensic Biology (DNA)

 Latent Prints

 Digital Evidence

 Crime Scene

Drugs, Alcohol and Toxicology:
 Drugs

 Alcohol (Blood & Breath Programs)

 Toxicology 



Forensic Services Division

The Property and Evidence Unit

Provides storage and disposition of all property and evidence submitted 
by the following agencies:

• Contra Costa County Sheriff’s Office

• Contra Costa County Superior Courts

• Danville P.D.

• Lafayette P.D.

• Orinda P.D.



Technical Services Division

The Technical Services Division consists of the Central Communications 
Unit, Information and Network Services, Fleet Services Unit, and Records 

Unit/Central Identification



Coroner’s Division

The Coroner’s Division critical functions and responsibilities are 
to: 

• Determine the extent of inquiry to be made in all reported deaths

• Determine the medical cause and legal manner of death

• Determine the legal manner of all sudden, violent, unusual, and 
unattended deaths



Bureau Overview – ADMINISTRATION 

The Administration Bureau consists of three Divisions:  The 
Training Division, Professional Standards Division, and Personnel 

and Finance Division.



Training Division

The Training Division operates the Law Enforcement Training 
Center which includes the Basic Academy and the In-Service 
Training Unit. 



Professional Standards Division

Recruiting for all classifications

Background Investigations (Hiring)

Public Affairs Unit

Planning and Research Unit



Personnel and Finance Division

Personnel Unit:
 Processes Human Resource transactions
 Manages Long-Term Leave, Family Medical Leave, and 

Military and Temporary Modified Duty Programs
 Coordinates Worker's Compensation and serves as a 

liaison with Risk Management
 Maintains Personnel records

Fiscal Unit: 
 Budget preparation and management
 Processes Accounts Payable and Accounts Receivable
 Manages payroll, contracts, and grants



Measure X
State and Gaps in CCC Reentry Services 

July 7, 2021



Rubicon’s Theory of Change
Help participants achieve lasting economic mobility and as a result reduce recidivism

2



Current State of Service 

Rubicon’s Programs:
Employment Readiness and Placement

Reentry Success Center
Parenting and Fatherhood

WIOA Workforce Development

Partners:
Probation

Parole
STAND

CenterForce
Safe Return Project

HR360 (Reentry Network)
Office of Education

Shelter Inc.
Community Works West
(and numerous others…)

Strong  Continuum of Services with a focus on Partnerships and Collaborations    

3



Employment and  Placement Services 

Phase One-

Intake/Assessment- (Program Tiers Matched to Service Level Need)

Workshops; Job Readiness Training,  Financial literacy, CBT,  Growth Mindset

Small group job search

Benefit Screening, application assistance

Phase Two-

Vocational & Career Advising

Individualized Job Search Placement and Retention  Support 

Additional Services-

DV/IPV -

GED Prep

Training Partners

Family Reunification

(Designed to meet the needs, interest skills, and individual circumstances of program participants)

4



5

Reentry Success Center

• Collective Impact

• Support Groups

• Evening Hours

• Pro-social Activities

• Restorative Circles

• Cognitive Behavioral Interventions

• Voices Newsletter



Gaps and Additional Needs in  Services 
• Increased need for  wellness services

o Behavioral  Health  Services (both Mental Health & SUD services)
o Immediate and long-term housing
o Resources for healthy food options
o Grief, loss  and Trauma counseling

• Enhanced Prerelease Service Provision 
o Contact  visitation for improved relationship development
o In custody programming facilitated by external service  providers
o In-custody SUD treatment linked to post-release wrap-around supports

• Expanded Community Based Wrap-around Services
o Mentoring
o Restorative practices
o Cognitive behavioral services

• Opportunities for Additional Supports
o Stipends for training and education programs (“Earn and Learn” programs)
o More alternatives to prosecution (suspended prosecution or Reentry Court)

6



Participant Stories

Presenter Contacts:

Dr. Carole (“DC”) Dorham-Kelly, Executive Director, carolek@rubiconprograms.org

Donté Blue,  Chief Program Officer, donteb@rubiconprograms.org

Rhody McCoy,  Director Community Based Programs, rhodym@rubiconprograms.org

Pat Mims, Director Reentry Success Center, patm@rubiconprograms.org

7

mailto:carolek@rubiconprograms.org
mailto:donteb@rubiconprograms.org
mailto:rhodym@rubiconprograms.org
mailto:patm@rubiconprograms.org


Reimagine Public Safety 
Contra Costa
Measure X: July 7, 2021



Reimagine Public Safety - Our Vision

We envision a Contra Costa County where all people 
regardless of race, gender identity, sexual orientation, 

Immigration status, or disability can flourish from shared 
county resources and where racial equity is at the 

forefront of decision making. Public safety is not about 
policing, public safety is access to fair housing, quality 

food, safe and clean community spaces, healthcare 
services including mental health care, and economic 

opportunity.



Mission & Purpose

To rapidly reconstruct the public safety system and what 
we view as public safety by developing a recommendation 

for the county and cities to increase community safety 
through alternative non-police response programs, and 

investments in programs (such as health services, housing, 
jobs, etc) that address the root causes of violence and 

crime, and to focus on policies that address these 
disparities.



What’s the problem?

● Law enforcement is tasked with responding to the needs of 
those who live with mental health issues instead of investing in 
more humane models that address their needs. This leads to the 
criminalization of our community members.

● Over 11,000 Contra Costa residents are facing houselessness 
and evictions, exacerbated by the pandemic. Unhoused 
residents need resources and a pathway to long-term housing 
options. 

● Instead of looking at public safety as a quality of life issue, the 
county has looked at this as a policing issue and our 
communities are no safer for it. 

● The county currently does not sufficiently invest in race and 

health equity. 



What’s the problem?



What’s the problem?



What’s the problem?



●From 2018 to 2020, Juvenile Hall’s incarcerated youth population decreased from 111 to 47 

youth, a reduction of 58%.

●However, from 2018 to 2020, the budget for Juvenile Hall decreased from $23,042,295 to 

$21,147,551, a reduction of only 8%.  

●Simply put, Juvenile Hall’s youth population has decreased drastically while its budget has 

decreased only slightly.  

●In 2015, Juvenile Hall and the Byron Boys Ranch combined had 160 full time staff.

●In 2020, Juvenile Hall and the Byron Boys Ranch combined had 155 full time staff, a staffing 

reduction of 3%.  

●During this same period, the incarcerated youth population of these two detention facilities 

decreased by 55%.

What’s the problem?



● Contra Costa prioritizes law enforcement funding.
● Of the $15,000,000 AB 109 funds allocated to law enforcement, the Sheriff’s 

department receives $9,000,000, Probation receives $4,000,000, and the District 
Attorney receives $2,000,000.

● The Public Defender’s Office receives $3,300,000 in AB 109 funding. 

What’s the problem?



What can we do now?

Reimagine Public 
Safety

County budget

It means access, inclusion, 
and belonging. It means 
everyone is treated with 

dignity and has quality food, 
shelter, healthcare, and 

resources. 

The budget must reflect a 
commitment to reimagined 
public safety and meet the 
needs of under-resourced 
and BIPOC communities 

01 02



What’s the solution?

Justice reinvestment -
moving funding from law 
enforcement and putting it 
towards community resources 
that will uplift everyone and 
address the root causes of 
violence and crime



Measure X funds should go towards...

To hire social 
workers to connect 
clients to resources 

at first contact

In East County with 
$22 mill one-time 

Measure X funding

Legal services for 
residents 

experiencing 
housing insecurity

Public Defender’s 

Office
Youth & Equity 

Center

Eviction 

Defense

01 02 03



03

Contra Costa County should divest from...

01 02
Conflict of interest: 

The Sheriff’s own 
office is ill-equipped 
to hold the Sheriff 

accountable

Sworn deputies to 
engage in civil matters 

with community 
members is unnecessary. 

It is costly and 
traumatizes Black & 

brown residents

Creates an inherent 
conflict of interest 
when a community 
member dies at the 

hands of law 
enforcement

Internal Affairs Sheriff’s Civil 
Unit

Sheriff’s 

coroner role



Justice reinvestments

With subpoena power and led 
by residents most harmed by 

law enforcement

Independent Sheriff 

Oversight Safe spaces for kids, 
elders, and families

Parks & Rec
For our unhoused 

neighbors 

Housing

Miles Hall 

Community Health 

Hub
so they can respond 

to community 

emergencies

Fire Department Job Training

01 02 03

04 05 06



We invite you to 
reimagine 
public safety in 
Contra Costa 
County with us!

Contra Costa County

Mental 

Health 
Community

Racial 

Equity

Housing Living 

wages

Reparations

EducationParks



CREDITS: This presentation template was 

created by Slidesgo, including icons by Flaticon

and infographics & images by Freepik.

Thanks!
Do you have any questions?

despinoza@liftupcoco.org
justicefortyrellwilson@gmail.com

Please keep this slide for attribution.

http://bit.ly/2Tynxth
http://bit.ly/2TyoMsr
http://bit.ly/2TtBDfr


the Contra Costa 
County Racial 

Justice Coalition 
Working for Racial

Justice
in Contra CostaCounty

ENVIRONMENT



CHANGE HAS BEEN A LONG TIME COMING…

IN THE MIDST OF THE PAIN & THE STRIFE…



CCRJC …US

Since 2014…

A coalition of people living and working in
Contra Costa: formerly incarcerated, friends & 
family of those formerly incarcerated, nurses & 
students, public defenders & community 
organizers, community leaders, healers & 
advisors, faith leaders & re-entry supporters...

…all committed to eliminating racial 
injustice in Contra Costa’s criminal legal 
system by identifying & implementing 
measures to reduce racial disparities. 



CCRJC …US

…all committed to implementing local 
changes that eliminate other forms of 
racial injustices (housing, 
environmental, health, economic, 
education) to create a more just Contra 
Costa County.



Our Experience
BLIPOC Communities are

over-policed in Contra Costa.

BLIPOC Youth are being
pushed out of schools and 

into juvenile detention.

County jails don't look like 
our communities.

And courtrooms 
certainly do not look

like our
community.



Our Experience Confirms



Our Experience Confirms
The data shows dramatic racial disparities at every stage of the
criminal legal process.

While African-Americans make up ~9.6% of  the population in Contra Costa …

• African-Americans are charged with crimes in ~26% of all criminal cases.

• ⇒ 2.7x representation

While African-Americans make up ~9.6% of the population in Contra Costa …

• African-American adults make up ~30% of probationers.

• ⇒ 3x representation



Our Experience Confirms

While African-Americans make up ~9.6% of  the population in 
Contra Costa…
• African-American adults make up ~30% of probationers.

• ⇒ 3x representation

While African-Americans make up ~9.6% of  the population in 
Contra Costa…

• African-American children make up ~41% of probationers.

• ⇒ 4x representation



AND the 
Data 

Confirms…



ECONOMY

JUSTICE HEALTH

EDUCATION

HOUSING

ENVIRONMENT

RACE

FIGHTING 
RACISM
requires

REIMAGINING 
POLICIES. 



FIGHTING RACISM 
also requires… 

CONSCIOUS, PURPOSEFUL
REINVESTMENT IN OUR COMMUNITIES.
Our Children…Education, Childcare & Recreation.

Our Families…Recreation, Environment, 
Healthcare, Housing, Jobs, Food & Water.

Our Environment…Sustainable & Non-Toxic.

Affordable, Safe, Clean Housing for All.

Accessible Facilities & Meetings for All.

Meaningful Well-Paid Work for All, 

incl People with disAbilities.



Justice Reinvestment
Justice Reinvestment Priorities and

A Different Vision For Our
Community:

Equal access to housing, health care,
education, environmentally safe & 
non-toxic living spaces, economic 
opportunities, safe & affordable 

licensed childcare, and other 
fundamental rights for every County 

resident.



Justice Reinvestment
Justice Reinvestment Priorities and

A Different Vision For Our Community:

The Miles Hall Community Health Hub

A Youth Training & Equity Ctr in East County

Fully Funded Neighborhood Fire Stations so 
they can respond to community emergencies

Clean, Accessible Open Spaces, Parks & 
Recreational Centers for Young People, 

Elders & Families



Justice Reinvestment
Reinvestment Priorities and

A Different Vision For Our Community.

Equal unbiased treatment under the law that 
sees every person as a person not a data point.

Systems that protect and defend the human 
rights & dignity of every person, incl. social 
workers in the Public Defenders’ Office to 

connect clients to resources at first contact.

Eviction Legal Services for residents 
experiencing housing insecurity.



Justice Reinvestment
Reinvestment Priorities and

A Different Vision For Our Community

How do we get there? 

How do we fund it?



CCRJC

No. 

If Not Now… When? 

If Not Us… Who?

Imagine What We Can Do 
Together…

¡Vamos!

More. Dreams. Deferred. 



the Contra Costa 
County Racial 

Justice Coalition 
Working for Racial

Justice
in Contra CostaCounty

ENVIRONMENT



The Collective Healing and Transformation (CHAT) Project 
Community Based Restorative Justice Services in Contra Costa County

The Collective Healing and Transformation (CHAT) Project is a community based domestic violence and interpersonal violence (IPV)
intervention program.
 
The CHAT Project is a partnership and works alongside domestic and sexual violence organizations who support underserved
populations in Contra Costa and the greater East Bay. Our partnerships reflect our commitment to serving a diverse community,
prioritizing racial equity, and centering language access in our work.

An alternative response to violence
When violence occurs, who are the true first responders in our
lives? Law enforcement? Crisis lines? This may be true for some
people. However, we also know the first place many people seek
support is from their friends, families, coworkers, neighbors,
and other support systems.
 
Traditional advocacy responses to domestic and sexual violence
have value and also have limitations. Many serve survivors
independently, without including their essential support system.
Very few, if any, programs provide the possibility for safe and
facilitated contact with the person causing harm, even when they
are still living or parenting together.
 
Restorative justice is an intervention, healing, and prevention
practice.  It expands the possibilities of what support for those
impacted by interpersonal violence can look like. The CHAT
Project uses a whole-family approach to address violence and
seeks to engage all people who have been impacted by violence,
including children and gives them an opportunity to witness safe
communication between trusted adults and caretakers, to have
their own voices and concerns be heard, and to learn tools to help
them navigate future conflict.

Measure X Proposal

1. Dzur, A. (2015). Public Restorative Justice: The Participatory Democratic Dimensions of Institutional Reform. Raisons politiques, 59, 51-71. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.3917/rai.059.0051

The CHAT Project encourages the Measure X Community
Advisory Board to fund $750 thousand per year to community
based (non-law enforcement) restorative justice programs
serving people impacted by domestic, sexual, and family
violence.
 
This funding would provide the needed community wide impact in
Contra Costa County and would support:

More full time restorative justice facilitators
Training for nonprofit partners and community members
Language access needs for Contra Costa community 
members

Restorative justice is transformational. It turns away from the
traditional model of state intervention and separation and
empowers families to have a say in what healing and
accountability could look like.
 
The CHAT Project has been providing restorative justice services
to Contra Costa community members for years and meeting the
demand for a safe alternative response to violence. With
sustainable county funding, restorative justice could be a
resource that all residents in Contra Costa have access to. This
is an opportunity for Contra Costa County to lead the way for all
of California and nationwide.

Over the past two years, CHAT data shows:
Over 90% of CHAT participants are BlPOC.
Almost 50% of CHAT participants receive Medi-Cal, and 
another 20% receive public assistance (CalWORKS, 
CalFresh, WIC)
60% of CHAT participants live in multi-generational homes
50% of survivors served still live in the home with the 
person who harmed them

A community based model
The CHAT Project works outside of traditional criminal legal 
entities to provide a holistic approach to all people impacted by 
violence. A community based model means participation is:
 

Voluntary - this is not a mandated diversion program, and 
CHAT does not accept referrals from criminal legal 
agencies
Confidential - CHAT will not disclose any information to 
outside entities or individuals without explicit consent 
from participants
Flexible - CHAT honors the wisdom of survivors and their 
families to know what their needs are to address harm 
and move toward healing
Open to all - CHAT encourages all to participate who are 
willing, including children, friends, other family members, 
and those who have caused harm

The CHAT Project's participant outcomes:
Feelings of an increased level of safety, during and after 
receiving services
Feeling supported to reach out and rebuild safe 
relationships
Learning new tools to move through future conflict in a 
safer way
Feeling empowered and trusted to know what they need to 
make right the harm that has occurred
Continuing to use restorative tools and practices at home 
after CHAT engagement



1

Lisa Driscoll

From: Ray Brant <r_abrant@sbcglobal.net>
Sent: Thursday, July 1, 2021 12:01 PM
To: Lisa Driscoll
Subject: Support  Measure X Funds for Sheriff Office

To:  Measure X Community Advisory Board, 
 
From: Raymond F. Brant (Past Diablo Community Services District Board Member and President). 
 
Subject:  Support for Sheriff David Livingston request for Measure X Funds. 
 
  Sheriff Livingston and his Department have always served Diablo and our County in a very professional 
manner.   I support the Sheriff’s request for Measure X funds to acquire the funds to better their staffing, reduce 
response times and investigate "quality of life crimes”.  The citizens of Contra Costa County will benefit from the 
requested  Sheriff Department “Service" upgrades. 
 
Thank you for your consideration, 
 
Raymond F. Brant 
PO Box 728 
Diablo, CA 
925 381 0172 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
to better our staffing, response times and quality of life issues. 



1

Lisa Driscoll

From: Leland Mlejnek <lamjr@sbcglobal.net>
Sent: Thursday, July 1, 2021 12:52 PM
To: Lisa Driscoll
Subject: Measure X Fund Distribution

To the Community Advisory Board: 
 
       I am in favor of using some of the funds from Measure X for law enforcement personnel and equipment especially 
for the Contra Costa Sheriff’s Department. I think equipping the Deputies with body cameras would make the behavior 
of both the personnel and those they come in contact with much more accurate and easier to evaluate. I would also like 
to see more personnel in deputy, sergeant and detective positions in the satellite stations of the Sheriff’s Department. 
Leland Mlejnek (43 year Resident of Contra Costa County) 



1

Lisa Driscoll

From: Jason Hill <jason_ahill@yahoo.com>
Sent: Friday, July 2, 2021 9:18 AM
To: Lisa Driscoll
Subject: Support for Sheriff David Livingston's request for Measure X Funds

Hello, 
Sheriff Livingston and his Department have always served Round Hill, P‐5 and our County in a very professional manner. I 
could not be more proud.  
 
I support the Sheriff's request for Measure X funds, to acquire the funds to better their staffing, reduce response times 
and investigate "quality of life” crimes. The citizens of Contra Costa County will benefit from the requested Sheriff 
Department "Service" upgrades. 
  
Thank you for your consideration and appreciate your focus on making sure those that serve us, are always put first. 
 
Jason Hill 
P‐5 Board Member 
Cell: 925‐570‐0879 



1

Lisa Driscoll

From: Allan Mendell <allan@fxgcorp.com>
Sent: Friday, July 2, 2021 10:31 AM
To: Lisa Driscoll
Subject: Support for Alamo Sherriff, Measure X

Lisa, 
 
I am writing to you in support of Sheriff Livingston's request for Measure X funds, to better their staffing, reduce 
response times and investigate crimes in Round Hill Country Club and Alamo, where I live with my family and raise my 
children.  I believe the citizens of Contra Costa County will benefit from directing these funds to the Sheriff's 
Department.  Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Regards, 
Allan Mendell 
2505 Rolling Hills Court 
Alamo CA 94507 
Cell: 415.218.4054 
 
 







July 1, 2021 

To Measure X Community Advisory Board, 

From:  

Linda Schultz 

Resident of Alamo, member of Board of Supervisor's Police Advisory Board 
for Roundhill Country Club, Volunteer with the Sheriff’s Dept. 

Re: 

Support for Sheriff David Livingston's request for Measure X Funds. 

Please consider devoting some of the Measure X funds to Contra Costa 
County’s Sheriff David Livingston and his requests. 

Our local station of the Sheriff’s Dept. in Alamo is in need of so many 
things. Additional funds would allow the Sheriff to help us increase staff, 
give us enough Sergeants to cover full work hours, give us a detective to 
speed up the solution to local crimes that our current deputies try to fit into 
their shifts. We need body and car cameras and other tools to help 
deputies operate more efficiently and demonstrate their intent to be fully 
accountable.  

I appreciate your consideration. 

Linda Schultz 
 



MEASURE X COMMUNITY ADVISORY
BOARD
Meeting Date: 07/07/2021  

Subject: Plan for Series of Focused Presentations and Discussion
Submitted For: MEASURE X Com Advisory Board, 
Department: County Administrator
Referral No.: 2/2/21 D.4  

Referral Name: Community Advisory Committee for Measure X 
Presenter: BK Williams Contact: Lisa Driscoll, County Finance

Director (925) 655-2047

Referral History:
Item was introduced at the April 21, 2021, MXCAB meeting (item #6). The draft plan was
discussed on the April 28, 2021 meeting. At the June 9, 2021 meeting it was requested
that this item be added to each agenda as a standing discussion item.

Referral Update:
Updated plan is attached for discussion and recommendations of presenters.

Recommendation(s)/Next Step(s):
Discuss/modify attached plan for presenters.

Attachments
MXCAB Suggested Speakers - Revised 7-2-21



Shaded areas = past meeting.Bold names ‐ speakers invited. Bold/italic  = speaker  confirmed.

MEETING 

DATE
TOPIC(S) COUNTY PRESENTERS

RECOMMENDED 

COMMUNITY 

ORGANIZATION 

PRESENTERS (and source)

RECOMMENDED 

RESIDENT PRESENTERS 

(and source)

12‐May Seniors, disabled people, 

veterans 

EHSD Aging & Adult 

Services, Tracy Murray

Caitlin Sly, Executive 

Director of Meals on 

Wheels Diablo Region

Myrtle Braxton, Chair, 

Richmond Commission on 

Aging (Debbie Toth)

Veterans Services ‐ Nathan 

Johnson, Veterans Service 

Officer, Contra Costa 

Veterans Services

Nicole Howell, Executive 

Director, Ombudsman 

Services of Contra Costa, 

Solano, and Alameda 

Counties (Debbie Toth)

19‐May Community safety: fire 

protection

Paige Meyer, Fire Chief, 

San Ramon Valley Fire 

Protection District, Lewis 

Broschard, Fire Chief, 

Contra Costa County Fire 

Protection District, and 

Brian Helmick, Fire Chief, 

East Contra Costa County 

Fire Protection District 

26‐May Early childhood  Camilla Rand, Deputy 

Director, First 5 Contra 

Costa

John Jones, Executive 

Director, CocoKids 

Micaela Mota, Parent and 

Resident, Parent Voices 

Christina Reich, Division 

Manager, Contra Costa 

Community Services 

Bureau

(All recommended by 

Ruth Fernandez)

Francine Jolton, MD FAAP, 

Chair, Department of 

Pediatrics, CCHS

9‐Jun Youth, young adults ‐Kathy Marsh, Employment 

and Human Services 

Department/Children and 

Family Services Bureau 

Director                                    

‐Health Services (Public 

Health, Behavioral Health), 

Erika Jenssen, Contra Costa 

Health Services

 Carol Carrillo, Executive 

Director of Child Abuse 

Prevention Council, Lynn 

Mackey, County Office of 

Education, County 

Superintendent of 

Schools, Kanwarpal 

Dhaliwal, RYSE Center  

(M. Moore)

‐Eric Wagoner, a former 

foster youth and former 

youth partner                       

‐Youth presenters Isaiah 

Grant and Ann Guiam, 

RYSE Center 

Measure X Community Advisory Board ‐ Suggested Speakers ‐ updated July 2, 2021



MEETING 

DATE
TOPIC(S) COUNTY PRESENTERS

RECOMMENDED 

COMMUNITY 

ORGANIZATION 

PRESENTERS (and source)

RECOMMENDED 

RESIDENT PRESENTERS 

(and source)

16‐Jun Healthcare  Health Services‐ Dr. Samir 

Shah and Dr. Ori Tzvieli

Alvaro Fuentes, executive 

director, Community 

Clinic Consortium of 

Contra Costa and Solano 

(A. Saidi)

Maria Bernal (R. Carillo 

Garza)

Gilbert Salinas (D. Honig) Concepcion James, 

United Latino Voices (G. 

Calloway)

Jose Rizo (R. Carillo Garza)

CHD Black Healthcare 

Navigators (M. Stewart)

23‐Jun Mental and behavioral 

health & disabled 

residents

Kennisha Johnson   ‐ BH 

staff 

Tamara Hunter & Selah 

Baker , Putnam 

Clubhouse (S. Quezada 

Jenkins)

Greg Beckner and 

Isabella Quinto,  NAMI 

family members

Debbie Thomas  ‐ BH staff  Susannah Marshland , 

Fred Finch Youth Services 

(D. Geiger)

Anna Lubarov ,  peer 

advocate

Vi Ibarra , CC Council on 

Developmental Disabilities 

(D. Toth)

Aracelia Aguilar ,  Deaf 

Hope (A. Saidi)

Grace and Raquel 

Herrera  (E. Jenssen)

Jovanka Beckles ,  West 

County Child and 

Adolescent Services (BK 

Williams)

Shelly Ji , NAMI Contra 

Costa

30‐Jun Housing & homelessness Lavonna Martin & Jenny 

Robbins,  Health, Housing 

& Homeless division (D. 

Honig, M. Moore)

Tony Bravo , Monument 

Impact (K. Laughlin, RTR)

William Goodwin (D. 

Leich, D. Honig)

John Kopchik & Amalia 

Cunningham , Dept. of 

Conservation & 

Development

Mia Carbajal,  Richmond 

LAND (BK Williams)

Betty Gabaldon  (K. 

Laughlin/RTR)

Joseph Villareal,  Housing 

Authority of CC

Daniel Barth , SOS (BK 

Williams); Kenneth 

Modica

Jocelyn Foreman  (BK 

Williams)



MEETING 

DATE
TOPIC(S) COUNTY PRESENTERS

RECOMMENDED 

COMMUNITY 

ORGANIZATION 

PRESENTERS (and source)

RECOMMENDED 

RESIDENT PRESENTERS 

(and source)

7‐Jul Community safety: 

justice systems

Diana Becton , District 

Attorney

Melvin Willis, CC Racial 

Justice Coalition (A. Saidi)

Adey Teshager, Safe 

Return Project

Esa Ehmen‐Krause , Chief 

Probation Officer

Donté Blue, Dr. Carole 

Dorham‐Kelly, Rhody 

McCoy, Rubicon (A. Saidi) Randy Joseph, Richmond 

Reimagining Public Safety

Patrice Guillory , Director, 

Office of Reentry & Justice

Pat Mims,  Director of 

Reentry Success Center 

Rubicon  (A. Saidi)

Robin Lipetzky,  Public 

Defender/ Brandon Banks, 

Public Defender Managing 

Attorney

Chelsea Miller, CHaT 

(Restorative Justice) (A. 

Saidi)

Angelene Musawwir, 

Public Defender Social 

Work Supervisor

Veronica 

Benjamin/Danny 

Espinoza, Reimagining 

Public Safety CC 

Campaign (RPS) (A. Saidi)

David Livingston, Sheriff; 

Lt. David Hall , Sheriff's 

Dept.

Tamisha Walker, Safe 

Return Project (A. Saidi, 

D. Honig, D. Leich)

14‐Jul Safety net (e.g., 

employment, cash aid, 

food security, 

interpersonal violence, 

etc.)

Kelley Curtis , EHSD 

CalFresh/CalWORKs 

division

Equitable Economic 

Recovery Task Force  (L. 

Lavender)

Kiva Dean (Food Bank 

Resident Advocacy Group) 

(C. Bates)

Hisham Alibob ,  Alliance to 

End Abuse

Maria Solorzano , Family 

Justice Center ( S. Kim)

Janell Coleman (S.Kim)

Patience Ofodu, Workforce 

Development Board

Donté Blue, Rubicon (A. 

Saidi)

SparkPoint (F. Biderman)

Opportunity Junction (L. 

Lavender)

Community stakeholder 

TBD

Melinda Self,  Director of 

Child Support

Food Bank  ‐ Cassidie 

Bates, Lalisha Norton, 

Nora Nicholson (M. 

Stewart, D. Honig

Salina Mansapit , Child 

Support Specialist II

White Pony Express/E. 

Birge (D. Honig)



MEETING 

DATE
TOPIC(S) COUNTY PRESENTERS

RECOMMENDED 

COMMUNITY 

ORGANIZATION 

PRESENTERS (and source)

RECOMMENDED 

RESIDENT PRESENTERS 

(and source)

Economic Security Project 

(F. Biderman) ‐ 

Guaranteed Basic Income, 

city mayors' pilot project

Ask Mona Masri ‐ Asset 

Funders Network (funding 

GBI work) who else could 

speak on this (F. 

Biderman)

21‐Jul Immigration Lanett Williams, Stand 

Together Contra Costa

CC Interfaith Council (S. 

Quezada‐Jenkins)

Racial equity across 

systems

Heliodoro Moreno, Stand 

Together Contra Costa

CC Immigrant Rights 

Alliance (A. Saidi)

Office of Racial Equity & 

Social Justice

Contra Costa Cares (A. 

Saidi)

Clinic Consortium 

(A.Saidi)

28‐Jul Library, arts & culture, 

agriculture, 

environment, 

transportation

Alison McKee , Librarian Urban Tilth (Marti Roach)

Jenny Balisle , County Arts 

and Cultural Manager (BK 

Williams)

Ben Miyaji, Chair AC5; 

Silvia Ledezma, Vice Chair 

AC5; Marva Reed, Art of 

the African Diaspora; 

Keertana Srekkumar, San 

Ramon Youth Art 

Committee 

Dedan Ji JaJa or Martha 

Schraer, ABOUTFACE 

Veteran artists; Jeffrey 

Geronimo, ABOUTFACE VIA 

Assistant Coordinator; 

Donte Clark, Poetry Out 

Loud; Tony Tamayo, POL 

and ABOUTFACE Technical 

Assistant

Shailaja Dixit, San Ramon 

Social Justice Collective



MEETING 

DATE
TOPIC(S) COUNTY PRESENTERS

RECOMMENDED 

COMMUNITY 

ORGANIZATION 

PRESENTERS (and source)

RECOMMENDED 

RESIDENT PRESENTERS 

(and source)

Winefred Day ‐ Richmond 

Arts and Culture Manager 

(BK Williams)

Matthew Slattengren, 

Agricultural Commissioner ‐ 

Director of Weights and 

Measures; Jose Arriaga, 

Asst.

Michael Gliksohn or other 

rep from Voices for Public 

Transportation (VPT) (BK 

Williams)

Brian Balbas, Public Works 

Director

Pending, Conservation & 

Development

Jovanka Beckles, Transit 

Board. (BK Williams) 

Transportation TBD

Environment TBD

Transportation TBD

4‐Aug Develop draft priorities 

11‐Aug Finalize priorities & 


	Agenda
	2_ _  Public comment on any item under the jurisdiction of the Committee and not on this agenda 
	2_ATT_Housing that Heals
	2_ATT_East Bay Housing Organizations
	3_Record of Action for June 30, 2021 Measure X Community Advisory Board Meeting
	3_ATT_Record of Action MXCAB 6-30-21
	3_ATT_SOS Richmond - Public Comments
	3_ATT_Centro Legal De La Raza
	3_ATT_EAH Housing
	3_ATT_Mercy Housing California
	4_Focussed Presentation and Discussion - Justce System
	4_ATT_1 - District Attorney Presentation
	4_ATT_DA - Supplemental Materials for Proposals
	4_ATT_2 - Probation Presentation
	4_ATT_3 - Public Defender Presentation
	4_ATT_Public Defender Proposal and Supplemental Materials
	4_ATT_4 - CCC Office of the Sheriff Presentation
	4_ATT_Office of the Sheriff - Supplemental Materials
	4_ATT_5 - Rubicon Presentation
	4_ATT_6 - Reimagine Public Safety
	4_ATT_7 - CCC Racial Justice Coalition
	4_ATT_CHAT Project Supplemental Materials
	4_ATT_Sheriff - Letter of Support 1
	4_ATT_Sheriff - Letter of Support 2
	4_ATT_Sheriff - Letter of Support 3
	4_ATT_Sheriff - Letter of Support 4
	4_ATT_Sheriff - Letter of Support 5
	4_ATT_Sheriff - Letter of Support 6
	5_Plan for Series of Focused Presentations and Discussion
	5_ATT_MXCAB Suggested Speakers - Revised 7-2-21

